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Forward-Looking Statements

For purposes of this Annual Report, the terms “@racwe,” “us” and “our” refer to Oracle Corporath and its
consolidated subsidiaries. In addition to histdrinBormation, this Annual Report on Form 10-K caimis forward-
looking statements that involve risks and uncetiesrthat could cause our actual results to diffaterially. Factors
that might cause or contribute to such differericelide, but are not limited to, those discusseldeém 1A. Risk
Factors. When used in this report, the words “etgyetanticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes;seeks,”
“estimates” and similar expressions are generatigrided to identify forward-looking statements. Yahould not
place undue reliance on these forward-looking statgs, which reflect our opinions only as of theedaf this
Annual Report. We undertake no obligation to puplielease any revisions to the forward-lookingestaents after
the date of this document. You should carefullyieenthe risk factors described in other documergdile from
time to time with the U.S. Securities and Excha@genmission, including the Quarterly Reports on FAGvQ to
be filed by us in our 2010 fiscal year, which rdiresn June 1, 2009 to May 31, 2010.

PART |
Item 1. Business
General

We are the world’s largest enterprise software camgpWe develop, manufacture, market, distributé service
database and middleware software as well as afiplisasoftware designed to help our customers ne@aagd grow
their business operations.

Our goal is to offer customers scalable, reliabégure and integrated software solutions that ingtmansactional
efficiencies, adapt to an organization’s uniquedsesnd allow better ways to access and manageriafam and
automate business processes at a lower total tostnership. We seek to be an industry leader ah ed the
specific product categories in which we competetanekpand into new and emerging markets.

We believe our internal, or organic, growth andttared innovation with respect to our core datapasddleware
and applications technologies provide the foundefiim our long-term strategic plan. In fiscal 200&;, invested
$2.8 billion in research and development to enhaneeexisting portfolio of products and services ém develop
new products, features and services.

An active acquisition program is another importalement of our corporate strategy. In recent yeeeshave
invested billions of dollars to acquire a numbecofplementary companies, products, services ahbdogies.
We believe our acquisition program supports ouglterm strategic direction, strengthens our contigetposition,
expands our customer base, provides greater scatEeélerate innovation, grows our revenues andregs, and
increases stockholder value. We expect to contim@equire companies, products, services and téafies.

On April 19, 2009, we entered into an Agreement Rlah of Merger with Sun Microsystems, Inc. (Sunprovider
of enterprise computing systems, software and sesyunder which we have agreed to acquire altandsg
shares of Sun for $9.50 per share in cash. Theat®d total purchase price for Sun is approximei@ly billion.
The transaction is subject to Sun stockholder adroegulatory clearances and other customaryngosonditions

Oracle Corporation was incorporated in 2005 aslawsre corporation and is the successor to opasticiginally
begun in June 1977.

Software and Services

We are organized into two businesses, softwaresandces, which are further divided into five ofigmg segments.
Our software business is comprised of two operaegments: (1) new software licenses and (2) softlieense
updates and product support. Our services busisessnprised of three operating segments: (1) dongu(2) On
Demand and (3) education. Our software and sertiagsmesses represented 81% and 19% of our te&tues,
respectively, in fiscal 2009, 80% and 20% of odalteevenues, respectively, in fiscal 2008 and &% 21% of ou




Table of Contents

total revenues, respectively, in fiscal 2007. Se&eeN.5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemfartadditional
information related to our operating segments.

Software Business

New Software License

The new software licenses operating segment ofeoftware business includes the licensing of datbas
middleware software, which consists of Oracle Dasais and Oracle Fusion Middleware, as well as @gjans
software. Our technology and business solutiondased on an internet model comprised of intercctede
databases, application servers, as well as mobilees. This architecture enables users to acesssdss data and
applications through a web browser interface, argesigned to provide customers with the mostiefftcand cost
effective method of managing business informatiod applications.

In an internet model, database servers manageratetpa customer’s underlying business informatvainile
application servers run the business applicatibasautomate a myriad of business functions. Cehitecture
provides high quality business information and lbaradapted to the specific needs of any industgppfication.
Oracle technology operates on both single sernvichustered server configurations, which we refeag “grid”
software, and supports a choice of operating systagtuding Linux, Windows and UNIX. Our applicat®
software is designed to help customers reducedbieand complexity of their IT infrastructures tslidering
industry solutions via an open, integrated anddsteasbased architecture that supports customer choiteemhuce
customer risk by automating business functions.

New software license revenues include fees eamoead granting customers licenses to use our softparducts
and exclude revenues derived from software licepskates and product support. The standard endsofesmare
license agreement for our products provides fanaial fee to use the product in perpetuity basada maximum
number of processors, named users or other métviesalso have other types of software license ageeés
restricted by the number of employees or the liegaem. New software license revenues represerit#d 34% ant
33% of total revenues in fiscal 2009, 2008 and 20€3pectively.

Database and Middleware Software

Our database and middleware software offeringsigeoa cost-effective, higherformance platform for running a
managing business applications for mid-size busi&seand large global enterprises. With an incrgdsicus by
enterprises on reducing their total cost of ITasfructure, our software is designed to accommatiteanding,
non-stop business environments, using low cosesgstorage and application grids that can increafigrscale as
required. The ability to assign computing resouaesequired simplifies our customers’ IT capagitgnning and
procurement to support all of their business apfibnis. With an Oracle grid infrastructure, ourtonsers can lowe
their investment in servers and storage, reduderibk of data loss and IT infrastructure downtiared efficiently
utilize available IT resources to meet businesssusgiality of service expectations. New softwacemse revenues
from database and middleware products represe28d 8% and 71% of our new software license reveimue
fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Database:

As the world’s most popular database, Oracle Dagleaables the secure storage, retrieval and matigouof all
forms of data, including business application anmalyics data, and unstructured data in the forrdMdt_ files,
office documents, images, video and spatial daggighed for enterprise grid computing, the Oraci¢abase is
available in four editions: Express Edition, Standadition One, Standard Edition and Enterprisdi&di All
editions are built using the same underlying cedgch means that our database software can ea&silg fom
small, single processor servers to clusters ofirpuitcessor servers.
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A number of optional offerings are available withe€@le Database Enterprise Edition to address spetistomer
requirements in the areas of performance and dtilabigh availability, data security and compiize, data
warehousing, information management and systemsgeanent. Examples of these options include:

» Oracle Real Application Clusters, which enables @ngcle Database application to share more effilyi¢he
processing power and memory capacity of a faudtréoit cluster of server

» Oracle Advanced Compression, which enables cus®toeeduce the amount of disk space requiredte st
all their business information and improve quersfgrenance;

 Oracle Partitioning, which breaks down large daseltables into smaller segments for faster query
performance and easier management of data throtughdifecycle; anc

« Oracle In-Memory Database Cache, which improves$iadjon performance by caching or storing critical
parts of Oracle Database in the main memory oati@ication tier

In addition to the four editions of Oracle Datahage also offer a selection of specialized datatiase

« Oracle TimesTen In-Memory Database, which is a mgrmptimized relational database that delivers low
latency and high throughput for applications reiggireal-time performance in industries such as
communications, financial services and defe

» Oracle Berkeley DB, which is a family of open s@jrembeddable, non-relational databases that allows
developers to incorporate a fast, scalable andblelidatabase engine within their applications and
devices; ant

« Oracle Database Lite, which is a comprehensivetisolfior developing, deploying and managing
applications for mobile and embedded environmédhtansists of a small footprint relational databésat
runs on many devices and platforms, a mobile sehagrsynchronizes data between the mobile dewnds
Oracle Database, and mobile application develophois.

We also offer a selection of products that are dempntary to our database offerings. These inclidele
Exadata, Oracle Enterprise Manager and Oracle Atalitt.

Oracle Exadata

Oracle Exadata is a family of high performanceagersoftware and hardware products that is designiaaprove
data warehouse query performance. Built using sstarage software from Oracle and industry-stantlardware
from Hewlett-Packard Company (HP), it uses a palralichitecture to increase data bandwidth betvde¢abase
servers and storage. In addition, it enables gpesgessing closer to the data, resulting in fagtery processing
and less data movement through high bandwidth aimms. The Oracle Exadata Storage Server is basétP
servers with Oracle Exadata software pre-instalted.designed to be an industry-standard stosageer, which
offers linear scalability and mission-critical edility, in addition to fast query processing. Qea€xadata Storage
Servers are also the building block for the Or&xd¢abase Machine that is designed for large, nedéibyte data
warehouses. The Oracle Database Machine packaggthéo software, servers, and storage that caa scalpport
data warehouses and business intelligence applisati

Oracle Enterprise Manager

Oracle Enterprise Manager is designed to deliverdmwvn applications and software infrastructure agament.
Our customers use Oracle Enterprise Manager totoreemd manage their applications and underlyirftpsoe
infrastructure, including both Oracle and non-Ceéaofrastructure products. Oracle Enterprise Managa be used
to manage packaged applications, such as our SRbeapleSoft, Oracle E-Business Suite or custonticagions
including Service-Oriented Architecture applicagom addition to managing Oracle software infractre
products including the Oracle Database, Oracledrusiiddleware and Oracle WebLogic Server, OracleeEmise
Manager also supports other third-party infrastrceproducts.

Oracle Enterprise Manager is designed to monitosicelevels and performance, automate tasks, neanag
configuration information, and provide change mamagnt in a unified way across groups of computergids.
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Oracle Enterprise Manager’s provisioning autom#tesdiscovery, tracking and scheduling of softwzaches and
allows IT administrators to apply patches witha@kimg their system down. Additionally, IT adminétiors can
manage systems from anywhere through an HTML broassthrough wireless mobile devices.

Oracle Audit Vault

Oracle Audit Vault is designed to reduce the cost @omplexity of compliance reporting and detectibn
unauthorized activities by automating the collattmd consolidation of enterprise audit data. @r&atabase
provides one of the most advanced auditing capigsilof any database management system. With Ohacii
Vault, security and database administrators caragmaudit policies across their enterprise andnaatioally
collect audit data from Oracle and non-Oracle dadab into a centralized, tamper resistant repgsiidis secure
repository is built on Oracle’s scalable architeetto allow retention and aggregation of terabpfesudit data for
analysis and reporting. Audit Vault analyzes addita in real-time based upon enterprise definedips| issues
alerts for unauthorized activities, and providesthn reports for demonstrating the IT controlgjuéred to comply
with internal control assessments, including priovis of the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley Act and other getacy and
protection regulations.

Middleware

Oracle Fusion Middleware is a broad family of apafion infrastructure products that forms a rebadnhd scalable
foundation on which customers can build, deploguse, access and integrate business applicatimhawgomate
their business processes. Oracle Fusion Middlesuites and products can be used in conjunction euigtom,
packaged and composite applications. Oracle Fudiddleware is available in various products andes)i
including the below functional areas:

» Application Server and Application Gri

» Business Intelligence

« |dentity and Access Manageme

« Content Managemer

+ Portal and User Interactio

« Service-Oriented Architecture and Business Process Managie
« Data Integration; an

* Development Tool

Oracle Fusion Middleware is designed to protectarasrs’ IT investments and work with both Oracle aon-
Oracle database, middleware and applications ptedmugh its “hot-pluggable” architecture (whishables
customers to easily install and use Oracle FusiadMware products within their existing IT enviroants) and
adherence to industry standards such as Java Eheffly J2EE) and Business Process Execution Larey(BBEL)
among others.

By using Oracle Fusion Middleware, our customecsdase their capacity to adapt to business chaagéafly,
reduce their risks related to security and compkaincrease user productivity and drive betteirtass decisions.
Specifically, Oracle Fusion Middleware enables oosdrs to easily integrate heterogeneous busingdisatjons,
automate business processes, scale applicationeg¢bcustomer demand, simplify security and compbiamanag
lifecycles of documents and get actionable, tadybtesiness intelligence, while continuing to ugltheir existing I’
systems. In addition, Oracle Fusion Middleware sugpmultiple development languages and tools, whitows
developers to build and deploy web services, wigs sportals and web-based applications. OraclessoR
Middleware is used to support Oracle applicatiatiser enterprise applications, independent softwanelors that
build their own custom applications and businese@sses that span multiple application environments
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Application Server and Application Grid

The foundation of Oracle Fusion Middleware is OeadlebLogic Server. Designed for grid computing,d@ra
WebLogic Server incorporates clustering and cacteafnology, which increases application reliapilit
performance, security and scalability. Our ongalegelopment of existing Oracle Fusion Middlewaredorcts,
combined with our acquisition of BEA Systems, limcfiscal 2008, enables us to provide our customaits
additional application grid capabilities, includi@gacle Coherence for rapid access to informatimacle JRockit t
create Java virtual machines and the scalable giegsand transaction processing platform produtracle
Tuxedo.

Business Intelligence

Oracle Business Intelligence (BI) provides vistjiinto how customers’ businesses are performirthhaaips them
plan and model to improve that performance. Bl p@#folio of technology and applications that pgd®s an
integrated end-to-end system called EnterprisecoRaence Management (EPM) that unites our Bl foundand
data warehousing products with our Bl and EPM apitbns (described further below) to offer our onsérs an
enterprise-wide business intelligence platform.

Our BI foundation products include Oracle Bl Siteerprise Edition Plus, Oracle Bl Standard Editiame, Oracle
Essbase and Oracle Bl Publisher. Our Bl foundatimaucts deliver customers a comprehensive saisihbss
intelligence tools, including interactive dashbaarad hoc query and analysis, proactive detectiornederts,
advanced reporting and publishing, real-time ptédidntelligence, mobile analytics and desktopggztd.

Our data integration and warehousing products erthiel extraction, transformation and loading oflijpdata in
order for that data to be accurately searched nalyzed.

Identity and Access Management

Oracle Identity and Access Management productssaitds make it easier for our customers to managépie
user identities, provision users in multiple enteg applications and systems and manage accedsges for
customers, employees and partners. Our custome®masle Identity and Access Management offeringeeture
their information from potential threats and inge&ompliance levels, while lowering the total cafdheir security
and compliance initiatives.

Content Management

Unstructured information, which is data that is easily readable or has not been stored so thahibe used
efficiently, makes up a large portion of all théoirmation residing in most businesses and publitosesntities.
Oracle Content Management solutions provide a celrgnsive set of capabilities to create, captureligiy share
and collaborate on, archive, retain, manage busipexess flows and manage information accesssright
documents and other unstructured content file tyPeacle Content Management solutions support tansive set
of document and image formats. Specific benefittuihe the ability to use external facing websitestaategic
marketing assets and rapid communication chantwetsjtomate paper-based processes and to enfaruendat
retention and security policies.

Portal and User Interaction

Oracle WebCenter Suite enables personalized wehlp@nd task-oriented web applications to be agpes and
deployed, all with single sign-on access and sgcurhese features provide users with a singlefiate through
which they can access information from any numtb@nterprise applications, systems, informatiornrsesi and
processes. Oracle WebCenter also includes intebEateerprise 2.0 capabilities that enable custortoeveork
together in teams via the internet and capitalizécollective intelligence” within their enterprisend with their
partners and customers. The addition of Oracle Véab&Z Services in fiscal 2009 includes the abitityncorporate
these Enterprise 2.0 capabilities into existinggdanvironments, including those built with OraBlertal, Oracle
WebLogic Portal and Oracle WebCenter Interactionn(erly AqualLogic User Interaction).
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Service-Oriented Architecture Suite and Businese®ss Management

Service-Oriented Architecture (SOA) is an IT stggtéhat creates a modular, re-usable approachgiicapons
development and reduces the need for costly cudtrelopment. Oracle SOA Suite is a complete ssénfice
infrastructure components for creating, deployengd managing SOAs, including Oracle JDeveloperci@rBPEL
Process Manager, Oracle Web Services Manager,@Badiness Rules, Oracle Business Activity Monitgriand
Oracle Service Bus. The combination of Oracle BessrnProcess Management and Oracle SOA Suite enables
business and IT professionals to collaborate, impl#, automate and change business processesinpaahensiv
fashion, which accelerates development and transitme and reduces costly quality assurance cy@ezcle SOA
Suite is “hot-pluggable”, enabling customers talgaxtend and evolve their architectures instefikplacing
existing investments. Oracle SOA Governance maiattkie security and integrity of our customers’ SOA
deployments.

Data Integration

Through Oracle Data Integration Suite, we offertfzésoreed and unified data integration technoledfeat enable
customers to build, deploy and manage enterprisméss data. Our Data Integration foundation allemterprise
data architects to unify, manage, replicate, mégeatd distribute data into enterprise applicatems orchestrated
business processes. With our open and “hot-plugdalaita integration components, organizations centiicue to
use and evolve their IT infrastructure insteadepiacing it. Oracle Data Integration Suite canapttdata from one
system and load it into another (such as a datahwaise) and then rapidly transform the data intevaformat. It
also includes technology to address data qualitlydata profiling.

Developer Tools

Oracle JDeveloper is an integrated software enwiemt designed to facilitate rapid development e&Ja
applications, portlets, web services, process nsoaiedl Rich Internet Applications (RIA) such as Rlasd AJAX,
among others. Oracle JDeveloper provides a compséreeJava development environment for modelingding,
debugging and testing enterprise-class Java Ekcafiphs and web services. It is also integrateti thie Oracle
Application Development Framework (ADF), which pides a framework for building applications, inclngia set
of components that enable developers to build Rigeld on Java user interface standards and degloy th
applications to take advantage of modern RIA tetigies.

Applications Software

Our applications software strategy is designecelp bustomers reduce the cost and complexity af the
infrastructures, by delivering industry solutiohatare complete, open, and integrated. Througle@sgd strategy
of investments in organic research and developmedistrategic acquisitions, we provide indusipgcific solution
for customers in over 20 industries, from retadl @ommunications to financial services and the ipwiggctor. Our
solutions are delivered on an open, standards-tmséiecture to support customer choice, redusauer risk
and enable customers to differentiate their buse®ssing our technologies. New software licengemaes from
applications software represented 28%, 32% and @X%éw software license revenues in fiscal 200982and
2007, respectively.

Central to our applications strategy is our Apgiimas Unlimited program, which is our commitmenioftifer
customers that purchase software license updatepraduct support contracts a choice as to whenligh to
upgrade to the next generation of the products ¢hay. Until our customers reach a decision to uggita the next
generation of the products they own, we protedt theestments in their applications by offeringth the ability to
purchase software license updates and product gupggaracts for their existing products. Solutisugh as Oracle
Fusion Middleware, Oracle Business Intelligenceesracle WebCenter, and Oracle User Productiiityare
designed to help customers extend the benefitsedf KT investments in our applications, to redtiear investment
risk, and to support their evolution to the next@mtion of enterprise software that best fitsrtheeds.

We also protect our customers’ investments in @rapbplications by delivering new product releabas t
incorporate customer-specific and industry-spedifiovations across product lines. Since announaing
Applications Unlimited program in fiscal 2005, wave delivered a number of new product releases and
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enhancements. In fiscal 2009, we continued ourymbithvestment with new versions of Oracle E-Busin8uite,
JD Edwards EnterpriseOne, JD Edwards World andeSieébstomer Relationship Management, including CBiv
Demand.

Our applications software products combine busifiesstionality with innovative technologies suchrake-based
analytics, secure search, identity managementsselice and workflow to deliver adaptive indugtrpcesses,
business intelligence and insights, and optimateset productivity. Our applications software produenable
efficient management of all core business functiomduding:

« Enterprise resource planning (ER

e Customer relationship management (CR

« Enterprise performance management (EF

« Enterprise project portfolio management (EPP
« Product lifecycle management (PLM), &

« Industry-specific applications

Our applications software products are offerechteggrated suites or available on a component basisall are bui
on open architectures that are designed for flexibihfiguration and open, multi-vendor integratiGur
applications are available in multiple languagesi support a broad range of location specific negoeénts,
enabling companies to support both global and Ibaainess practices and legal requirements.

Oracle Application Integration Architecture provéden open, standards-based framework for creatiagtable,
cross-application business processes. For custdoukisig to quickly deploy integrations between €ea
applications, Oracle Application Integration Ar@gdture also offers packaged integrations, alloviamgapid
implementation of mission-critical business aplmas.

Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP)

Companies use our ERP applications to automaténsegrate a variety of their key global businesscpsses,
including: manufacturing, order entry, accountereable and payable, general ledger, purchasingheasing,
transportation and human resources. Our ERP afiplisacombine business functionality with innovativ
technologies such as workflow and self-serviceiappbns in order to enable companies to lowerctha of their
business operations by providing their customengpkers and employees with self-service intermeeas to both
transaction processing and critical business inédion.

Customer Relationship Management (CRM)

We offer a complete set of CRM applications thahatge all of the business processes and associatenns that
touch a customer, including:

« Billing and delivery;
« Sales solutions that provide a single repositonctstomer and supply chain information;

 Service solutions that increase customer satisfiadty providing visibility into customer billing drorder
information.

Enterprise Performance Management (EPM)

We offer a full spectrum of EPM applications theg¢ apen, industry-specific analytic applicationstwdapabilities
such as interactive dashboarding and embeddedtarfaiyctionality for delivering insight across tkaterprise. Ot
business analytics solution is tailored to 20 indes, giving customers the ability to monitor, Bza and act upon
business intelligence while providing end-to-ensihility into a customer’s operations and finangalformance.
Our performance management applications, combirigtdour Bl analytics, Bl foundation and data waresiog
products, enable us to offer our customers aniiated, end-to-end EPM system that spans
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planning, consolidation, operational analytic apgtiions, business intelligence tools, reporting dai@ integration,
all on a unified business intelligence platform.

Enterprise Project Portfolio Management (EPPM)

With our acquisition of Primavera Software, Inctlie second quarter of fiscal 2009, we added EP&fiMiare
solutions for project-intensive industries sucleagineering and construction, aerospace and defetilgges, oil
and gas, manufacturing, and professional servides EPPM solutions help companies propose, przeritind sele:
project investments and plan, manage and conteaitbst complex projects and project portfolios.

Industry Applications

Our applications can be tailored to offer custonzevariety of industry-specific solutions. As atparour strategy,
we strive to ensure that our applications portfalitniresses the major industry-influenced technotdbg@jlenges of
customers in key industries. We continue to expamdfferings in a number of other key industrieswiew as
strategic to our future growth, including reta@rking and financial services, communicationsitigs, health
sciences, insurance, manufacturing, educationepsasnal services, and the public sector. In fi2689, we added
expertise in the social services industry throughazquisition of Haley Limited, a leading providgrpolicy
modeling and automation software for legislative asgulated industries such as public sector, Girsuservices,
and insurance.

Software License Updates and Product Supg

We seek to protect and enhance our customers’rdumeestments in Oracle technology and applicatioyn
offering proactive and personalized support sesyigeluding our Lifetime Support policy, productrencements
and upgrades. Software license updates providemess with rights to unspecified software prodymjnades and
maintenance releases and patches released dugitgyth of the support period. Product support ihetinternet
and telephone access to technical support perstouaéd in our global support centers, as welh#snet access
technical content through My Oracle Support. Sofeni@ense updates and product support are gey@rided as a
percentage of the new software license fees. Sutirty all of our customers purchase softwarerige updates and
product support when they acquire new softwarenies. In addition, substantially all of our custosrmenew their
software license updates and product support ottstesnually. We also offer Oracle Unbreakable kiSupport,
which provides enterprise level support for theuximperating system and Oracle VM server virtusiimasoftware
support.

Our software license updates and product suppeeniees represented 50% of total revenues in @9, and
46% of total revenues in both fiscal 2008 and 2007.

Services Busines

Consulting

Oracle Consulting assists our customers in suaassieploying our applications and technology pro. Our
consulting services include: business/IT stratdmnment; business process simplification; solufimiegration; an
product implementation, enhancements, and upgrdtiese services help our customers achieve measurab
business results, manage their total cost of owieend reduce the risk associated with their pcodeployment.

Oracle Consulting employs consulting professiogédbally to engage our customers directly, as welo provide
specialized expertise to our global systems integizartners. Oracle Consulting utilizes a glodahided delivery
model to achieve economies of scale for our custenidiis global delivery model consists of onsib@sultants
within the customer’s local geography as well assettants in our global delivery and solution cesit€onsulting
revenues represented 14%, 15% and 16% of totahuesein fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

On Demand

On Demand includes our Oracle On Demand and Adwh@ostomer Services offerings. Oracle On Demand
provides multi-featured software and hardware mament, and maintenance services for customersi¢ipdoy
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over the internet our database, middleware andaggjgins software delivered at our data centetifes, select
partner data centers or physically on-site at enstdfacilities. Advanced Customer Services consiSgolution
lifecycle management services, database and appticaanagement services, industry-specific sofusiopport
centers, and remote and on-site expert service®edmand revenues represented 3% of total revenuescal
2009, 2008 and 2007.

Education

We provide training to customers, partners and eygas as a part of our mission of acceleratingtioption of ou
technology around the world. We currently offeribands of courses covering all of our product oftgs. Our
training is provided primarily through public andyate instructor-led classroom events, but is atsale available
through a variety of online courses and self panedia training on CD-ROMs. Most recently, Oraclaugnsity
launched live virtual class offerings that allowdstnts anywhere in the world to connect to a Insdructor-led
class. In addition, we also offer a certificaticogram certifying database administrators, devetpad
implementers. Oracle University also offers usenmitn services designed to provide comprehensaiging
services to help customers get the most out of theeéstment in Oracle. Education revenues reptede2s of total
revenues in fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007.

Marketing and Sales
Sales Distribution Channel:

We directly market and sell our products and ses/jarimarily through our subsidiary sales and servi
organizations. In the United States, our salessangdce employees are based in our headquarteris &ietd offices
throughout the country. Outside the United Stadesjnternational subsidiaries license and supportproducts in
their local countries as well as within other fgrecountries where we do not operate through tdéaes
subsidiary.

We also market our products worldwide through iadirchannels. The companies that comprise ourdaidahanne
network are members of the Oracle PartnerNetwdnk. Qracle PartnerNetwork is a global program theages
our business relationships with a large, broad-thastwork of companies, including independent safewendors,
system integrators and resellers who deliver intie@aolutions and services based upon our prodBgtsffering
our partners access to our premier products, eidnehinformation, technical services, marketing aales suppor
the Oracle PartnerNetwork program extends our madeeh by providing our partners with the resositbey need
to be successful in delivering solutions to custanggobally.

International Markets

We sell our products and provide services glob&lyr geographic coverage allows us to draw on legsiand
technical expertise from a global workforce, pr@gdtability to our operations and revenue streaaméfset
geography-specific economic trends and offers uspgortunity to take advantage of new markets torpyoducts.
A summary of our domestic and international reveramd long-lived assets is set forth in Note 1B aifes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Seasonality and Cyclicalit

Our quarterly results reflect distinct seasonatithe sale of our products and services. Our neesmnd operating
margins are typically highest in our fourth fisqalarter and lowest in our first fiscal quarter. €t economic
conditions also have an impact on our businesdiaadcial results. The markets in which we sell products and
services have, at times, experienced weak econooniditions that have negatively affected our reesn$ee
“Selected Quarterly Financial Data” in Item 7 ofstAnnual Report for a more complete descriptiothef
seasonality and cyclicality of our revenues, expsrand margins.
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Customers

Our customer base consists of a significant nurobbusinesses of many sizes and industries, govamhagencies,
educational institutions and resellers. No singisteamer accounted for 10% or more of our total mees in fiscal
2009, 2008 or 2007.

Competition

The enterprise software industry is highly fragneeintintensely competitive and evolving rapidly. @énpete in
various segments of this industry including, butlimited to:

 database software (including the sale of our Exadatabase machine, which is hardware sold with
preconfigured Oracle database software and is fatlyedescribed above

» middleware (including application server, businiesslligence, data integration, portal server atehtity
management

 enterprise application

« content management and collaborati

« development tools

 enterprise management softwe

» Software-as-a-Service;

» hosted and On Demand solutio

» operating systems (by virtue of our distributiorEafterprise Linux)
« virtualization software; an

 consulting/systems integratic

Key competitive factors in each of the segmentswegacompete include: total cost of ownership, peniance,
scalability, functionality, ease of use, compliamgth open standards, product reliability, Servidggented
Architecture, security and quality of technical pag. Our customers are also demanding less coritykexd lower
total cost in the implementation, sourcing, intéigrmand ongoing maintenance of their enterprisevswoe, which
has led increasingly to our product offerings (jgatarly our database, middleware and applicatidyeshg viewed
as a “stack” of software designed to work togethex standards-compliant environment.

Our product sales (and the relative strength ofppsaducts versus our competitors’ products) are disectly and
indirectly affected by the following, among othbirigs:

« the broader “platform” competition between indusitgndard Java EE (formerly, J2EE) programming
platform by Sun Microsystems, Inc. (Sun) and thETNbrogramming environment of Microsoft Corporation
(Microsoft);

» operating system competition among, primarily, Mgwoft's Windows Server, Unix (including Sun’s Sddar
HP-UX from Hewlett Packard Company (HP) and AlXrfrénternational Business Machines Corporation
(IBM)) and Linux;

< open source alternatives to commercial softwaréghvare typically offered free of charge, subjectértain
restrictions, and are readily available over therimet. Open source vendors will typically chargesffor
commercial versions or unrestricted licenses afefroducts and for technical support of theseuarsd anc

» Softwareas-a-Service (SaaS) offerings, which also continue terahe competitive landscay
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The following lists of competitors are necessainigomplete due to the nature of the enterprisenswtt industry,
where the competitive landscape is constantly englas firms emerge, expand or are acquired, &mtdagy
evolves and as customer demands and competitigsymes otherwise change:

In the sale of database software, scalabilityabdlity, availability and security are key compiett differentiators
for us. Our competitors include IBM, Microsoft, &ge, Inc. (Sybase), NCR Corporation’s Teradataidinj SAS
Institute, Inc., Netezza Corporation, Progressviafe Corporation (Progress Software) and open ealatabases
such as Sun’s MySQL, Ingres and PostgreSQL, amtregs Our ability to continually innovate and di#éntiate
our database product offerings has enabled us ittaraour leading position in database softwareraur
competitors.

In the sale of middleware products, our offeringdude application server and application grid,ifess
intelligence, identity and access management, panthuser interaction, Servi€grented Architecture and busint
process management, and data integration. Outyatailoffer a full range of rich functionality instandards-based,
open architecture has been a key competitive diftator which has contributed to rapid growth of middleware
solutions in recent years relative to our competit@ur middleware competitors include IBM, MicriisGAP AG,
Sun, Progress Software, Fujitsu Software Corpanatiitachi Software Engineering Co., Ltd., openrsewendors
such as Red Hat, Inc. (JBoss), Apache Geronimerayf, Inc., SpringSource, Inc., MuleSource, Ind aasperSoft
Corporation, as well as several other competitoisaich element of our packaged functions suchBE DI
Software, Inc., Software AG, SOA Software, Inc.y8an, Inc., MicroStrategy, Inc., CA, Inc. (CA),&nens AG,
Courion Corporation, EMC Corporation (RSA), Infortiica Corporation, Novell, Inc. (Novell), Lombardofdwvare,
Inc. and Pegasystems, Inc., among others.

Competition in the sale of applications softwareparticular, is multifaceted and subject to raghidnge. We
currently offer several application product linkattare designed to address functions applicaldastomers across
many industries (e.g., enterprise resource planfRP) or customer relationship management (CR&4))well as
applications specific to operations in particuladustry verticals, such as retail, financial sezgiccommunications,
tax and utilities, health sciences, public sectat athers. One of the main competitive differewtiain applications
software is our ability to combine “best-of-breetiftware, suite software and our application iraégn
architecture, without adding complexity for the ersgr.

Our applications offerings (including our On Demétaisted and SaaS offerings) typically compete with
commercial software vendors’ pre-packaged appticatiapplications offered as On Demand, SaaS,stetio
offerings, open source applications, applicatioggetbped in-house by customers, applications tleaéwustom
developed by other software vendors or systemgriaters, applications consisting of a variety afodéte pieces of
functionality from multiple providers that have Ibesistomized and implemented by systems integrators
consultants (such as IBM Global Services and Aegerittd.) and business process outsourcers (suhtasnatic
Data Processing, Inc. (ADP), Fidelity Investmefsridian Corporation, Hewitt Associates, Inc., Arc8oftware
(formerly Cyborg Systems Limited) and others). Theety of competing offerings is even more pronmeahin
industry verticals where complete industry solusi@ither do not exist or are addressed by combinfifegings of
multiple software offerings. As a result, our apptions compete against offerings from the ventistesd above as
well as SAP AG, IBM (through Maximo, MRO Softwaksscential Software, Cognos), Microsoft (through
Dynamics GP, Dynamics NAV, Dynamics AX, Dynamics RDynamics Snap, Dynamics SL), Lawson Software,
Inc., Infor Global Solutions (with numerous indedent product lines coming from acquisitions inchglAgilisys,
Baan, infor GmbH, SSA Global Technologies, Extgnaitd Datastream), Ariba, Inc., IFS AB, JDA Softevar
Group, Inc., I2 Technologies, Inc., Manhattan Assi@s, Inc. The Sage Group plc, salesforce.com, Tradeo
Corporation, SuccessFactors, Inc., as well as rodmr application providers and point solution pdevs.

In the sale of content management and collaborgtioducts, we compete with Microsoft, IBM (through
Domino/Notes/FileNet), EMC Corporation (Documentu@pen Text Corporation, Autonomy Corporation plc
(Interwoven), HP (through Tower Software), SAP Al &/ignette Corporation, as well as open sourceloen
such as Alfresco Software, Inc., among others.

In the sale of development tools, ease of usedatas-compliance and the level of abstraction faated code
generation) are key competitive differentiatorstHis area, we compete against IBM (through Web&pBéudio),
Microsoft (through VisualStudio.NET), Sun (throughn Studio), Sybase (through PowerBuilder) andrsthe
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including Eclipse Foundation, Inc. (Eclipse), amosource vendor. The success of our developmelstitoclosely
related to the relative popularity of our othereniifigs (database and middleware and applicatiammpared to our
competitors as well as the larger platform comjmetibetween Sun’s Java and Microsoft's .NET.

In the sale of enterprise management software ongete with BMC Software, Inc., Quest Software, Inc
IBM Tivoli, HP, CA, Compuware Corporation, Embaread Technologies, Inc., and open source vendots asic
Hyperic, Inc.

In the sale of operating systems, we introducedppaart and service offering for Red Hat’'s open setktinux
operating system in fiscal 2007. This placed usoimpetition with others who offer support for thialx operating
system, including Red Hat, Novell, Inc. and Canahidd. (through Ubuntu); as well as with the Upigerating
systems of IBM, Sun, HP and others and the Winddarser operating systems of Microsoft.

In the sale of virtualization products, our offgggncompete with those of VMware, Inc., IBM, Micréis&un and
Citrix Systems, Inc., among others, including othemdors of open source virtualization products.

In the sale of consulting and systems integrat@mises, we both partner with and compete agaioseAture Ltd.,
HP, IBM Global Services, Bearing Point, Inc., Capiig Group, and many others (both large and small).

In the sale of many of our products, we also compéth products and features developed internallgustomers
and their IT staff.

Research and Development

We develop the substantial majority of our produtsrnally. In addition, we have acquired techiggithrough
business acquisitions. We also purchase or licenskectual property rights in certain circumstascinternal
development allows us to maintain technical contk@r the design and development of our producesh@ve a
number of United States and foreign patents andipgrapplications that relate to various aspectsunfproducts
and technology. While we believe that our pateatgehvalue, no single patent is essential to us any of our
principal business segments.

Research and development expenditures were $Adhbi2.7 billion and $2.2 billion, in fiscal 2002008 and
2007, respectively, or 12% of total revenues irheE#che aforementioned fiscal years. As a pergentd new
software license revenues, research and develomwpenditures were 39%, 36% and 37% in fiscal 22008 and
2007, respectively. Rapid technological advancésmndware and software development, evolving stalsda
computer hardware and software technology, changistpmer needs and frequent new product introoigtind
enhancements characterize the software markethichwe compete. We plan on continuing to dedieate
significant amount of resources to research anéldpment efforts to maintain and improve our curmoduct
offerings including our database, middleware arliegtions software products.

Employees

As of May 31, 2009, we employed approximately 86,00I-time employees, including 20,000 in saled an
marketing, 8,000 in software license updates andymt support, 28,000 in services, 22,000 in re$eand
development and 8,000 in general and administratsitions. Of these employees, approximately ZBy06re
located in the United States and 58,000 were ereplayternationally. None of our employees in thététhStates |
represented by a labor union; however, in certaiernational subsidiaries workers’ councils repnéseir
employees.

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly ReporisForm 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amerds
to reports filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) andi}L&f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as aradndre
available, free of charge, on our Investor Relaiaeb site at www.oracle.com/investor as soon @soreably
practicable after we electronically file such matewith, or furnish it to, the U.S. Securities aBgchange
Commission. The information posted on our webisit@ot incorporated into this Annual Report.

12




Table of Contents

Executive Officers of the Registrani

Our executive officers are listed below.

Name Office(s)

Lawrence J. Elliso Chief Executive Officer and Direct:

Jeffrey O. Henle Chairman of the Board of Directo

Safra A. Cat: President and Directc

Charles E. Phillips, Jr President and Directc

Keith G. Block Executive Vice President, North America Sales andqDlting

Jeff Epsteir Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

Loic Le Guisque Executive Vice President, Europe, Middle East afritA (EMEA) Sales and Consultir
Luiz Meisler Executive Vice President, Latin America Sales andsnlting

Juergen Rottle Executive Vice President, Oracle Customer Sen

Charles A. Rozwe Executive Vice President, Product Developr

Derek H. Williams Executive Vice President, Japan Sales and Congi

Dorian E. Daley Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segr

William Corey Wes Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller ande€Accounting Officel

Mr. Ellison, 64, has been Chief Executive Officada Director since he founded Oracle in June 1Bé7served as
Chairman of the Board from May 1995 to January 2004

Mr. Henley, 64, has served as the Chairman of erdsince January 2004 and as a Director since 12@5. He
served as an Executive Vice President and Chiefrigiial Officer from March 1991 to July 2004. Hecad®rves as
director of Callwave, Inc.

Ms. Catz, 47, has been a President since Janu@dy&t@ has served as a Director since October Z)gHwas
Chief Financial Officer from November 2005 until@d&mber 2008 and Interim Chief Financial Officanrir
April 2005 until July 2005. She served as an ExgeWice President from November 1999 to Janua@42énd
Senior Vice President from April 1999 to OctobeP39She also serves as a director of HSBC Holdihgs

Mr. Phillips, 50, has been a President and hasdeas a Director since January 2004. He servedesuBve Vice
President, Strategy, Partnerships, and Businessl@awent, from May 2003 to January 2004. He alseeseas a
director of Morgan Stanley and Viacom, Inc.

Mr. Block, 48, has been Executive Vice PresidemtithlAmerica Sales and Consulting since Septemb@2 2nd
Executive Vice President, North America Consultiimce February 2002. He served as Senior Vice desof
North America Commercial Consulting and Global $&n\Lines from June 1999 until January 2002. Heestas
Senior Vice President of the Commercial Consulingctice from April 1999 until May 1999. Mr. Blogkas Grou|
Vice President, East Consulting from June 1997 ifdirch 1999.

Mr. Epstein, 52, has been Executive Vice PresidadtChief Financial Officer since September 200&rRo
joining us, he served as Executive Vice Presidedt@hief Financial Officer of Oberon Media, Incprvately helc
internet game technology provider and publishemfégpril 2007 to June 2008. From June 2005 untitéte in
March 2007, Mr. Epstein was Executive Vice Presiderd Chief Financial Officer of ADVO, Inc., a datemail
media company. Mr. Epstein was a member of the dBofiDirectors of Revonet, Inc., a business-to-hess
marketing and database company, from January 200é¢ember 2005, Chairman of the Board from
December 2004 to December 2005 and the Acting dResand Chief Executive Officer from June 2004 tigh
December 2004. Mr. Epstein also serves as a diretywiceline.com Incorporated.

Mr. Le Guisquet, 47, has been Executive Vice PesdidEurope, Middle East and Africa (EMEA) Saled an
Consulting since December 2008. He served as S¥iterPresident, Western Central Europe Applicaifrom
June 2006 until November 2008. He served as S#fider President, Oracle Customer Relationship Mamegg
EMEA from January 2006 until June 2006. He seng&8enior Vice President, EMEA Consulting from Augus
2003 until January 2006. He also held various oMEA regional executive positions with us sincaukry 1990.
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Mr. Meisler, 56, has been Executive Vice Presideatin America Sales and Consulting since July 2608served
as Senior Vice President, Latin America Sales amaisGlting from December 2001 to July 2008; as \Roesident,
Latin America Sales and Consulting from June 2@0Ddcember 2001; and as Managing Director of Oracéeil
from January 2000 to May 2001. He served as ViesiBlent, Latin America Consulting from June 1999douary
2000 and as Vice President, Oracle Brazil Congyfiiom March 1998 to May 1999.

Mr. Rottler, 42, has been Executive Vice Presid@nécle Customer Services since September 200@/ade
Executive Vice President, Oracle Support and Or@ciddemand, from January 2005 to September 2006vasd
Executive Vice President, Oracle On Demand, fropt&aber 2004 to January 2005. Prior to joininghesserved
as Senior Vice President, Public Sector, Custorofrti®ns Group at Hewlett-Packard Company (HP)xfro
December 2003 to September 2004, where he wasnabpofor HP’s worldwide Public Sector, Health and
Education business. He also held various otheragjlabd regional executive positions in dServices and Softwe
business units since 1997.

Mr. Rozwat, 61, has been Executive Vice Presidertduct Development, since October 2007. He seaged
Executive Vice President, Server Technologies fidorember 1999 to October 2007 and served as S¥iter
President, Database Server from December 1996tb@c1999. He served as Vice President of Devedopritom
December 1994 to November 1996.

Mr. Williams, 64, has been Executive Vice Presiddapan Sales and Consulting since June 2008 an&xeutiv:
Vice President, Asia Pacific Sales and ConsultingifOctober 2000 to May 2008. He served as Serime V
President, Asia Pacific from July 1993 to Octob@@@and as Vice President, Asia Pacific from Ap8i91 to July
1993. He joined Oracle United Kingdom in OctobeB8 @nd served as Regional Director, Strategic Astofrom
October 1988 to April 1991.

Ms. Daley, 50, has been Senior Vice President, (aé@munsel and Secretary since October 2007. &ved as
Vice President, Legal, Associate General Counsgtlfesistant Secretary from June 2004 to October 289
Associate General Counsel and Assistant Secratamy ®ctober 2001 to June 2004, and as Associater@en
Counsel from February 2001 to October 2001. SheegbOracle’s Legal Department in 1992.

Mr. West, 47, has been Senior Vice President, GatpdController and Chief Accounting Officer since
February 2008 and was Vice President, Corporatér@liter and Chief Accounting Officer from April 20Qo
February 2008. Prior to joining us, he served &gitlinc.’s Director of Accounting from August 2006

March 2007, as The Gap, Inc.’s Assistant Contrdilem April 2005 to August 2005, and as Vice Presit
Finance, at Cadence Design Systems, Inc.’s prduwgihess from June 2001 to April 2005. He also spéryears
with Arthur Andersen LLP, most recently as a partne

Item 1A. Risk Factors

We operate in a rapidly changing economic and telclyical environment that presents numerous riska)y of
which are driven by factors that we cannot corrgbredict. The following discussion, as well as @@ritical
Accounting Policies and Estimates” discussion imitgemens Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod
Results of Operations (Item 7), highlights somé¢heke risks.

The effects of the current recession and the recghitbal economic crisis may impact our businesssutts of
operations, financial condition or stock price.The current recession and recent global econorisis have caused
a general tightening in the credit markets, lovesels of liquidity, increases in the rates of déifand bankruptcy,
and extreme volatility in credit, equity and fixettome markets. These macroeconomic developmeuntd co
negatively affect our business, operating resulfinancial condition in a number of ways which timn, could
adversely affect our stock price.

For example, current or potential customers mayeedheir IT spending or be unable to fund softwarservices
purchases, which could cause them to delay, dexasancel purchases of our products and seruoicest to pay
us or to delay paying us for previously purchasedipcts and services.
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In some financial markets, institutions may deceemsdiscontinue their purchase of the long-terstauer
financing contracts that we have traditionally soida non-recourse basis. As a result, we mayole of these
contracts ourselves or require more customersrichpse our products and services on a cash basis.

In addition, financial institution weakness or s may cause us to incur increased expenseskeritmaore
difficult either to utilize our existing debt capgcor otherwise obtain financing for our operaspimvesting
activities or financing activities (including th&ncing of any future acquisitions and the timémgl amount of any
future dividend declarations or repurchases ofocoumnmon stock or our debt).

Finally, our investment portfolio, which includdsost-term debt securities, is generally subjedédneral credit,
liquidity, counterparty, market and interest rasks that may be exacerbated by the recent glatendial crisis. If
the banking system or the fixed income, creditquity markets continue to deteriorate or remairatitd, our
investment portfolio may be impacted and the vaarasliquidity of our investments could be adversdfected.

Economic, political and market conditions can adeety affect our business, results of operations dimncial
condition, including our revenue growth and profitality. Our business is influenced by a range of fadtas are
beyond our control and that we have no comparatilventage in forecasting. These include:

« general economic and business conditit

« currency exchange rate fluctuatio

the overall demand for enterprise software andicesy
» governmental budgetary constraints or shifts inegoment spending priorities; a
 general political developmen

A general weakening of, or declining corporate @wgrice in, the global economy, or a curtailmergamernment o
corporate spending could delay or decrease custpurehases. In addition, terrorist attacks arotnedworld, the
wars in Afghanistan and Iraq and the potentialother hostilities in various parts of the worldtgratial public
health crises and natural disasters continue ttriboke to a climate of economic and political uriamty that could
adversely affect our results of operations andniine condition, including our revenue growth amdfjtability.
These factors generally have the strongest effeciuo sales of new software licenses and relatedcss and, to a
lesser extent, also affect our renewal rates ffiwsoe license updates and product support.

We may fail to achieve our financial forecasts dteinaccurate sales forecasts or other factor©ur revenues,
and particularly our new software license revenaesdifficult to forecast, and, as a result, ousrgerly operating
results can fluctuate substantially. We use a ‘Ipipé system, a common industry practice, to fostcales and
trends in our business. Our sales personnel matigostatus of all proposals and estimate whersemer will
make a purchase decision and the dollar amouthiecgdle. These estimates are aggregated perigdicglenerate
sales pipeline. Our pipeline estimates can proumetanreliable both in a particular quarter andr @/knger period
of time, in part because the “conversion rate”’@osure rate” of the pipeline into contracts carvesy difficult to
estimate. A contraction in the conversion ratandhe pipeline itself, could cause us to plan wddpet incorrectly
and adversely affect our business or results ofatjpes. In particular, a slowdown in IT spendingecoonomic
conditions generally can unexpectedly reduce tmeesion rate in particular periods as purchaseajsions are
delayed, reduced in amount or cancelled. The ceiverate can also be affected by the tendencgrgsof our
customers to wait until the end of a fiscal peiiimthe hope of obtaining more favorable terms, Wwtdan also
impede our ability to negotiate and execute thesgracts in a timely manner. In addition, for newabquired
companies, we have limited ability to predict hdwit pipelines will convert into sales or reventmsone or two
quarters following the acquisition, and their corsi@n rate post-acquisition may be quite diffefeom their
historical conversion rate.

A substantial portion of our new software licenseanue contracts is completed in the latter paatqfiarter and a
significant percentage of these are large ordezsaBse our cost structure is largely fixed in tharisterm, revenue
shortfalls tend to have a disproportionately negaitnpact on our profitability. The number of langew software
license transactions also increases the risk ofufation in our quarterly results because a deiaven a small
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number of these transactions could cause our qlyanew software license revenues to fall signifitta short of ou
predictions.

Our success depends upon our ability to develop peaducts and services, integrate acquired produentsl
services and enhance our existing products and 8. Rapid technological advances and evolving statsdiar
computer hardware, software development and conuations infrastructure, changing and increasingly
sophisticated customer needs and frequent new grattroductions and enhancements characterizeriterprise
software market in which we compete. If we are Umaéd develop new products and services, or to re#gand
improve our products and support services in alyimenner or to position and/grice our products and services
meet market demand, customers may not buy new addtlicenses or purchase or renew software licepdates
and product support contracts. Renewals of thggeosticontracts are an important factor in the gngvgoftware
license update and product support segment of wsinbess. In addition, IT standards from both camsand forma
standards-setting forums as well as de facto mpldeg standards are rapidly evolving. We cannotigeoany
assurance that the standards on which we choalsvédop new products will allow us to compete dffedy for
business opportunities in emerging areas.

We are currently building Oracle Fusion Applicaspmwhich are being designed to unify best-of-bussne
capabilities from all Oracle applications in a cdete suite. We have also announced that we ineeadtend the
life of many of our acquired products and will done to provide long-term support for many of oogaired
products, both of which require us to dedicate uesss. If we do not develop and release these mentmanced
products and services within the anticipated tiaenks, if there is a delay in market acceptan@er@w, enhanced
or acquired product line or service, if we do niately optimize complementary product lines and eew or if we
fail to adequately integrate, support or enhancgliaed product lines or services, our business beagdversely
affected.

Acquisitions present many risks, and we may notlizathe financial and strategic goals that werentemplated

at the time of a transaction.In recent years, we have invested billions ofadelto acquire a number of companies,
products, services and technologies. An activeiaitiun program is an important element of our @decorporate
strategy, and we expect to continue to make siratguisitions in the future, including our currgrgending
acquisition of Sun Microsystems, Inc. Risks we rfame in connection with our acquisition programlucie:

« our ongoing business may be disrupted and our neameugt’s attention may be diverted by acquisition,
transition or integration activitie

« an acquisition may not further our business stgategwe expected, we may pay more than the acquired
company or assets are ultimately worth or we mayregrate an acquired company or technology as
successfully as we expected, which could advers#dgt our business or operating rest

* we may have difficulties (i) managing an acquirethpanys technologies or lines of business or (ii) entg
new markets, in each case where we have no oelindiirect prior experience or where competitors ey
stronger market position

 our operating results or financial condition mayadoleersely impacted by liabilities that we assuroenfan
acquired company or technology or by other circamsés related to an acquisition, including claisdated
to an acquired business or technology from goventragencies, terminated employees, customers, forme
stockholders or other third parties; pre-existingtecactual relationships of an acquired company iea
would not have otherwise entered into, the ternamadr modification of which may be costly or diptive tc
our business; unfavorable revenue recognition leerodccounting treatment as a result of an acquired
compan’s practices; and intellectual property dispu

- we may fail to identify or assess the magnitudeestain liabilities, shortcomings or other circuarates pric
to acquiring a company or technology, which co@siit in unexpected litigation or regulatory expesu
unfavorable accounting treatment, unexpected isee@ taxes due, a loss of anticipated tax benafibthe
adverse effects on our business, operating resufitsancial condition
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< we may not realize the anticipated increase irewenues from an acquisition if a larger than potedi
number of customers decline to renew software $iearpdates and product support contracts, if we are
unable to sell the acquired products to our custdrase or if contract models of an acquired commhmgiot
allow us to recognize revenues on a timely b

* we may be unable to obtain timely approvals frommay otherwise have certain limitations, restoiot,
penalties or other sanctions imposed on us by, erariuncils or similar bodies under applicable eyplen
laws as a result of an acquisition, which couldeadely affect our integration plans in certaingdittions;

< we may have difficulty incorporating acquired teclugies or products with our existing product lirzesl
maintaining uniform standards, architecture, cdafnerocedures and policie

- we may have multiple and overlapping product liags result of our acquisitions that are offereiteg and
supported differently, which could cause custonoafgsion and delay:

* we may have higher than anticipated costs in cairtnsupport and development of acquired prodt

* we may be unable to obtain required approvals fgorernmental authorities under competition andrars
laws on a timely basis, if it all, which could, angpother things, delay or prevent us from comptetin
transaction, otherwise restrict our ability to realthe expected financial or strategic goals odeguisition o
have other adverse effects on our current busered®perations

 our use of cash to pay for acquisitions may lintliteo potential uses of our cash, including stogurehases,
dividend payments and retirement of outstandinglineldness

« we may significantly increase our interest expelesasrage and debt service requirements if we incur
additional debt to pay for an acquisition and weythave to delay or not proceed with a substantial
acquisition if we cannot obtain the necessary fagdo complete the acquisition in a timely manrreoro
favorable terms

« we may experience additional and/or unexpectedgd®im how we are required to account for our
acquisitions pursuant to U.S. generally acceptedwatting principles (GAAP), including our adoptioh
FASB Statement No. 141 (revised 20Blisiness Combinations fiscal 2010, which could materially
affect our consolidated financial statements;

« to the extent that we issue a significant amourgcpiity securities in connection with future acdigss,
existing stockholders may be diluted and earniregsshare may decrea:

The occurrence of any of these risks could havatnal adverse effect on our business, resultgefations,
financial condition or cash flows, particularlytime case of a larger acquisition or several coeotiracquisitions.

Our international sales and operations subject wsadditional risks that can adversely affect ourenating
results. We derive a substantial portion of our revenuesf and have significant operations, outside eflimited
States. Our international operations include safveievelopment, sales, customer support, consuffingoemand
and shared administrative service centers.

Compliance with international and U.S. laws andutatjons that apply to our international operationseases our
cost of doing business in foreign jurisdictionse$a laws and regulations include U.S. laws su¢heaBoreign
Corrupt Practices Act, and local laws which alsohilsit corrupt payments to governmental officialata privacy
requirements, labor relations laws, tax laws, aatipetition regulations, import and trade reswits, and export
requirements. Violations of these laws and regofeticould result in fines, criminal sanctions agairs, our officer
or our employees, and prohibitions on the condéiouo business. Any such violations could resuipriahibitions
on our ability to offer our products and service®ne or more countries, could delay or preveng il
acquisitions, and could also materially damagereputation, our brand, our international expansiffarts, our
ability to attract and retain employees, our bussnend our operating results. Our success depianas;t, on our
ability to anticipate these risks and manage té§eulties. We monitor our international operat®and investiga
allegations of improprieties relating to transacsi@nd the way in which such transactions are
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recorded. Where circumstances warrant, we prowvifitgrnation and report our findings to governmerthatities,
but no assurance can be given that action wilbediaken by such authorities.

We are also subject to a variety of other risks @mallenges in managing an organization operatingrious
countries, including those related to:

< general economic conditions in each country oramg

« fluctuations in currency exchange rat

* regulatory change:

* political unrest, terrorism and the potential fther hostilities

« public health risks, particularly in areas in whigh have significant operatior

« longer payment cycles and difficulties in collegtimccounts receivabl

 overlapping tax regime:

« our ability to repatriate funds held by our foremgubsidiaries to the United States at favorabledtes;
« difficulties in transferring funds from certain auties; anc

 reduced protection for intellectual property rigimtsome countries

As the majority shareholder of Oracle Financiah@ss Software Limited (formerly i-flex solutionisnited), a
publicly traded Indian software company focusedtenbanking industry, we are faced with severaltal risks,
including being subject to local securities regolas and being unable to exert full control or abfanancial and
other information on a timely basis.

We may experience foreign currency gains and loss&¥e conduct a significant number of transactions i
currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. Changebkénvalue of major foreign currencies, particuldahg Euro,
Japanese Yen and British Pound relative to the DoBar can significantly affect revenues and operating
results. Our revenues and operating results arersely affected when the dollar strengthens reddtivother
currencies and are positively affected when théadaleakens. Our revenues and operating resuftsaal 2009
have been unfavorably affected by the recent stheming U.S. Dollar relative to other major foreigmrencies.

Our foreign currency transaction gains and logsesarily related to sublicense fees and otherements among
us and our subsidiaries and distributors, are @thagainst earnings in the period incurred. Werénte foreign
exchange forward contracts to hedge certain tréiosaand translation exposures in major currendiaswe will
continue to experience foreign currency gains asdds in certain instances where it is not possibt®st effective
to hedge our foreign currency exposures.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual pesty rights. We rely on copyright, trademark, patent and trade
secret laws, confidentiality procedures, controld eontractual commitments to protect our intellatproperty
rights. Despite our efforts, these protections t@yimited. Unauthorized third parties may try tpg or reverse
engineer portions of our products or otherwise iobdad use our intellectual property. Any patentsed by us me
be invalidated, circumvented or challenged. Anpwf pending or future patent applications, whetrarot being
currently challenged, may not be issued with thepef the claims we seek, if at all. In addititre laws of some
countries do not provide the same level of probectf our intellectual property rights as do thedaand courts of
the United States. If we cannot protect our intéilal property rights against unauthorized copyingse, or other
misappropriation, we may not remain competitive.

Third parties have claimed and, in the future, majaim infringement or misuse of intellectual propsrrights
and/or breach of license agreement provision¥Ve periodically receive notices from, or havedaits filed again:
us by, others claiming infringement or other misaktheir intellectual property rights and/or bread our
agreements with them. We expect the number of slaims will increase as:

e we continue to acquire compani

« the number of products and competitors in our itrgusegments grow:
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« the functionality of products overla

« the use and support of third-party code (includipgn source code) becomes more prevalent in theaef
industry; anc

« the volume of issued software patents continuéscrease
Responding to any such claim, regardless of itsligl could:

 be time consuming, costly and result in litigati
 divert manageme’s time and attention from developing our busin

* require us to pay monetary damages or enter iy@tsoand licensing agreements that we would not
normally find acceptable

 require us to stop selling or to redesign certdious products

* require us to release source code to third papiessibly under open source license tei

 require us to satisfy indemnification obligationsour customers; ¢

 otherwise adversely affect our business, resultpefations, financial condition or cash flo
Specific patent infringement cases are discussddrudote 17 of Notes to Consolidated Financialesiants.

We may lose key employees or may be unable todnaigh qualified employeesWe rely on the continued
service of our senior management, including oue€hkecutive Officer and founder, members of owgaenive
team and other key employees and the hiring of quealified employees. In the software industry, ¢hisr
substantial and continuous competition for highdjled business, product development, technical aher
personnel. In addition, acquisitions could caus®usse key personnel of the acquired companieg Qracle. We
may also experience increased compensation cagtart not offset by either improved productivityhagher
prices. We may not be successful in recruiting pevsonnel and in retaining and motivating exispegsonnel.
With rare exceptions, we do not have long-term @ymlent or non-competition agreements with our eygés.
Members of our senior management team have leftl©over the years for a variety of reasons, andavaot
assure you that there will not be additional dapad, which may be disruptive to our operations.

We continually focus on improving our cost struetbiy hiring personnel in countries where advaneetrical
expertise is available at lower costs. When we naalfjestments to our workforce, we may incur expsrssociate
with workforce reductions that delay the benefiaaghore efficient workforce structure. We may agperience
increased competition for employees in these c@as#s the trend toward globalization continuesciwvmay affec
our employee retention efforts and/or increaseeapenses in an effort to offer a competitive conspéon
program. Part of our total compensation prograntuies stock options which are an important toatinacting and
retaining employees in our industry. If our stocice performs poorly, it may adversely affect ohility to retain ol
attract employees. In addition, because we expalhstock-based compensation, we may in the futhemge our
stock-based and other compensation practices. bthe changes we consider from time to time inelad
reduction in the number of employees granted optianmeduction in the number of options grantecepeployee
and a change to alternative forms of stock-basetpeasation. Any changes in our compensation pestc
changes made by competitors could affect our ghidiretain and motivate existing personnel anduieaew
personnel.

We may need to change our pricing models to compsetecessfully. The intense competition we face in the sales
of our products and services and general econonaidasiness conditions can put pressure on usatogehour
prices. If our competitors offer deep discountsertain products or services or develop producisttie

marketplace considers more valuable, we may nekxvier prices or offer other favorable terms inartb compet
successfully. Any such changes may reduce margidsauld adversely affect operating results. Ottmsoe

license updates and product support fees are dignariaed as a percentage of our net new softliaemse fees.

Our competitors may offer lower percentage prigingoroduct updates and support, which could piggue on us
to further discount our new license prices.
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Any broadbased change to our prices and pricing policiesdccause new software license and services revenl
decline or be delayed as our sales force implermamdur customers adjust to the new pricing paticBome of
our competitors may bundle software products fonptional purposes or as a lotegm pricing strategy or provic
guarantees of prices and product implementationssé& practices could, over time, significantly ¢aais the price:
that we can charge for certain of our productsudfdo not adapt our pricing models to reflect clesng customer
use of our products or changes in customer dentamd)ew software license revenues could decreadditidnally,
increased distribution of applications through aggtlon service providers, including software-aseavice (SaaS)
providers, may reduce the average price for oudyets or adversely affect other sales of our prtsjweducing
new software license revenues unless we can gffget reductions with volume increases. The inaéa®pen
source software distribution may also cause usiégmge our pricing models.

We may be unable to compete effectively within kiighly competitive software industry.Many vendors develop
and market databases, internet application sereeiupts, application development tools, businegdicgtions,
collaboration products and business intelligencelpcts that compete with our offerings. In additiseveral
companies offer business process outsourcing (BiR@)SaaS as competitive alternatives to buyingveo#, and
customer interest in BPO and SaaS solutions ig@sing. Some of these competitors have greatardialaor
technical resources than we do. Our competitortsatiier business applications and middleware prsioway
influence a customer’s purchasing decision foruhéerlying database in an effort to persuade pialesustomers
not to acquire our products. We could lose custsriferur competitors introduce new competitive preis, add
new functionality, acquire competitive productgjuee prices or form strategic alliances with ott@mpanies.
Vendors that offer BPO or SaaS solutions may peesoar customers not to purchase our products. Aeaiso
face increasing competition from open source safvimitiatives, in which competitors may providdta@re and
intellectual property for free. Existing or new co@titors could gain sales opportunities or cust@nat¢iour expens

Disruptions of our indirect sales channel could &€t our future operating results Our indirect channel network
is comprised primarily of resellers, system intégirs{implementers, consultants, education provideternet
service providers, network integrators and indepahdoftware vendors. Our relationships with thasmnel
participants are important elements of our markesind sales efforts. Our financial results couldtheersely
affected if our contracts with channel participantre terminated, if our relationships with chanpeatticipants wel
to deteriorate, if any of our competitors enteoistrategic relationships with or acquire a siguaifit channel
participant or if the financial condition of ouraimel participants were to weaken. There can kessarance that
we will be successful in maintaining, expandingleveloping our relationships with channel partioigalf we are
not successful, we may lose sales opportunitiegpoers and revenues.

Charges to earnings resulting from acquisitions maglversely affect our operating resultsln fiscal 2010, we

will adopt FASB Statement No. 141 (revised 20B0)siness Combinatiorsd FASB Staff Position (FSP) FAS 141
(R)-1 Accounting for Assets Acquired and Liabilities Ased in a Business Combinations That Arise from
Contingencies Accounting for our acquisitions pursuant to Staeat 141(R) is significantly different than how we
have historically accounted for our acquisitionsl@mexisting accounting principles and these diffiees could
materially impact our results of operations or fio@l position. The more significant differenceslide how we
account for restructuring liabilities associatedwan acquisition, costs incurred to effect theuggitjion, changes in
estimates of income tax valuation allowances aatfuilities for uncertain tax positions associatethvain acquisitior
and how we reflect goodwill adjustments in compaeatinancial statements, among others. A morechgh
discussion of our accounting for these and otleengtis presented in the “Critical Accounting Pel&cand
Estimates” section of Management's Discussion andlysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ogiers

(Item 7).

For any business combination that is consummatezlpat to Statement 141(R), we will recognize themntifiable
assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and anycontrolling interest in acquired companies gelteat their
acquisition date fair values and, in each casaraggly from goodwill. Goodwill as of the acquisitidate is
measured as the excess amount of consideraticsféread, which is also generally measured at falue, and the
net of the acquisition date amounts of the ideattif assets acquired and the liabilities assumede&imates of
fair value are based upon assumptions believed tedsonable but which are inherently uncertaiterAfie

20




Table of Contents

complete an acquisition, the following factors abrésult in material charges and adversely affacoperating
results and may adversely affect our cash flows:

 costs incurred to combine the operations of congsawe acquire, such as employee retention, redegloty
or relocation expense

« impairment of goodwill or intangible asse
« amortization of intangible assets acquir
 areduction in the useful lives of intangible assatquired

« identification of assumed contingent liabilitiesesfthe measurement period (generally up to onefyea
the acquisition date) has end

 charges to our operating results to eliminate gedaplicative pre-merger activities, to restruetour
operations or to reduce our cost struct

 charges to our operating results due to changdsferred tax asset valuation allowances and ltgdsli
related to uncertain tax positions after the measent period has ende

 charges to our operating results resulting fromeespgs incurred to effect the acquisition;
 charges to our operating results due to the expgrndicertain stock awards assumed in an acquis

Substantially all of these costs will be accourftedhs expenses that will decrease our net incardesarnings per
share for the periods in which those costs arerisduCharges to our operating results in any gpenod could
differ substantially from other periods based amtiming and size of our future acquisitions anel ¢ktent of
integration activities.

Our periodic workforce restructurings can be disrtipe. We have in the past restructured or made other
adjustments to our workforce, including our dirsates force on which we rely heavily, in resporsmanagement
changes, product changes, performance issuessédmms and other internal and external considenatiIn the
past, sales force and other restructurings havergiy resulted in a temporary lack of focus aruezd
productivity. These effects could recur in conraetivith future acquisitions and other restructusiagd our
revenues could be negatively affected.

We might experience significant errors or securftgws in our products and servicesDespite testing prior to
their release, software products frequently congainrs or security flaws, especially when firgtanluced or when
new versions are released. The detection and ¢immeaf any security flaws can be time consuming eostly.
Errors in our software products could affect thiitgtof our products to work with other hardwaresmftware
products, could delay the development or releasewfproducts or new versions of products and cadidrsely
affect market acceptance of our products. If wesegmce errors or delays in releasing new prodorctew version
of products, we could lose revenues. In additios ran our own business operations, Oracle On Deraaddther
outsourcing services, support and consulting sesyion our products and networks and any secuaitysf if
exploited, could affect our ability to conduct imtal business operations. End users, who rely opmducts and
services for applications that are critical to thmisinesses, may have a greater sensitivity tdymteerrors and
security vulnerabilities than customers for softvproducts generally. Software product errors aedisty flaws in
our products or services could expose us to prddtity, performance and/awvarranty claims as well as harm «
reputation, which could impact our future salepmfducts and services. In addition, we may be legatjuired to
publicly report security breaches of our serviegsich could adversely impact future business protspir those
services.

We may not receive significant revenues from oumr@nt research and development efforts for seveyahrs, if at
all. Developing and localizing software is expensind the investment in product development often ve®a
long return on investment cycle. We have made apéct to continue to make significant investmentsaftware
research and development and related product apptes. Accelerated product introductions and sporduct life
cycles require high levels of expenditures for agsle and development that could adversely affecbparating
results if not offset by revenue increases. Weelelthat we must continue to dedicate a significant
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amount of resources to our research and developaffents to maintain our competitive position. Hoxee, we do
not expect to receive significant revenues frons¢hi@evestments for several years, if at all.

Our sales to government clients subject us to righkdluding early termination, audits, investigatian sanctions
and penalties. We derive revenues from contracts with the UnBéates government, state and local governments
and their respective agencies, which may termimaist of these contracts at any time, without cause.

There is increased pressure for governments afirdatipencies, both domestically and internationatiyreduce
spending. Our federal government contracts areesuty the approval of appropriations being madéhky

United States Congress to fund the expendituresruhése contracts. Similarly, our contracts atstiage and local
levels are subject to government funding authdonat

Additionally, government contracts are generallgjsat to audits and investigations which could leswarious
civil and criminal penalties and administrative a#ons, including termination of contracts, refwfda portion of
fees received, forfeiture of profits, suspensiopafments, fines and suspensions or debarmentftrmre
government business.

Business disruptions could affect our operating tafs. A significant portion of our research and develent
activities and certain other critical business afiens is concentrated in a few geographic areasak&' a highly
automated business and a disruption or failureuosgstems could cause delays in completing salégpeoviding
services, including some of our On Demand offeridgmajor earthquake, fire or other catastrophierg\that
results in the destruction or disruption of anyof critical business or information technologytsyss could
severely affect our ability to conduct normal besis operations and, as a result, our future opgregsults could k
materially and adversely affected.

There are risks associated with our outstanding @idedness. As of May 31, 2009, we had an aggregate of
$10.2 billion of outstanding indebtedness that mititure between 2010 and 2038, and we may incuticul
indebtedness in the future. Our ability to payriest and repay the principal for our indebtednesiependent upon
our ability to manage our business operations, geasufficient cash flows to service such debtthedother
factors discussed in this section. There can bessarance that we will be able to manage any skthigks
successfully.

We may also need to refinance a portion of ourtanting debt as it matures. There is a risk thamag not be abl
to refinance existing debt or that the terms of @financing may not be as favorable as the tefmoesioexisting
debt. Furthermore, if prevailing interest rate®tirer factors at the time of refinancing resulhigher interest rates
upon refinancing, then the interest expense redtirthat refinanced indebtedness would increaseuls we incur
future increases in interest expense, our abiitytilize certain of our foreign tax credits to vee our U.S. federal
income tax could be limited, which could unfavosahffect our provision for income taxes and effeetiax rate. In
addition, changes by any rating agency to our outlr credit rating could negatively affect theuabf both our
debt and equity securities and increase the irttaresunts we pay on outstanding or future debts&hisks could
adversely affect our financial condition and reswolt operations.

Adverse litigation results could affect our busirge: We are subject to various legal proceedingsgafion can be
lengthy, expensive and disruptive to our operatiansl results cannot be predicted with certainty aflverse
decision could result in monetary damages or irtjuaaelief that could affect our business, op&mtiesults or
financial condition. Additional information regargj certain of the lawsuits we are involved in iscdissed under
Note 17 in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statesy

We may have exposure to additional tax liabilitie#As a multinational corporation, we are subjedntmme taxes
as well as non-income based taxes, in both theed8tates and various foreign jurisdictions. Sigaiit judgment
is required in determining our worldwide provisifam income taxes and other tax liabilities.

Changes in tax laws or tax rulings may have a Baaritly adverse impact on our effective tax réter example,
proposals for fundamental U.S. international termra, such as the recent proposal by President @isam
Administration, if enacted, could have a significadverse impact on our effective tax rate.

In the ordinary course of a global business, tiaeeemany intercompany transactions and calculatigrese the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. We araufady under audit by tax authorities. Our intergzany transfer
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pricing is currently being reviewed by the IRS daydforeign tax jurisdictions and will likely be sjglst to additional
audits in the future. We previously negotiated ¢twailateral Advance Pricing Agreements with th& lfRat cover
many of our intercompany transfer pricing issues @reclude the IRS from making a transfer pricidgiatment
within the scope of these agreements. These agresme effective for fiscal years through May 3006. We hav
submitted to the IRS a request for renewal of Adgance Pricing Agreement for the years ending 18y2007
through May 31, 2011. However, these agreementstoover all elements of our transfer pricing dochot bind
tax authorities outside the United States. We liamadized one bilateral Advance Pricing Agreemevttjch was
effective for the years ending May 31, 2002 throigy 31, 2006 and we have submitted a renewah®ytars
ending May 31, 2007 through May 31, 2011. Therelmno guarantee that such negotiations will réswdn
agreement. During the fiscal year ended May 31926@ concluded an additional bilateral agreemebter the
period from June 1, 2001 through January 25, 2008.

Although we believe that our tax estimates areaealsle, there is no assurance that the final détetian of tax
audits or tax disputes will not be different frorhat is reflected in our historical income tax psions and accrual

We are also subject to non-income based taxes,agiphyroll, sales, use, value-added, net wortipgsty and
goods and services taxes, in both the United Stateéwvarious foreign jurisdictions. We are regylarhder audit by
tax authorities with respect to these non-inconsetidaxes and may have exposure to additionalmoovie based
tax liabilities. Our acquisition activities havecheased our non-income based tax exposures.

Oracle On Demand and CRM On Demand may not be sgstd. We offer Oracle On Demand outsourcing
services for our applications and database techggiptitelivered at our data center facilities, sepestner data
centers or customer facilities. We also offer CRM @emand, which is a service offering that provides
customers with our CRM software functionality deligd via a hosted solution that we manage. Thesiadzns
models continue to evolve, and we may not be abt®mpete effectively, generate significant revendevelop
them into profitable businesses or maintain thesfifability. We incur expenses associated withitifeastructures
and marketing of our Oracle On Demand and CRM Om#&el businesses in advance of our ability to reiceghe
revenues associated with these offerings. Thesadases are subject to a variety of additionaktigkcluding:

* we manage critical customer applications, datachdr confidential information through Oracle Onitand
and CRM On Demand; accordingly, we face increaggd®uire to significant damage claims and risk to
Oracle’s brand and future business prospects imvtbat of system failures, inadequate disastenvergamr
loss or misappropriation of customer confidentidibrmation;

« we may face regulatory exposure in certain areels aa data privacy, data security and export canpé;

« the laws and regulations applicable to hosted sempioviders are unsettled, particularly in theaaref
privacy and security and use of global resourdeanges in these laws could affect our ability tovjpte
services from or to some locations and could irsd#oth the costs and risks associated with prayittie
services

< demand for these services may not meet our expmtsand may be affected by customer and media
concerns about security risks, international trarssbf data, government or other third-party acteskata,
and/oruse of outsourced services providers more genegaily

* our offerings may require large fixed costs foradeg¢nters, computers, network infrastructure, stycand
otherwise, and we may not be able to generatecguifirevenues to offset these costs and generedéptabl
operating margins from these offerin

Our stock price could become more volatile and yawestment could lose valueAll of the factors discussed in
this section could affect our stock price. The tignof announcements in the public market regardang products,
product enhancements or technological advancesibgampetitors or us, and any announcements by us o
acquisitions, major transactions, or managememgggcould also affect our stock price. Changdésaramounts
and frequency of share repurchases or dividends ealversely affect our stock price. Our stock @i subject to
speculation in the press and the analyst commuttignges in recommendations or earnings estimgtéisancial
analysts, changes in investors’ or analysts’ vadnaneasures for our stock, our credit ratings miadket trends
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unrelated to our performance. A significant dropim stock price could also expose us to the rideourities class
actions lawsuits, which could result in substart@dts and divert management’s attention and ressuwhich
could adversely affect our business.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comment:

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our properties consist of owned and leased officdifies for sales, support, research and devedspintonsulting
and administrative personnel. Our headquarter$tfaconsists of approximately 2.1 million squaeefin Redwoo
City, California. We also own or lease office fé@is for current use consisting of approximatedy3lmillion squar
feet in various other locations in the United Staad abroad. Approximately 4.0 million square t&e20% of total
owned and leased space is sublet or is being &ctivarketed for sublease or disposition.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The material set forth in Note 17 of Notes to Cdidsted Financial Statements in Item 15 of this AairReport on
Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holder:

None.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Rdated Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Globake8&eMarket under the symbol “ORCL” and has beededa
on NASDAQ since our initial public offering in 198Bccording to the records of our transfer ager,had 18,952
stockholders of record as of May 31, 2009. Theofeihg table sets forth the low and high sale pateur common
stock, based on the last daily sale, in each ofamireight fiscal quarters.

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008
Low Sale High Sale Low Sale High Sale
Price Price Price Price
Fourth Quarte $ 13.8¢ $ 19.7¢ $ 184/ § 22.8¢
Third Quartel $ 154 $ 1841 $ 188C $ 23.11
Second Quarte $ 154C $ 2158 $ 193¢ $ 22.9:
First Quartel $ 2028 $ 2352 $ 187: $ 20.7¢

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, we declared paid our first quarterly cash dividend in owstbry of $0.05 per
share of outstanding common stock. In June 2009Board of Directors declared a quarterly cashd#ind of $0.0
per share of outstanding common stock payable qustd3, 2009 to stockholders of record as of thgecof
business on July 15, 2009. Future declarationsvidehds and the establishment of future record@adanent dates
are subject to the final determination of our Boaf®irectors.

For equity compensation plan information, pleagerr® Item 12 in Part IIl of this Annual Report.

Stock Repurchase Progran

Our Board of Directors has approved a program f@c® to repurchase shares of our common stock. On
October 20, 2008, we announced that our Board afdbirs had approved the expansion of our repuechayram
by $8.0 billion and as of May 31, 2009, approxina6.3 billion was available for share repurchgsesuant to
our stock repurchase program.

Our stock repurchase authorization does not hawxpination date and the pace of our repurchaseitsiauill
depend on factors such as our working capital nemdscash requirements for acquisitions and dividgayments,
our debt repayment obligations or repurchases ofleht, our stock price, and economic and marketlitions. Oul
stock repurchases may be effected from time to thmmugh open market purchases or pursuant to a

Rule 10b5-1 plan. Our stock repurchase programbesgccelerated, suspended, delayed or discontatesy
time.

The following table summarizes the stock repurclasizity for the three months ending May 31, 2@0@ the
approximate dollar value of shares that may ygiurehased pursuant to our share repurchase program:

Total Number of Approximate Dollar
Total Number  Average Shares Purchased a Value of Shares that
of Shares Price Paid Part of Publicly May Yet Be Purchase

(in millions, except per share amounts) Purchased  per Share Announced Programs Under the Programs

March 1, 200—March 31, 200¢ 5.4$% 16.0¢ 54 3% 6,414.¢

April 1, 200<—April 30, 2009 44% 19.11 44 % 6,331.:

May 1, 200—May 31, 200¢ 4.2$ 18.8( 42 % 6,251.¢
Total 14.C$ 17.8¢ 14.C
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Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Rett

The graph below compares the cumulative total $tolcker return on our common stock with the cumuéatotal
return on the S&P’s 500 Index and the Dow Jones Bdiware Index for each of the last five fiscahys ended
May 31, 2009, assuming an investment of $100 ab#ugnning of such period and the reinvestmenngf a
dividends. The comparisons in the graphs belovased upon historical data and are not indicativear intende:
to forecast, future performance of our common stock

Oracle Corporatiol
S&P 500 Inde»

LI Il i s

S L S0 207 ST 0%

[+IZI'=;!¥ GO aian m e FAP 500 e --of-- Dow Jorss U5, Solteam ll.kﬂ-'l

*$100 INVESTED ON MAY 31, 2004 IN STOCK OR
INDEX-INCLUDING REINVESTMENT OF DIVIDENDS.

5/04 5/05 5/06

COMPARISON OF 5-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
AMONG ORACLE CORPORATION, THE S&P 500 INDEX
AND THE DOW JONES U.S. SOFTWARE INDEX

5/07 5/08 5/09

100.0C 112.2¢ 124.7:
100.0C 108.2¢ 117.5¢

Dow Jones U.S. Software Ind 100.0C 109.3¢ 104.0¢
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected financialadas of and for the last five fiscal years. Heikected financial
data should be read in conjunction with the codlstéid financial statements and related notes iedlid Item 15 o
this Form 10-K. Over the last five fiscal years, se acquired a number of companies including lRr&wt, Inc.,
BEA Systems, Inc., Siebel Systems, Inc. and HypeSolutions Corporation. The results of our acqlizempanies
have been included in our consolidated financetkshents since their respective dates of acquisitial have
contributed to our growth in revenues, income aathiags per share.

As of and For The Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share amounts) 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Consolidated Statements of Operations Datz

Total revenue $23,25.  $22,43( $17,99¢ $14,38( $11,79¢
Operating incom $ 8,321 $ 7,84« $ 5,974 $ 4,73¢ $ 4,02:
Net income $ 559: $ 5,521 $ 4,274 $ 3,381 $ 2,88¢
Earnings per sha—basic $ 11C $ 1.0¢ $ 0.8: $ 0.6% $ 0.5€
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 1.0¢ $ 1.0€ $ 0.81 $ 0.64 $ 0.5t
Basic weighted average common shares outstal 5,07( 5,13: 5,17( 5,19¢ 5,13¢
Diluted weighted average common shares outstar 5,13( 5,22¢ 5,26¢ 5,287 5,231
Cash dividends declared per sh $ 008 $ — $ — $ — $ —
Consolidated Balance Sheets Dat:

Working capital $9,43: $ 8,074 $ 3,49¢ $ 5,044 § 38t
Total asset $47,41¢  $47,26(3) $34,57:3) $29,02¢3)  $20,68:"
Notes payable, current and other current borrow® $ 1,000 $ 1,001 $ 1,35¢ $ 15¢ $ 2,69:
Notes payable and other r-current borrowing«) $ 9,237  $10,23¢ $ 6,23¢ $ 5,73¢ $ 15¢
Stockholder’ equity $25,09( $23,02¢ $16,91¢ $15,01: $10,837

() Total working capital increased as of May 31, 2688 2006 primarily due to the issuance of $5.0dniland $5.75 billion, respectively, in
long-term senior notes and increased cash flows fromatipes.

@ Total working capital decreased as of May 31, 200Barily due to cash paid to acquire People<

() Total assets increased as of May 31, 2008, 2002@06@ primarily due to goodwill and intangible assarising from the acquisitions of BEA
in fiscal 2008, Hyperion in fiscal 2007 and Sieipefiscal 2006, as well as our profitability in @ériods presented. See Note 2 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionfdrimation on our acquisition

Notes payable, current and other current borrowregsgined constant in fiscal 2009 due to repayraii.O billion of senior notes th
matured in May 2009 offset by the prospective mgtaf $1.0 billion of senior notes due in fiscdl1D. Notes payable, current and other
current borrowings decreased in fiscal 2008 duepayments of amounts borrowed under our commegeiaér program during fiscal 2007
partially offset by $1.0 billion of senior notesattmatured in fiscal 2009. Notes payable, curredta@ther current borrowings increased in
fiscal 2005 due to amounts borrowed under our coraigepaper program and amounts borrowed by Oraetdhnology Company, a wholly-
owned subsidiary, which were repaid in fiscal 2(

Notes payable and other r-current borrowings increased between fiscal 20@bfescal 2008 due to the issuances of $5.0 biliblongterm
senior notes in fiscal 2008, $2.0 billion of loreg#h senior notes in fiscal 2007 and $5.75 billibtoag-term senior notes in fiscal 2006,
partially offset by redemptions of $1.5 billionfiscal 2007. In fiscal 2009 and 2008, $1.0 billofithese longerm senior notes were repait
maturity. See Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated FiredrStatements for additional information on ootes payable and other borrowin

2

g

Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

We begin Management's Discussion and Analysis oafig¢ial Condition and Results of Operations with an
overview of our key operating business segmentssadficant trends. This overview is followed byligcussion ¢
our critical accounting policies and estimates thatbelieve are important to understanding therapions and
judgments incorporated in our reported financialits. We then provide a more detailed analyssuofresults o
operations and financial condition.
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Business Overview

We are the world’s largest enterprise software camgpWe develop, manufacture, market, distributé service
database and middleware software as well as afiplisasoftware designed to help our customers ne@aagd grow
their business operations. We believe our intewrabrganic, growth and continued innovation wigspect to our
software products and services offerings provi@efttundation for our long-term strategic plan. Weeist billions
of dollars in research and development each yeanhance our existing portfolio of products andisess and to
develop new products, features and services. @amially developed offerings have been enhancealby
acquisitions.

We are organized into two businesses, softwaresandces, which are further divided into five ofarg segments.
Each of these operating segments has unique chastics and faces different opportunities and lengles.
Although we report our actual results in U.S. Ddlave conduct a significant number of transactioraurrencies
other than U.S. Dollars. Therefore, we present eamsurrency information to provide a framework éssessing
how our underlying business performed excludingetfiect of foreign currency rate fluctuations. Aveoview of
our five operating segments follows.

Software Busines

Our software business, which represented 81%, 8t%a8% of our total revenues in fiscal 2009, 2068 2007,
respectively, is comprised of two operating segsigl) new software license revenues and (2) soéhieense
updates and product support revenues. On a comstarncy basis, we expect that our software bgsinevenues
generally will continue to increase due to contthdemand for our products, including the high petage of
customers that renew their software license updatdroduct support contracts, and due to ourisitigns, whick
should allow us to grow our profits and continuertake investments in research and development.

New Software Licenses« We license our database and middleware as welliaapplications software to busines
of many sizes, government agencies, educationtiutisns and resellers. The growth in new softwarense
revenues that we report is affected by the streafyfeneral economic and business conditions, gworental
budgetary constraints, the competitive positionwf software products, our acquisitions and foreigmency
fluctuations. Our new software license businesdss characterized by long sales cycles. The tirafrayfew large
software license transactions can substantialcafiur quarterly new software license revenuexesour new
software license revenues in a particular quadarke difficult to predict as a result of the tigniof a few large
software license transactions, we believe thatyaisabf new software license revenues on a tradiggarter period
(as provided in our quarterly reports on Form 10p€Vides additional visibility into the underlyimgrformance of
our new software license business. New softwasntie revenues represented 31%, 34% and 33% aftalir t
revenues in fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respegti@lir new software license margins have histdsida¢énded
upward over the course of the four quarters withparticular fiscal year due to the historical upviend of our
new software license revenues over those quanperipds and because the majority of our costs r@éopinantly
fixed in the short term. However, our new softwigcense margins have been and will continue toffexted by the
amortization of intangible assets associated withganies that we have acquired.

Competition in the software business is intense.@oal is to maintain a first or second positioreach of our
software product categories and certain industgynemts as well as to grow our software revenudsrfésan our
competitors. We believe that the features and fonatity of our software products are as stronthay have ever
been. We have focused on lowering the total costwafership of our software products by improvinggration,
decreasing installation times, lowering adminisbratosts and improving the ease of use. In additor broad
portfolio of product offerings (many of which halieen acquired in recent years) helps us to offetocters the
ability to gain efficiencies by consolidating théir “software stack'with a single vendor, which reduces the nun
of disparate software vendors with which custonmgeract. Reducing the total cost of ownership af products
provides our customers with a higher return onrttieinvestments, which we believe creates moreatedhfor our
products and services and provides us with a cdtiyeeadvantage. We have also continued to focusnmmoving
the overall quality of our software products and/ee levels. We believe this will lead to higheistomer
satisfaction and loyalty and help us achieve oa gbbecoming our customers’ leading technologyisat.
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Software License Updates and Product Suppc Customers that purchase software license updateproduct
support are granted rights to unspecified prodpgrades and maintenance releases issued durisgppert perioc
as well as technical support assistance. In additie@ offer Oracle Unbreakable Linux Support, whichvides
enterprise level support for the Linux operatingtsyn, and also offer support for our Oracle VM serv
virtualization software. Substantially all of ouwrstomers renew their software license updates esttlipt support
contracts annually. The growth of software licenpdates and product support revenues is primanflyenced by
three factors: (1) the percentage of our suppartract customer base that renews its support adstrg) the
amount of new support contracts sold in conneatiith the sale of new software licenses, and (3jtmeunt of
support contracts assumed from companies we hayerad.

Software license updates and product support resenwhich represented 50%, 46% and 46% of our tet@nues
in fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, isldghest margin business unit. Support marginsnduiiscal 2009
were 84%, and accounted for 81% of our total margirer the same period. Our software license uptale
product support margins have been affected by#dire adjustments relating to support obligaticssuaned in
business combinations (described further below)namortization of intangible assets. However rdkie longer
term, we believe that software license updatespanduct support revenues and margins will growttierfollowing
reasons:

« substantially all of our customers, including cuséss from acquired companies, renew their support
contracts when eligible for renew.

« substantially all of our customers purchase licans#ates and product support contracts when theyew
software licenses, resulting in a further increassur support contract base. Even if new softwiaense
revenue growth was flat, software license updatesproduct support revenues would continue to grow
comparison to the corresponding prior year perastsiming renewal and cancellation rates and foreign
currency rates remained relatively constant sinbstsntially all new software license transactiadd to oul
support contract base; a

 our acquisitions have increased our support conrase, as well as the portfolio of products awdéldo be
licensed and supporte

We record adjustments to reduce support obligag@ssimed in business acquisitions to their estohfaie values ¢
the acquisition dates. As a result, as requirebdusiness combination accounting rules, we did @ecbgnize
software license updates and product support regerelated to support contracts that would have bdeerwise
recorded by the acquired businesses as indepeedétis in the amount of $243 million, $179 mifliand

$212 million in fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respety. To the extent underlying support contracts enewed
with us following an acquisition, we will recogniiee revenues for the full value of the supporttcasts over the
support periods, the majority of which are one year

Services Busines

Our services business consists of consulting, Onddel and education. Our services business, whiresented
19%, 20% and 21% of our total revenues in fisc@2@008 and 2007, respectively, has significalotlyer margin:
than our software business.

Consulting: Our consulting line of business provides servioesustomers in business/IT strategy alignment;
business process simplification; solution integmatiand product implementation, enhancements, pgohdes of
our database, middleware and applications softwdre.amount of consulting revenues recognized temtsy
software revenue recognition by several quartersestonsulting services, if purchased, are typiqadiformed afte
the purchase of new software licenses. Our congut8venues are dependent upon general econondiioos anc
the level of new software license sales, partitylaur application product sales. To the extentaneable to grow
our new software license revenues, in particularapplication product revenues, we would also gaheexpect to
be able to grow our consulting revenues.

On Demand: On Demand includes Oracle On Demand and our Achdi@ustomer Services offerings. We believe
that our On Demand offerings provide our custonflessbility in how they manage their IT environmerdnd an
additional opportunity to lower their total costamfinership and can therefore provide us with a ctitipe
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advantage. Recently, we have grown the base abrmess that have purchased our On Demand service®dhe
extent we are able to continue this trend, we weuigect our On Demand revenues and margins todseraVe
have made and plan to continue to make investnireioisr On Demand business to support current anuoeu
revenue growth, which historically has negativehpacted On Demand margins and may do so in thesfutu

Education: The purpose of our education services is to &rrthe adoption and usage of our software products
our customers and to create opportunities to gromsoftware revenues. Education revenues are iragédost
general economic conditions, personnel reductinmir customers’ information technology departmetigéter
controls over discretionary spending and greaterafi®utsourcing solutions. We believe the recéotha economic
environment has unfavorably affected customer deifianour education services in comparison to pyears,
which has negatively impacted our revenues and im&rg

Acquisitions

An active acquisition program is another importaliement of our corporate strategy. In recent yemagshave
invested billions of dollars to acquire a numbecamplementary companies, products, services athddogies.

On April 19, 2009, we entered into an Agreement Rlach of Merger (Merger Agreement) with Sun Micretgyns,
Inc. (Sun), a provider of enterprise computing eys, software and services. Pursuant to the Méngerement,
our wholly owned subsidiary will merge with andarBun and Sun will become a wholly owned subsididiry
Oracle. Upon the consummation of the merger, ehahesof Sun common stock will be converted intortghkt to
receive $9.50 in cash. In addition, options to @&g8un common stock, Sun restricted stock unitrdsvand other
equity-based awards denominated in shares of Sumon stock outstanding immediately prior to the
consummation of the merger will generally be cotecinto options, restricted stock unit awardstheo equity-
based awards, as the case may be, denominatedrasf Oracle common stock based on formulas teatan the
Merger Agreement. The estimated total purchase mfiSun is approximately $7.4 billion. This tractsan is
subject to Sun stockholder approval, regulatorpralece under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Imgments Act
of 1976 and the applicable merger control lawshefEEuropean Commission and other jurisdictions,chdr
customary closing conditions.

We believe our acquisition program supports ougerm strategic direction, strengthens our contigetposition,
expands our customer base, provides greater scatélerate innovation, grows our revenues andregs, and
increases stockholder value. We expect to contion@equire companies, products, services and téoties. See
Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statesértadditional information related to our recanguisitions

We believe we can fund our pending and future aifijoins with our internally available cash, cashieglents and
marketable securities, cash generated from opastéamounts available under our existing debt dapaaditional
borrowings or from the issuance of additional siies. We estimate the financial impact of any ptitd
acquisition with regard to earnings, operating rmargash flow and return on invested capital tasdptfore decidir
to move forward with an acquisition.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with U.S. generally accepted accogmrinciples
(GAAP). These accounting principles require us tikencertain estimates, judgments and assumptioasalieve
that the estimates, judgments and assumptionswhpim we rely are reasonable based upon informati@ilable
to us at the time that these estimates, judgment@asumptions are made. These estimates, judgarghts
assumptions can affect the reported amounts ofsaged liabilities as of the date of the finansi@itements as well
as the reported amounts of revenues and expensag the periods presented. To the extent therenaterial
differences between these estimates, judgmentssongtions and actual results, our financial statgswill be
affected. The accounting policies that reflect mare significant estimates, judgments and assumpand which
we believe are the most critical to aid in fullydemstanding and evaluating our reported finanesalits include the
following:

« Revenue Recognitic
* Business Combinatior
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Goodwill and Intangible Asse—Impairment Assessmer
« Accounting for Income Taxe

Legal and Other Contingenci
» Stock-Based Compensatic

* Allowances for Doubtful Account

In many cases, the accounting treatment of a jpatitransaction is specifically dictated by GAARJadoes not
require management’s judgment in its applicatidmer€ are also areas in which managensgntigment in selectir
among available alternatives would not produce teriadly different result. Our senior managemenrt reviewed
the below critical accounting policies and relatiéstlosures with the Finance and Audit CommittethefBoard of
Directors.

Revenue Recognitio

We derive revenues from the following sources:s@jware, which includes new software license afthare
license updates and product support revenues 2rseivices, which include consulting, On Demandl @sucation
revenues.

New software license revenues represent fees efnoradyranting customers licenses to use our datg
middleware and applications software, and excledemues derived from software license updates,hndrie
included in software license updates and prodympbed. While the basis for software license reverao@gnition is
substantially governed by the provisions of Stateneé Position (SOP) No. 97-3oftware Revenue Recognition
issued by the American Institute of Certified Palfliccountants, we exercise judgment and use esamnat
connection with the determination of the amoundaffware and services revenues to be recognizeddh
accounting period.

For software license arrangements that do not regignificant modification or customization of thederlying
software, we recognize new software license revevhen: (1) we enter into a legally binding arrangatwith a
customer for the license of software; (2) we delie products; (3) customer payment is deemedi fote
determinable and free of contingencies or signifiamcertainties; and (4) collection is probablgb&antially all of
our new software license revenues are recognizédsmanner.

The vast majority of our software license arrangaiménclude software license updates and prodygiat, which
are recognized ratably over the term of the arrameg, typically one year. Software license updateside
customers with rights to unspecified software patdiypgrades, maintenance releases and patcheseeldaring
the term of the support period. Product suppottiges internet access to technical content, asagahternet and
telephone access to technical support personneidddn our global support centers. Software lieanzdates and
product support are generally priced as a percergéithe net new software license fees. Substinghlof our
customers purchase both software license updatepraduct support when they acquire new softwaenies. In
addition, substantially all of our customers renbeir software license updates and product summotracts
annually.

Many of our software arrangements include consyitimplementation services sold separately undesutng
engagement contracts. Consulting revenues frone thieangements are generally accounted for sepafisten new
software license revenues because the arrangemeadif/ as service transactions as defined in SOR.The more
significant factors considered in determining wieetthe revenue should be accounted for separatelyde the
nature of services (i.e., consideration of whetherservices are essential to the functionalittheflicensed
product), degree of risk, availability of servidesm other vendors, timing of payments and impdchibestones or
acceptance criteria on the realizability of thewafe license fee. Revenues for consulting senacegenerally
recognized as the services are performed. If tisegiesignificant uncertainty about the project ctatipn or receipt
of payment for the consulting services, revenuedeferred until the uncertainty is sufficientlgotved. We
estimate the proportional performance on contraits fixed or “not to exceed” fees on a monthly isagtilizing
hours incurred to date as a percentage of totahattd hours to complete the project. If we dohete a sufficient
basis to measure progress towards completion, vevisrrecognized when we receive final acceptarwa the
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customer. When total cost estimates exceed reveweesccrue for the estimated losses immediatehgu=ost
estimates that are based upon an average fullyebatidaily rate applicable to the consulting orztion
delivering the services. The complexity of therastion process and factors relating to the assomptrisks and
uncertainties inherent with the application of pneportional performance method of accounting afféfte amount
of revenues and related expenses reported in msotidated financial statements. A number of irdeemd extern:
factors can affect our estimates, including lalades, utilization and efficiency variances and #jpation and
testing requirement changes.

If an arrangement does not qualify for separatewaating of the software license and consultinggeations, then
new software license revenues are generally rezedribgether with the consulting services basecbatract
accounting using either the percentage-of-compiatiocompleted-contract method. Contract accounsirapplied
to any arrangements: (1) that include milestonesustomer specific acceptance criteria that magcaffollection o
the software license fees; (2) where services dehignificant modification or customization of theftware;

(3) where significant consulting services are puedi for in the software license contract withouliidnal charge
or are substantially discounted; or (4) where tifensare license payment is tied to the performasfamonsulting
services.

On Demand is comprised of Oracle On Demand and Aacke Customer Services. Oracle On Demand provides
multi-featured software and hardware managementraidtenance services for our database, middlearadte
applications software delivered at our data cefatglities, select partner data centers or custdamilities.
Advanced Customer Services provide customers witltion lifecycle management services, database and
application management services, industry-spesdiation support centers and remote and on-siterésgrvices.
Revenues from On Demand services are recognizedioeéerm of the service period, which is gengraiie year.

Education revenues include instructor-led, medisetaand internet-based training in the use of oodlyxts.
Education revenues are recognized as the classgesreducation offerings are delivered.

For arrangements with multiple elements, we al®catvenue to each element of a transaction baseditgpfair
value as determined by “vendor specific objectivielence.” Vendor specific objective evidence of falue for all
elements of an arrangement is based upon the n@noalg and discounting practices for those prasland
services when sold separately, and for softwaem$ie updates and product support services is aasured by the
renewal rate offered to the customer. We may maalifiypricing practices in the future, which coudgult in
changes in our vendor specific objective eviderfdaiovalue for these undelivered elements. Assult, our future
revenue recognition for multiple element arrangetmenuld differ significantly from our historicatsults.

For software license arrangements that includevars, software and services, and the software e than
incidental to the multiple element arrangement,fmitessential to the functionality of the hardwave apply the
guidance of Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) I$med3-5,Applicability of AICPA Statement of Position
97-2 to Non-Software Deliverables in an Arrangem@amtaining More-Than-Incidental Softwarevhich allows
the non-software elements and related services twbounted for pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting

Bulletin No. 104 Revenue Recognitigitopic 13), and EITF 00-2Revenue Arrangements with Multiple
Deliverables, and the software license and related services tmccounted for pursuant to SOP 97-2.

We defer revenues for any undelivered elementsregmhnize revenues when the product is deliverewer the
period in which the service is performed, in acemicke with our revenue recognition policy for eagbhselement. |
we cannot objectively determine the fair value mf andelivered element included in bundled softwaré service
arrangements, we defer revenues until all elenemetsielivered and services have been performadtdifair value
can objectively be determined for any remainingalinv@éred elements. When the fair value of a deidezlement
has not been established, we use the residual chaitrecord revenue if the fair value of all undetied elements is
determinable. Under the residual method, the falmer of the undelivered elements is deferred aaddmaining
portion of the arrangement fee is allocated todiblevered elements and is recognized as revenue.

Substantially all of our software license arrangetsaelo not include acceptance provisions. Howefacceptance
provisions exist as part of public policy, for exalmin agreements with government entities wherptaace
periods are required by law, or within previouskgeuted terms and conditions that are referencéueicurrent
agreement and are short-term in nature, we gepeembgnize revenues upon delivery provided theptance
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terms are perfunctory and all other revenue redimgnériteria have been met. If acceptance prowisare not
perfunctory (for example, acceptance provisions dina long-term in nature or are not included aadard terms of
an arrangement), revenues are recognized uporatheref receipt of written customer acceptancexgpiration of
the acceptance period.

We also evaluate arrangements with governmentaiesntontaining “fiscal funding” or “terminatiorof
convenience” provisions, when such provisions ageired by law, to determine the probability of gibke
cancellation. We consider multiple factors, inchglthe history with the customer in similar trartgats, the
“essential use” of the software licenses and thamhg, budgeting and approval processes undertakére
governmental entity. If we determine upon executibthese arrangements that the likelihood of clatien is
remote, we then recognize revenues once all ofriteria described above have been met. If suakterchination
cannot be made, revenues are recognized upontiier ehcash receipt or approval of the applicdbieding
provision by the governmental entity.

We assess whether fees are fixed or determinathe ditme of sale and recognize revenues if akkothvenue
recognition requirements are met. Our standard payterms are net 30 days. However, payment teraysvary
based on the country in which the agreement isuggdc Payments that are due within six months aneiglly
deemed to be fixed or determinable based on owesstul collection history on such arrangements,taareby
satisfy the required criteria for revenue recogniti

While most of our arrangements include short-teaynpent terms, we have a standard practice of prayidng-
term financing to credit worthy customers througin financing division. Since fiscal 1989, when @inancing
division was formed, we have established a histégollection, without concessions, on these reatdi®s with
payment terms that generally extend up to five yéam the contract date. Provided all other reeemecognition
criteria have been met, we recognize new softweease revenues for these arrangements upon delivetrof any
payment discounts from financing transactions. \Aletgenerally sold receivables financed througtfioancing
division on a non-recourse basis to third partgficing institutions. We account for the sale obtheeceivables as
“true sales” as defined in FASB Statement No. Jt,ounting for Transfers and Servicing of Finandakets and
Extinguishments of Liabilitie.

Our customers include several of our suppliers@ntare occasion, we have purchased goods or esrfgc our
operations from these vendors at or about the smnmecthat we have licensed our software to theseesaompanies
(Concurrent Transaction). Software license agreésrtéat occur within a three-month time period frihra date we
have purchased goods or services from that santencesare reviewed for appropriate accounting neat and
disclosure. When we acquire goods or services rammstomer, we negotiate the purchase separatelydny
software license transaction, at terms we condalbe at arns length, and settle the purchase in cash. We nize
new software license revenues from Concurrent Betiens if all of our revenue recognition critegsige met and tr
goods and services acquired are necessary fouowent operations.

Business Combination
Fiscal 2009 and Prior Period

In accordance with FASB Statement No. 1Baisiness Combinationsve allocate the purchase price of acquired
companies to the tangible and intangible assetsigzhand liabilities assumed as well as to in-psscresearch and
development based upon their estimated fair vedtiise acquisition date. The purchase price aliocatrocess
requires our management to make significant estisnand assumptions, especially at the acquisiab® with
respect to intangible assets, support obligatisssmed, estimated restructuring liabilities andguoguisition
contingencies.

Although we believe the assumptions and estimag=bave made in the past have been reasonable prapepte,
they are based in part on historical experiencei@iodmation obtained from the management of thguaed
companies and are inherently uncertain. Examplesitidal estimates in valuing certain of the irgdsle assets we
have acquired or may acquire in the future incliodeare not limited to:

« future expected cash flows from software licendessaupport agreements, consulting contractsy othe
customer contracts and acquired developed techieslegd patent:
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« expected costs to develop the in-process reseacttevelopment into commercially viable productd an
estimated cash flows from the projects when coragl

« the acquired company’s brand and competitive pmsiths well as assumptions about the period of tivee
acquired brand will continue to be used in the cioietb compan’s product portfolio; an

» discount rates

Unanticipated events and circumstances may ocetiniay affect the accuracy or validity of such agstions,
estimates or actual results.

In connection with the purchase price allocatiarsour acquisitions, we estimate the fair valuéhef support
obligations assumed. The estimated fair value @ftipport obligations is determined utilizing atcos

build-up approach. The cost build-up approach datess fair value by estimating the costs relatefilifiling the
obligations plus a normal profit margin. The estiatbcosts to fulfill the support obligations areéd on the
historical direct costs related to providing theort services and to correct any errors in thensok products
acquired. The sum of these costs and operatingt ppgfroximates, in theory, the amount that we \adaé required
to pay a third party to assume the support obligatiwe do not include any costs associated wilmgegfforts or
research and development or the related fulfillnmatgins on these costs. Profit associated withsailing efforts
is excluded because the acquired entities woulé baucluded those selling efforts on the suppartrects prior to
the acquisition date. We also do not include theneded research and development costs in ouvéire
determinations, as these costs are not deemegresent a legal obligation at the time of acquiniti

As a result, we did not recognize software licamzgates and product support revenues related fmsugontracts
in the amounts of $243 million, $179 million andi®2million that would have been otherwise recorbdedhe
acquired businesses as independent entities &l 2809, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Historicallyhstantially all
of our customers, including customers from acqua@ahpanies, renew their support contracts whedhéracts ar
eligible for renewal. To the extent these undedysupport contracts are renewed, we will recogttieeevenues fc
the full value of the support contracts over thppsrt periods, the substantial majority of whick ane year. Had
we included costs for our estimated selling andassh and development activities and the associagedin for
unspecified product upgrades and enhancementspmbiEled under our assumed support arrangeméetair
values of the support obligations would have beégnificantly higher than what we had recorded ardwould
have recorded a higher amount of software licepsiates and product support revenues both histlyriaatl in
future periods related to these assumed supparrgements.

Other significant estimates associated with th@aeting for business combinations include restnietucosts.
Restructuring costs are typically comprised of sgwee costs, costs of consolidating duplicateifesiand contract
termination costs. Restructuring expenses are hgsenl plans that have been committed to by manageimet are
generally subject to refinement during the purchasm allocation period (generally within one yeéthe
acquisition date). To estimate restructuring expensianagement utilizes assumptions of the nunftemployees
that would be involuntarily terminated and of figuwosts to operate and eventually vacate duplieatkties.
Estimated restructuring expenses may change asg®ieat executes the approved plan. Decreases toshe
estimates of executing the currently approved pisseciated with pre-merger activities of the comgmwe
acquire are recorded as an adjustment to goodwdififinitely, whereas increases to the estimatesea@ded as an
adjustment to goodwill during the purchase pridecaltion period and as operating expenses thereafte

For a given acquisition, we may identify certaie4aicquisition contingencies. If, during the pureéhpsce
allocation period, we are able to determine thevaiue of a pre-acquisition contingency, we wiltlude that
amount in the purchase price allocation. If, athefend of the purchase price allocation periodareeunable to
determine the fair value of a pre-acquisition coggincy, we will evaluate whether to include an anid@o the
purchase price allocation based on whether itabgile a liability had been incurred and whetheamount can be
reasonably estimated. Through fiscal 2009, afteretind of the purchase price allocation period,adjystment to
amounts recorded for a pre-acquisition contingendth the exception of unresolved income tax mattemrere
included in our operating results in the periodvirich the adjustment was determined.
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Fiscal 2010

In fiscal 2010, we will adopt FASB Statement NolX#evised 2007)Business Combinationd-or any business
combination that is consummated pursuant to StateEl(R), including our proposed acquisition oh®iescribet
above, we will recognize separately from goodwtig identifiable assets acquired, the liabilitiesstaned, and any
noncontrolling interests in the acquiree generalltheir acquisition date fair values as definedByB Statement
No. 157,Fair Value MeasurementsGoodwill as of the acquisition date is measurgtha excess of consideration
transferred, which is also generally measurediatéue, and the net of the acquisition date an®ohthe
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilitiesuased.

The determination of fair value will require our ma@ement to make significant estimates and assangptivith
respect to intangible assets acquired, supporgatidins assumed, and pre-acquisition contingenthess.
assumptions and estimates used in determiningathedlues of these items will be substantiallyiEmupon our
adoption of Statement 141(R) as they were unddéei®ent 141 (see above).

The below discussion lists those areas of State®I(R) that we believe, upon our adoption, reque¢o apply
additional, significant estimates and assumptions.

Upon our adoption of Statement 141(R), any chatgegferred tax asset valuation allowances andlitiab relatec
to uncertain tax positions will be recorded in eatrperiod income tax expense, unless any suclyekare
identified during the measurement period (definetha period, not to exceed one year, in which &g adjust the
provisional amounts recognized for a business coatigin) and relate to new information obtained alfacts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisitide. dur estimates for the ultimate outcome of inedax matters
are based on the best information available tesusf $he acquisition date and corresponding measemeperiod.
Additional information may become available subssquo the acquisition date and corresponding nreasent
period, which may require us to revise our estimébe these income tax matters. Such estimateioggghat do nc
qualify as measurement period adjustments willdoerded to our provision for income taxes in oursmidated
statement of operations in the period the revisanade and could have a material impact on owltsesf
operations and financial position.

Upon our adoption of Statement 141(R), we will agttdfor one-time termination and exit costs asdediavith
prospective acquisitions pursuant to FASB StaterNentl 46 ,Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities. Statement 146 requires that a liability for at@ssociated with an exit or disposal activity be
recognized and measured initially at its fair valuéhe period in which the liability is incurrebh order to incur a
liability pursuant to Statement 146, our managemamt have established and approved a plan ofioégting in
sufficient detail. A liability for a cost associdteith involuntary termination benefits is recordelden benefits hay
been communicated and a liability for a cost tonfaate an operating lease or other contract atgiied when the
contract has been terminated in accordance withdh&act terms or we have ceased using the riyhteyed by th
contract, such as vacating a leased facility. Btate 146 requires the use of assumptions and ds#iriacluding
estimated sub-lease payments to be received, whiclliffer materially from actual results. This nraguire us to
revise our estimated liabilities and may materiaffigct our results of operations and financialifpms in the period
the revision is made. In addition, the recognitidtiabilities pursuant to Statement 146 are sutiiecertain criteria
being met, such as the communication of benefibetpaid to employees and the cessation of bemeéitved
under existing contracts, amongst others. Theserierican cause variability in the timing of recitigm of
restructuring liabilities, which could cause usrtour expenses in periods we had not expected aund enaterially
affect our results of operations and financial posi

If the initial accounting for a business combinatthat is accounted for pursuant to Statement 1dis(Rcomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which theibess combination occurs, we will report the primnal amounts
for such items in our consolidated financial stagata. During the measurement period, we will adjust
provisional amounts recognized at the acquisitiaie do reflect new information obtained about factd
circumstances that existed as of the acquisitide tfet, if known, would have affected the measemnof the
amounts recognized as of that date and record Hdjestments to our consolidated financial stateamdrhose
measurement period adjustments that we determibe significant will be applied retrospectivelydomparative
information in our consolidated financial statensgimicluding adjustments to depreciation, amoritrator other
income effects recognized in the initial accountilgntifying changes to the initial accountinguiggs our
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management to apply judgment in determining whettheisubsequent information received relates tts f@ed
circumstances that existed for the provisional #&rs of the acquisition date, including informatibat affects the
estimated amounts involved. To the extent significaeasurement period adjustments are identified, t
comparative financial information we present faeporting period could be materially revised in pamson to tha
which we had previously presented in our earnietgases and related filings with the U.S. Secugriied Exchange
Commission (SEC).

Our adoption of Statement 141(R) in fiscal 2010 al$o change how we account for certain othersaoédusiness
combinations in comparison to how these areasiarertly accounted for pursuant to Statement 14ilratated
accounting guidance, including the expensing @ditransaction costs.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets—Impairment Assessrtgen

We review goodwill for impairment annually and wieger events or changes in circumstances indicataitying
value may not be recoverable in accordance withB-8&tement No. 14Z0o0dwill and Other Intangible Assets
The provisions of Statement 142 require that a step-impairment test be performed on goodwillhia first step,
we compare the fair value of each reporting unitd@arrying value. Our reporting units are cotsiswith the
reportable segments identified in Note 15 of Na¢te€onsolidated Financial Statements. If the faiue of the
reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of thieassets assigned to that unit, goodwill is nosatered impaired
and we are not required to perform further testihthe carrying value of the net assets assigondbe reporting un
exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, thenmust perform the second step of the impairnesitih order to
determine the implied fair value of the reportingtis goodwill. If the carrying value of a reporgjrunit’s goodwiill
exceeds its implied fair value, then we would relcan impairment loss equal to the difference.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unit imves the use of significant estimates and assumgptibhese
estimates and assumptions include revenue growdh aad operating margins used to calculate pegjefcture
cash flows, risk-adjusted discount rates, futumemic and market conditions and determinationppirapriate
market comparables. We base our fair value esteraieassumptions we believe to be reasonable auath
unpredictable and inherently uncertain. Actual fettesults may differ from those estimates. In @oidj we make
certain judgments and assumptions in allocatingeshassets and liabilities to determine the cagry@mues for eac
of our reporting units. Our most recent annual gatdmpairment analysis, which was performed dgrthe fourth
quarter of fiscal 2009, did not result in an impaént charge, nor did we record any goodwill impa&intnin fiscal
2008 or 2007.

We make judgments about the recoverability of paseld intangible assets whenever events or chamges i
circumstances indicate that an other than tempangpairment may exist. Each period we evaluatestanated
remaining useful lives of purchased intangible tssard whether events or changes in circumstanagsm a
revision to the remaining periods of amortizatibmaccordance with FASB Statement No. 14d¢ounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Lol-Lived Assetsrecoverability of these assets is measured bypaoison of the
carrying amount of the asset to the future undistemicash flows the asset is expected to gendf#te. asset is
considered to be impaired, the amount of any innpaiit is measured as the difference between thgimgwalue
and the fair value of the impaired asset.

Assumptions and estimates about future valuese@mdining useful lives of our intangible and ottwrd-lived
assets are complex and subjective. They can betedféy a variety of factors, including externaltéas such as
industry and economic trends, and internal factach as changes in our business strategy andteanahforecast:
Although we believe the historical assumptions estimates we have made are reasonable and appeogiféeren
assumptions and estimates could materially impaicteported financial results. We did not recogring
intangible asset impairment charges in fiscal 2Q0®8 or 2007.

Accounting for Income Taxe:

Significant judgment is required in determining eorldwide income tax provision. In the ordinaryucse of a
global business, there are many transactions dodlagons where the ultimate tax outcome is uraertSome of
these uncertainties arise as a consequence ofuewhiaring and cost reimbursement arrangementsgaratated
entities, the process of identifying items of reves and expenses that qualify for preferentiatreatment, and
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segregation of foreign and domestic earnings aperses to avoid double taxation. Although we belidgnat our
estimates are reasonable, the final tax outcontieese matters could be different from that whicreffected in our
historical income tax provisions and accruals. Sdiffierences could have a material effect on oaoime tax
provision and net income in the period in whichhsdetermination is made.

Our effective tax rate includes the impact of dartandistributed foreign earnings for which no Ut&kes have bee
provided because such earnings are planned tadeériitely reinvested outside the United StatesnRances of
foreign earnings to the U.S. are planned basedajrgied cash flow, working capital and investmesgds of our
foreign and domestic operations. Based on thesemgg®ns, we estimate the amount that will be itisted to the
U.S. and provide U.S. federal taxes on these amsoldterial changes in our estimates or tax letiigiadhat limits
or restricts the amount of undistributed foreigmaays that we consider indefinitely reinvestedsale the United
States could impact our effective tax rate.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our defetax assets to the amount that is more likedy thot to be
realized. In order for us to realize our deferi@ddssets, we must be able to generate suffi@gabte income in
those jurisdictions where the deferred tax assettoaated. We consider future growth, forecastediags, future
taxable income, the mix of earnings in the jurifidits in which we operate and prudent and feasiédelanning
strategies in determining the need for a valuagitowance. In the event we were to determine treatvould not be
able to realize all or part of our net deferreddasets in the future, an adjustment to the deféareassets valuation
allowance would be charged to earnings in the pgariavhich we make such a determination. Likewikeie later
determine that it is more likely than not that tteg deferred tax assets would be realized, we waverse the
applicable portion of the previously provided vaioa allowance.

We calculate our current and deferred tax provisiased on estimates and assumptions that couét #iéim the
actual results reflected in income tax returngfiieiring the subsequent year. Adjustments basddedreturns are
generally recorded in the period when the tax nstare filed and the global tax implications arewn, which can
materially impact our effective tax rate.

The amount of income tax we pay is subject to amgaiudits by federal, state and foreign tax autiestiwhich
often result in proposed assessments. Our estiofiite potential outcome for any uncertain tax ésisuhighly
judgmental. We account for our uncertain tax isqugsuant to FASB Interpretation No. ‘Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Tax€EIN 48), which contains a two-step approach t@geizing and measuring uncertain
tax positions taken or expected to be taken ixaetrn. The first step is to determine if the gigiof available
evidence indicates that it is more likely than thatt the tax position will be sustained on auditjuding resolution
of any related appeals or litigation processes.Sdwnd step is to measure the tax benefit asthedt amount that
is more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultiensgttiement. Although we believe we have adeqguatskerved
for our uncertain tax positions, no assurance eagiven with respect to the final outcome of thesdters. We
adjust reserves for our uncertain tax positionstdushanging facts and circumstances, such addabkig of a tax
audit, refinement of estimates or realization ah@®ys or deductions that differ from our estimafes the extent
that the final outcome of these matters is diffethan the amounts recorded, such differencesimghct our
provision for income taxes in the period in whicltls a determination is made. Our provisions fooine taxes
include the impact of reserve provisions and chag&eserves that are considered appropriatelaadrelude the
related interest and penalties.

As a part of our accounting for business combimatisome of the purchase price is allocated towibloahd
intangible assets. Impairment charges associatitdgobdwill are generally not tax deductible andl wsult in an
increased effective income tax rate in the perad &any impairment is recorded. Amortization exgsrsssociated
with acquired intangible assets are generally aoteductible pursuant to our existing tax strugthowever,
deferred taxes have been recorded for deductible amortization expenses as a part of tinehpse price allocatic
process. We have taken into account the allocatidhese identified intangibles among differentigx
jurisdictions, including those with nominal or zgrercent tax rates, in establishing the relatedrded tax liabilities

As described in the “Business Combinations” sectibave, through fiscal 2009, income tax contingestiat exist
as of the acquisition date for an acquired comparyevaluated quarterly and any changes are retasle
adjustments to goodwill. For fiscal 2010, we wilhke our best estimate of income tax contingenbiaswe
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assumed from our legacy acquisitions, and that eassume from any future acquisitions, as ofdhkquisition
date and during the related measurement periodvandlill reassess our estimates quarterly. Subsedqoéhe
measurement period, adjustments to these incomeptaingencies will affect our provision for incortaxes in our
consolidated statement of operations and could hawaterial impact on our results of operationsfarahcial
position.

Legal and Other Contingencie

We are currently involved in various claims andalggroceedings. Quarterly, we review the statusach
significant matter and assess our potential firereiposure. If the potential loss from any clainegal proceedin
is considered probable and the amount can be rablyoastimated, we accrue a liability for the estied loss.
Significant judgment is required in both the detieration of probability and the determination asvteether the
amount of an exposure is reasonably estimable.uBecaf uncertainties related to these mattersuatcare based
only on the best information available at the tiths.additional information becomes available, wassess the
potential liability related to our pending claimsdditigation and may revise our estimates. Suefsiens in the
estimates of the potential liabilities could havaaterial impact on our results of operations andricial position.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for share-based payments to employeaading grants of employee stock awards and pseshander
employee stock purchase plans in accordance withB-8tatement No. 123 (revised 2008hare-Based Payment,
which requires that share-based payments (to ttemethey are compensatory) be recognized in onsaalated
statements of operations based on their fair valnesddition, we have applied certain of the psas of the
SEC'’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 (Topic 14 amended, in our accounting for Statement 123(R)

We are required to estimate the stock awards tkeatltimately expect to vest and to reduce stoclethas
compensation expense for the effects of estimaiddifures of awards over the expense recogniteno.
Although we estimate the rate of future forfeituog®n historical experience, actual forfeitureshia future may
differ. In addition, to the extent our actual fotfiees are different than our estimates, we reedtidie-up for the
difference in the period that the awards vest,armah true-ups could materially affect our operatiegplts.

As required by Statement 123(R), we recognize shaed compensation expense for share-based payissundd
or assumed after June 1, 2006 that are expectezbtoFor all share-based payments granted or &skbeginning
June 1, 2006, we recognize stock-based compensatmnse on a straight-line basis over the sepaced of the
award, which is generally four years. The fair eatii the unvested portion of share-based paymeatgey prior to
June 1, 2006 is recognized over the remaining cemériod using the accelerated expense attribuatithod, net c
estimated forfeitures. In determining whether amm@ns expected to vest, we use an estimated, fdrieaking
forfeiture rate based upon our historical forfedtuates. Stock-based compensation expense reassdegan
estimated forfeiture rate is updated for actudikitures quarterly. We also consider, each quantbether there
have been any significant changes in facts andistances that would affect our expected forfeitate.

We estimate the fair value of employee stock opstiasing a Black-Scholes valuation model. The falug of an
award is affected by our stock price on the datgrant as well as other assumptions including ttienated
volatility of our stock price over the term of thevards and the estimated period of time that weeb@mployees to
hold their stock options. The risk-free intereserassumption we use is based upon United Stai@suiry interest
rates appropriate for the expected life of the @waWe use the implied volatility of our publichatled, longest-
term options in order to estimate future stocketiends as we believe that implied volatility ismarepresentative
of future stock price trends than historical vaigti In order to determine the estimated periodimfe that we expe
employees to hold their stock options, we have ts&tdrical rates of employee groups by seniorftjob
classification. Our expected dividend rate was peiar to our first dividend declaration in the ftuquarter of
fiscal 2009 as we did not historically pay cashdbnds on our common stock and did not anticipategiso for th
foreseeable future for grants issued prior to deislaration date. For grants issued subsequehistdividend
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declaration date, we used an annualized divideeld yiased on the per share dividend declared bi3oard of
Directors. The aforementioned inputs entered ingodption valuation model we use to fair value stock awards
are subjective estimates and changes to thesea¢stiwill cause the fair value of our stock awandd related
stock-based compensation expense we record to vary.

We record deferred tax assets for stock-based avilaad result in deductions on our income tax retubased on
the amount of stock-based compensation recognizeédhe statutory tax rate in the jurisdiction inigthwe will
receive a tax deduction. Because the deferredssetsiwe record are based upon the stock-basednsatjon
expenses in a particular jurisdiction, the aforetiomied inputs that affect the fair value of ourcét@awards may als
indirectly affect our income tax expense. In additidifferences between the deferred tax assetgnézed for
financial reporting purposes and the actual taxudgdn reported on our income tax returns are abin
additional paid-in capital. If the tax deductiori@ss than the deferred tax asset, such shontéallsce our pool of
excess tax benefits. If the pool of excess tax titsrie reduced to zero, then subsequent shortfailsld increase ol
income tax expense. Our pool of excess tax berisfiismputed in accordance with the alternativeditaon methot
as prescribed under FASB Staff Position FAS 123Rr8nsition Election to Accounting for the Tax Effecf
Share-Based Payment Awards

To the extent we change the terms of our emplotek$ased compensation programs, experience marketliop
in the pricing of our common stock that increasesimplied volatility calculation of our publiclyaded, longest-
term options or refine different assumptions inufatperiods such as forfeiture rates that diffenfrour current
estimates, amongst other potential impacts, thekdtased compensation expense that we recordurefperiods
and the tax benefits that we realize may diffenidigantly from what we have recorded in previoaparting
periods.

Allowances for Doubtful Account:

We make judgments as to our ability to collect tartding receivables and provide allowances foptir¢ion of
receivables when collection becomes doubtful. Riows are made based upon a specific review sfglificant
outstanding invoices. For those invoices not speEdif reviewed, provisions are provided at diffeirates, based
upon the age of the receivable, the collectioronysassociated with the geographic region thatélseivable was
recorded and current economic trends. If the Histbdata we use to calculate the allowances fabtfal accounts
does not reflect the future ability to collect dataling receivables, additional provisions for difwitaccounts may
be needed and our future results of operationgddmeiimaterially affected.

Results of Operations
Impact of Acquisitions

The comparability of our operating results in fis2809 compared to fiscal 2008 is impacted by agussitions,
primarily the acquisition of BEA Systems, Inc. iardourth quarter of fiscal 2008.

The comparability of our operating results in fis2808 compared to fiscal 2007 is primarily impaichs our
acquisition of Hyperion Solutions Corporation irr dourth quarter of fiscal 2007 and our acquisit@BEA in our
fourth quarter of fiscal 2008.

In our discussion of changes in our results of apens from fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008 scal 2008
compared to fiscal 2007, we quantify the contribuitdf our acquired products to the growth in nefivgare license
revenues and to the growth in software license tgsdand product support revenues for the one yaaydg
subsequent to the acquisition date. We also presgmiemental disclosure related to certain chaagdsgjains.
Although certain revenue and expense contributimra our acquisitions are quantifiable, we are U@ab identify
the following:

« the contribution of the significant majority of oservices revenues from acquired companies inl fxu20,
2008 and 2007 as the significant majority of themerices had been fully integrated into our exgstin
operations; an
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« the contribution of the significant majority of te&penses associated with acquired products anitegin
fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007 as the significant nitgjof these expenses had been fully integratesl oot
existing operations

We caution readers that the contribution from BEAduicts, which already have been integrated withc@is
Fusion Middleware and are sold together, to ol htabase and middleware revenues during fi€X@9 are base
on our internal allocations that have been applmusistently.

We further caution readers that, while pre- and-poguisition comparisons as well as the quantifiesbunts
themselves may provide indications of general tsetite information has inherent limitations for fblbowing
reasons:

« the quantifications cannot address the substaffiadts attributable to our sales force integragéforts, in
particular the effect of having a single sales dooéfer similar products. We believe that if oulesaforces
had not been integrated, the relative mix of préslsold would have been differe

 our acquisitions in the periods presented did estit in our entry into a new line of business mdoict
categor—therefore, we provided multiple products with sabsally similar features and functionality; a

« although substantially all of our customers, inahgdcustomers from acquired companies, renew their
software license updates and product support astrehen the contracts are eligible for renewakamhs
shown as support deferred revenues in our suppkahdiaclosure related to certain charges and daens
below) are not necessarily indicative of revenupromements we will achieve upon contract renewaho
extent customers do not rene

Constant Currency Presentation

Our international operations have provided and edghtinue to provide a significant portion of oatal revenues
and expenses. As a result, total revenues and sepevill continue to be affected by changes indt# Dollar
against major international currencies. In ordgurimvide a framework for assessing how our undegljiusinesses
performed excluding the effect of foreign curreflagtuations, we compare the percent change imekelts from
one period to another period in this Annual Repsihg constant currency disclosure. To presentitifdsmation,
current and comparative prior period results fdities reporting in currencies other than U.S. Bidlare converted
into U.S. Dollars at constant exchange ratestfierates in effect on May 31, 2008, which wasléseday of our
prior fiscal year) rather than the actual exchamages in effect during the respective periods.&@mple, if an
entity reporting in Euros had revenues of 1.0 wnillEuros from products sold on May 31, 2009 and Bthy2008,
our financial statements would reflect reporteceraies of $1.39 million in fiscal 2009 (using 1.3%lae month-end
average exchange rate for the period) and $1.3ibmih fiscal 2008 (using 1.57 as the month-endrage
exchange rate for the period). The constant cuyrenesentation would translate the fiscal 2009 Itesising the
fiscal 2008 exchange rate and indicate, in thigrgota, no change in revenues during the periodati ®f the table
below, we present the percent change based on anwaunded results in reported currency and imstant
currency.

40




Table of Contents

Total Revenues and Operating Expens

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2009 Actual  Constant 2008 Actual  Constant 2007
Total Revenues by Geography:
Americas $ 11,90( 5% 8% $11,33( 20% 18% $ 9,46(
EMEA @) 7,94¢ 0% 11% 7,948 32% 20% 6,037
Asia Pacific( 3,40¢ 8% 13% 3,158  26% 18% 2,49¢
Total revenue 23,25 4% 10% 22,430  25% 19% 17,99¢
Total Operating Expenses 14,93 2% 7% 14,58¢  21% 17% 12,02:
Total Operating Margin $ 8,321 6% 15% $ 7,844 31% 22% $ 5,97«
Total Operating Margin % 36% 35% 33%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 51% 51% 53%
EMEA @) 34% 35% 34%
Asia Pacific 15% 14% 13%
Total Revenues by Busines
Software $ 18,871 6% 12% $17,847 26% 19% $ 14,211
Services 4,37¢ -5% 1% 4,587 21% 15% 3,78¢
Total revenue $ 23,25: 4% 10% $22,43( 25% 19% $ 17,99¢
% Revenues by Busines
Software 81% 80% 79%
Services 19% 20% 21%

@ Comprised of Europe, the Middle East and Afi

@ Asia Pacific includes Jap:

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 20080ur operating results for fiscal 2009 were siigaifitly impacted by the
strengthening of the U.S. Dollar relative to oth&jor international currencies. These currencyavares resulted in
a reduction to our total revenues growth of 6 petage points during fiscal 2009. On a constantenay basis, tot:
revenues increased in fiscal 2009 primarily dukigher software license update and product suppeenues in all
regions due to the high attachment rate of supgmortracts to our new software license sales andeti@wal of
substantially all of our eligible customer suppmhtracts, incremental revenues from our recertiaitipns,
primarily our acquisition of BEA in the fourth quar of fiscal 2008, and increased demand for ouD®mand
service offerings. On a constant currency basis, saftware license revenues contributed 5% to thevth in total
revenues, software license updates and producbsiugyenues contributed 92% and services revermasibuted
3%. Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctoas, the Americas contributed 39% to the increadetal
revenues, EMEA contributed 42% and Asia Pacificbated 19%.

Currency variances resulted in a reduction to otal bperating expense growth of 5 percentage gaiuting fiscal
2009. Excluding the effect of currency rate flutio@s, the increase in operating expenses in fa@a8 is primarily
due to higher salary expenses associated withaeeteheadcount levels from acquisitions (primdBA) and
higher amortization of intangible assets resulfiogn our acquisitions (primarily BEA) that we coratgd since the
beginning of fiscal 2008. In addition, acquisitieated and other expenses increased during 284 due to a
$57 million gain on property sale recognized ircdis2008, which decreased operating expensestipéned.
These increases were partially offset by constameacy decreases in our commissions and bonusisgpe

Currency variances resulted in a reduction of @g@mtage points to our total operating margin grogtting fiscal
2009. On a constant and reported currency basid,dperating margin and total operating margia agrcentage
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of total revenues increased during fiscal 200%hagtowth rate of our total revenues exceededrtetl rate of ou
total operating expenses. The growth rate in dial tiperating expenses was significantly impactethle growth
rate in our intangible asset amortization, whicls\wemarily due to intangible assets acquired pardof the BEA
transaction at the end of fiscal 2008, and to selesxtent, our restructuring expenses growth.

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Total revenues increased in fiscal 2008 duedcemsed demand for our
products and services offerings and incrementamegs from our acquisitions. The growth in ourlte#genues
was positively affected by foreign currency ratecflations of 6 percentage points in fiscal 2008 wuthe
weakening of the U.S. Dollar relative to other majaernational currencies. Excluding the effectofrency rate
fluctuations, new software license revenues couteith 38% to the growth in total revenues, softWiaense update
and product support revenues contributed 45% amites revenues contributed 17%. Excluding thectfté
currency rate fluctuations, the Americas contridli8% to the increase in total revenues, EMEA douted 37%
and Asia Pacific contributed 13%.

Total operating expenses were adversely affectéfdreygn currency rate fluctuations of 4 percentpgmts.
Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotige increase in operating expenses was primaunigytd higher
salary and employee benefits associated with iseheadcount levels (primarily resulting from fiscal 2007
acquisitions, our acquisition of Agile Software @oration in the first quarter of fiscal 2008 armatlesser extent,
our acquisition of BEA in the fourth quarter ofdé 2008), as well as higher commissions and banassociated
with increased revenues, earnings and headcougisldn addition, operating expenses also increasésical 2008
due to higher amortization of intangible assetsaahditional stock-based compensation resulting faonigher fair
value of grants (caused primarily by our highecktprice) issued in fiscal 2008 and the accelenabiovesting of
certain acquired stock awards upon employee tetinimapursuant to the original terms of those awarfatal
operating expenses in fiscal 2007 were also redbged$52 million benefit as a result of a settlatef an acquire
legal contingency from PeopleSoft for less thanahmunt accrued as of the end of the purchase altmeation
period. The increases in operating expenses disogl 2008 were partially offset by a $57 milligain on propert
sale and a $127 million reduction of in-proceseaesh and development.

Total operating margin as a percentage of totamaes increased during fiscal 2008. The growthumoperating
margin in fiscal 2008 was the result of our revegumawth, both organic and from acquisitions, whigmerally
exceeded the growth rate of the majority of ouregrges. In addition, our reported operating marginvth was
favorably affected by foreign currency rate fludtoas of 9 percentage points.

Supplemental Disclosure Related to Certain Chargesnd Gains

To supplement our consolidated financial informatice believe the following information is helpfal &n overall
understanding of our past financial performancemodpects for the future. You should review theoduction
under “Impact of Acquisitions” (above) for a dissign of the inherent limitations in comparing paed post-
acquisition information.

Our operating results include the following bussiesmbination accounting adjustments and experesaed to
acquisitions as well as certain other significaqemse and income items:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2009 2008 2007

Support deferred revenu® $ 243 % 17¢ % 212
Amortization of intangible asse® 1,71 1,212 87¢
Acquisition related and oth(3)®) 117 124 14C
Restructuring® 117 41 19
Stoclk-based compensati(®) 34C 257 19¢
Income tax effec®) (730 (535) (414)

$ 1800 $ 127t $ 1,03

@ In connection with purchase price allocations ealab our acquisitions, we have estimated thevilires of the support
obligations assumed. Due to our application of hess combination accounting rules, we did not reizegsoftware license
updates and product support revenues related mmsugontracts that would have otherwise been dembby the acquire
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businesses as independent entities, in the amoti#!3 million, $179 million and $212 million istal 2009, fiscal 2008
and fiscal 2007, respectively. Approximately $21lion of estimated software license updates andiypcbsupport revenues
related to support contracts assumed will not begeized in fiscal 2010 that would otherwise beogeized by the acquired
businesses as independent entities due to thecapph of these business combination accountirgsrilo the extent
customers renew these support contracts, we ei@estognize revenues for the full contract valuerdhe support renewal
period.

Represents the amortizatiof intangible assets acquired in connection withamgquisitions, primarily BEA, Hyperiol

Siebel and PeopleSoft. As of May 31, 2009, estichataure amortization expenses related to intaegisksets, excluding the
impact of additional intangible assets through sulysequent acquisitions, such as from our propasguaisition of Sun, are
as follows (in millions)

Fiscal 201( $ 1,66
Fiscal 2011 1,36¢
Fiscal 201z 1,217
Fiscal 201: 1,08¢
Fiscal 201¢ 881
Thereaftel 1,05¢

Total $ 7,26¢

Acquisition related and other expenses primarilysist of in-process research and development egpestock-based
compensation expenses, integration related profesisservices, personnel related costs for tramgitiand other employees,
certain business combination adjustments afteptinehase price allocation period has ended, andinather operating
expenses (income), net. For fiscal 2008, acquisititated and other expenses include a gain orepsogale of $57 million
and, for fiscal 2007, acquisition related and othigrenses include a benefit of $52 million relatethe settlement of a pre-
acquisition lawsuit against PeopleSoft (see Nai€ Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementsddhér information). In
fiscal 2010, certain of the items that we recorddquisition related and other expenses will chage result of our adopti
of Statement 141(R), which could materially impat consolidated financial statements (see furdieussion in “Critical
Accounting Policies and Estima” above).

Restructuring expenses during fiscal 2009 and 28[&e to Oracle employee severance in connectitmour Fiscal 2009
Oracle Restructuring Plan that was initiated intthied quarter of fiscal 2009 and our Fiscal 200&dle Restructuring Plan
that was initiated in the second quarter, and ameimthe fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. Restruaigicosts during fiscal
2007 relate to an Oracle-based restructuring plaiated in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 for et additional expenses
were recorded during fiscal 2007. In connectiorhwaity acquisition that we close in fiscal 2010,wirecord involuntary
termination and other exit costs associated wighaitquisition to restructuring expenses as a resolir adoption of
Statement 141(R), which is a change from curremttire pursuant to existing accounting standardscanld materially
impact our consolidated financial statements (sedér discussion i“ Critical Accounting Policies and Estima” above).

Stock-based compensation is included in the folhgwoperating expense line items of our consolidatattments of
operations (in millions)

2009 2008 2007
Sales and marketir $ 67 $ 51 $ 38
Software license updates and product sug 13 10 11
Cost of service 12 13 15
Research and developm 15¢& 114 85
General and administrati 93 69 49
Subtotal 34C 257 19¢
Acquisition related and oth 15 112 9
Total $ 35 $ 36¢ $ 20;

Stock-based compensation included in acquisition relatetlother expenses resulted from unvested optessreed fron
acquisitions whose vesting was accelerated upaniration of the employees pursuant to the ternthade options

The income tax effects presented were calculatéfttlas above described charges were not includexir results of
operations for each of the respective periods ptedelncome tax effects were calculated reflectingffective tax rate of
28.7% for fiscal 2009 instead of 28.6%, which repraed our effective tax rate as derived per onsaldated statement of
operations, due to the exclusion of the effectroédjustment to our nocurrent deferred tax liability associated with dced
intangible assets. The income tax effects presdoteiscal 2008 and 2007 were calculated basedusreffective tax rates
29.5% and 28.6%, respective
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Software

Software includes new software licenses and soéwWeense updates and product support.

New Software License: New software license revenues represent feeg@drom granting customers licenses to

use our database and middleware as well as ouicapph software products. We continue to placai§icant
emphasis, both domestically and internationallydimact sales through our own sales force. We asinue to
market our products through indirect channels. Safel marketing expenses are largely personnétdetend
include commissions earned by our sales forcehtistle of our software products, and also includeketing

program costs and amortization of intangible assets

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change

Percent Change

(Dollars in millions) 2009 Actual Constani 2008 Actual Constant 2007
New Software License Revenue
Americas $3,21¢ -T% -4% $3,467 26% 24% $2,751
EMEA 2,58¢ -6% 6% 2,766 35% 24% 2,04:
Asia Pacific 1,31¢ 3% 7% 1,28 18% 11% 1,08¢
Total revenue 7,12z -5% 1% 7,51 28% 21% 5,88
Expenses
Sales and marketir() 4,571 -1% 4% 4,62¢ 20% 14% 3,86¢
Stocl-based compensatic 67 31% 31% 51 32% 32% 38
Amortization of intangible asse@ 81¢  46% 46% 56C 58% 58% 354
Total expense 5,451 4% 9% 5,23¢ 23% 18% 4,261
Total Margin $1,66€ -27% -16% $2,27¢  40% 31% $1,621
Total Margin % 23% 30% 28%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 45% 46% A7%
EMEA 36% 37% 35%
Asia Pacific 19% 17% 18%
Revenues by Produc
Database and middlewe $5,06¢ 0% 7% $5,09C 24% 17% $4,11¢
Applications 2,000 -16% -10% 2,36¢  38% 33% 1,71¢
Total revenues by produ 7,06¢€ -5% 1% 7,45¢ 28% 21% 5,83t
Other revenue 57 2% 5% 56 19% 15% 47
Total new software license revent $7,12: -5% 1% $7,51F 28% 21% $5,88:
% Revenues by Produc
Database and middlewe 72% 68% 71%
Applications 28% 32% 29%

@ Excluding stoc-based compensatic

@ Included as a component ‘Amortization of Intangible Asse’ in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008New software license revenues growth was unfdlprafected by foreign
currency rate fluctuations of 6 percentage poimtiisical 2009. Excluding the effect of currencyerfitictuations,
total new software license revenues increasedtilighfiscal 2009 as a result of a 7% increasdatabase and
middleware revenues, partially offset by a 10% dase in applications revenues. Excluding the efiectirrency
rate fluctuations, the EMEA and Asia Pacific regiancreased new software license revenues by 6% %nd
respectively, and were partially offset by a deseeaf 4% in the Americas region.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiais’ percentage points, database and middlewaenues grew 7¢
in fiscal 2009 due primarily to BEA products andlatlesser extent, other recently acquired prodircts
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reported currency, BEA products contributed $45Biani, and other recently acquired products comnitieil

$21 million to the total database and middlewavenees growth in fiscal 2009. The revenue contitimst from
BEA products, which already have been integratdd ®racles Fusion Middleware and are sold together, ared
on our internal allocations consistent with pregi@eriods.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiai$ percentage points, application new softwarense revenues
decreased in fiscal 2009 due to weaker global engmoonditions and were partially offset by incretted revenues
from our recent acquisitions. In reported currerfiymavera products contributed $33 million and ailver recentl
acquired products contributed an incremental $2famito our applications revenues in fiscal 2009.

In reported currency, new software license revermaesed from transactions over $0.5 million declibg 7% in
fiscal 2009, primarily due to unfavorable curreneyiations, and decreased to 50% of new softwaemée revenu
in fiscal 2009 from 51% in fiscal 2008.

Total sales and marketing expenses were favoraipaéted by 5 percentage points of currency vanatauring
fiscal 2009. Excluding the effect of currency ritetuations, sales and marketing expenses incteadiscal 2009
primarily due to higher salaries from increaseddeeant and higher amortization of intangible assEtgese
constant currency increases were partially offged beduction in our commissions and bonus expenses

In both reported and constant currency, total neftwsre license margin and margin as a percenthgevenues
decreased as our total new software license exp@mewith, in particular higher amortization of imggble assets,
exceeded our revenues growth.

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007New software license revenues growth was posjtiziected by foreign
currency rate fluctuations of 7 percentage poimtisical 2008. Excluding the effect of currencyerfitictuations,
new software license revenues grew in all majodpeb lines and across all geographies, with databad
middleware revenues contributing 55% to the ina@easew software license revenues and applicatievenues
contributing 45%. Excluding the effect of curremeye fluctuations, the Americas contributed 52%,HM
contributed 39% and Asia Pacific contributed 9%hincrease in new software license revenues.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiodatabase and middleware revenues grew 17% il 8968 as a
result of increased demand for our database andlewdre products as well as incremental revenwes &cquired
companies. Hyperion products contributed $103 anlliBEA products contributed $93 million, Stellgnbducts
contributed $37 million, Tangosol products conttéali$18 million and other recently acquired prodwintributed
$2 million to the total database and middlewarenees growth in fiscal 2008.

On a constant currency basis, applications reveimgesased 33% in fiscal 2008. Hyperion productstidouted
$199 million, Agile products contributed $58 miltioMetasolv products contributed $14 million, anldes recently
acquired products contributed $42 million to thiakapplications revenues growth in fiscal 2008.

In reported currency, new software license reveraesed from transactions over $0.5 million grewAB%6 in
fiscal 2008 and increased from 46% of new softviaense revenues in fiscal 2007 to 51% in fiscdl&0

Sales and marketing expenses were adversely inthhgtd percentage points of unfavorable currenciatians
during fiscal 2008. Excluding the effect of currgmate fluctuations, sales and marketing expensgeased in
fiscal 2008 primarily due to higher salaries, bésefnd travel expenses resulting from increasedt@unt, higher
commissions expenses associated with both increasedues and headcount levels, and an incregdarined
marketing program expenses. These increases wdialpaffset by a $42 million reduction in litigan related
expenses resulting primarily from the settlementetain legal matters during the third quartefisifal 2008.

Total new software license margin and margin asragmtage of revenues increased due to our newaseft
licenses revenues growth rate and a favorablegomirrency impact, partially offset by higher gtbwates in our
amortization of intangible assets and stock-basetpensation expenses.

Software License Updates and Product Suppt Software license updates grant customers rightsi$pecified
software product upgrades and maintenance reléssesd during the support period. Product suppettides
internet access to technical content as well &sriet and telephone access to technical supp@bpeel in our
global support centers. Expenses associated withaftware license updates and product supporolifmisiness
include
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the cost of providing the support services, largedgsonnel related expenses, and the amortizationrantangible
assets associated with software support contradigsastomer relationships obtained from our actjorss.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2009 Actual Constant 2008 Actual Constani 2007
Software License Updates and Product Support Reven
Americas $ 6,462 16% 18% $ 5,587 19% 17% $4,69¢
EMEA 3,85C 10% 21%  3,50: 32% 20% 2,65:
Asia Pacific 1,44: 17% 20% 1,23t 27% 18%  97¢
Total revenue 11,75«  14% 19% 10,32¢ 24% 18% 8,32¢
Expenses
Software license updates and product sug® 1,07t 9% 14% 987 19% 13% 831
Stock-based compensatic 13 35% 35% 10 -6% -6% 11
Amortization of intangible asse@ 841 41% 41% 59€ 27% 27%  47C
Total expense 1,92¢  21% 24% 1,59 21% 18% 1,31:
Total Margin $ 9,82F 12% 18% $ 8,73t 24% 18% $7,01
Total Margin % 84% 85% 84%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 55% 54% 57%
EMEA 33% 34% 32%
Asia Pacific 12% 12% 11%

@ Excluding stoc-based compensatic

@ Included as a component ‘ Amortization of Intangible Asse’ in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008The growth in our software license updates aodyet support revenues
was unfavorably affected by foreign currency réetfiations of 5 percentage points in fiscal 2@€cluding the
effect of currency rate fluctuations, software tise updates and product support revenues incrgafiedal 2009 a
a result of new software licenses sold with suliihy all customers electing to purchase support@acts during
fiscal 2009, the renewal of substantially all of tustomer base eligible for renewal in the curfisotl year and
incremental revenues from the expansion of ourocnst base from our acquisitions. Excluding the ctft
currency rate fluctuations, the Americas contridut8%, EMEA contributed 38% and Asia Pacific cdnited 13%
to the increase in software license updates armduptsupport revenues.

In reported currency, software license updatespaoduct support revenues in fiscal 2009 includegnental
revenues of $540 million from BEA, $20 million froRrimavera and $49 million from other recently doegh
companies. As a result of our acquisitions, we néed adjustments to reduce support obligationsnasduo their
estimated fair values at the acquisition dates. Dumir application of business combination accimgrtules,
software license updates and product support regeralated to support contracts in the amount248 $nillion,
$179 million and $212 million that would have bexherwise recorded by our acquired businessedapémdent
entities, were not recognized in fiscal 2009, 2808 2007, respectively. Historically, substantialliyof our
customers, including customers from acquired congsanenew their support contracts when such coistiere
eligible for renewal. To the extent these undedysupport contracts are renewed, we will recogttizeevenues f
the full value of these contracts over the supperiods, the substantial majority of which are gear.

Total software license updates and product sugpgrénses were favorably impacted by 3 percentaigéspaf
currency variations during fiscal 2009. Excludihg effect of currency rate fluctuations, softwacense updates
and product support expenses increased due tortsglary expenses associated with increased heaidmosuppor
the expansion of our customer base and higher aatioh expenses resulting from additional intafgyéssets
acquired since the beginning of fiscal 2008, bdtivlnich were primarily attributable to our acquisit of BEA in
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008.
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Total software license updates and product suppargin increased due to an increase in revenueke mhargin as
a percentage of revenues decreased slightly agoleh in our amortization of intangible assetsesded our
revenues growth.

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007The growth in our software license updates aodyet support revenues
was favorably affected by foreign currency ratetiiations of 6 percentage points in fiscal 200&I&ding the
effect of currency rate fluctuations, software tise updates and product support revenues incréagisdal 2008 ir
comparison to fiscal 2007 for similar reasons as¢oted above. Excluding the effect of curreraty fluctuations
the Americas contributed 53%, EMEA contributed 3886 Asia Pacific contributed 11% to the increasgoiftware
license updates and product support revenues. &aftlicense updates and product support revendesal 2008
included incremental revenues of $303 million frbiyperion, $38 million from BEA, $38 million from Ak,

$30 million from Stellent, $25 million from Metasgland $46 million from other recently acquired ganies.

Software license updates and product support ergemsre adversely impacted by 3 percentage pdints o
unfavorable currency variations during fiscal 20B&8cluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatipssftware
license updates and product support expenses gadtehie to higher salary and benefits associatidingreased
headcount to support the expansion of our custtvase, higher bonuses and commissions, and highatiaation
expenses resulting from additional intangible asaetuired since the beginning of fiscal 2007. Tedétware
license updates and product support margin andimasga percentage of revenues increased as anues grew
faster than expenses, but was partially offset bigher growth rate in our amortization of intarlgiassets.

Services

Services consist of consulting, On Demand and dthuca

Consulting: Consulting revenues are earned by providing sesvio customers in the design, implementation,
deployment and upgrade of our database and midddesedtware products as well as applications sofwa
products. The cost of providing consulting servicessists primarily of personnel related expendsur

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2009 Actual Constant 2008 Actual Constant 2007
Consulting Revenues
Americas $1,63¢ -5% 2% $1,72C 12% 10% $1,53¢
EMEA 1,152 -11% -1% 1,291 25% 14% 1,03:
Asia Pacific 45€ 2% 5% 46€ 54% 42% 30z
Total revenue 3,247 -T% -1% 3,477 21% 15% 2,86¢
Expenses
Cost of service® 2,781  -8% 2% 3,014 22% 16% 2,477
Stock-based compensatic 6 -12% -12% 7 -18%  -18% 9
Amortization of intangible asse(@ 40 4% -3% 42  38% 38% 30
Total expense 2,821 -8% 2% 3,060 22% 16% 2,51¢
Total Margin $ 42C 1% 11% $ 414  17% 10% $ 358
Total Margin % 13% 12% 12%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 51% 50% 53%
EMEA 35% 37% 36%
Asia Pacific 14% 13% 11%

@ Excluding stoc-based compensatic

@ Included as a component ‘Amortization of Intangible Asse’ in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008Consulting revenues were unfavorably affectedobgign currency rate
fluctuations of 6 percentage points in fiscal 20B2cluding the effect of currency rate fluctuationg believe the
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decline in our consulting revenues was generallytduveaker demand resulting from a deterioratioglabal
economic conditions in comparison to fiscal 200BisTdecrease was partially offset by incrementatrifoutions
from our recent acquisitions.

In constant currency, consulting expenses decrehsa@uay fiscal 2009 as a result of lower salaryenges due to a
decrease in headcount and lower commissions angstExpenses. These decreases were partially bif$egher
infrastructure and travel expenses (the majoritiraofel expenses are billable to customers).

Consulting margin and margin as a percentage @fme®s increased in fiscal 2009 as our expenseiseedct a
greater rate than our revenues.

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Consulting revenues growth was positively affddig foreign currency
rate fluctuations of 6 percentage points in fi208. Excluding the effect of currency rate flutioias, consulting
revenues increased during fiscal 2008 primarily wu@n increase in application product implemeatetiassociated
with the sales of our application software prodwactd incremental revenues from our recent acqoiistiprimarily
Hyperion and BEA. Excluding the effect of curremeye fluctuations, the Americas contributed 36%,E2M
contributed 35% and Asia Pacific contributed 29%hincrease in consulting revenues.

Consulting expenses were adversely impacted byd@&ptage points of unfavorable currency variatidmsng fisca
2008. Excluding the effect of currency rate fluttoias, consulting expenses increased during fi2d@B as a result
of higher personnel related expenses attributablegher headcount levels and third party contragxpenses that
supported our increase in revenues.

Total consulting margin as a percentage of reveremained constant during fiscal 2008 as margirmravgments i
the EMEA and Asia Pacific regions were offset bpenxse growth in the Americas region and for ourc@ra
Financial Software Services Limited subsidiary iffierly, i-flex solutions limited) and an increaseour
amortization of intangible asset expenses.

On Demand: On Demand includes our Oracle On Demand and Achdi€ustomer Services offerings. Oracle On
Demand provides mulfeatured software and hardware management, andenaince services for our database
middleware as well as our applications softwarévdetd either at our data center facilities, aésepartner data
centers, or at customer facilities. Advanced CustoBervices consists of solution lifecycle manag#mservices,
database and application management services tigpehpecific solution support centers and remoi an

on-site expert services. The cost of providing Qmmand services consists primarily of personnetedla
expenditures, technology infrastructure expend#taned facilities costs.
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Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2009 Actual Constani 2008 Actual Constani 2007
On Demand Revenue!
Americas $43z 15% 18% $ 375  20% 18% $ 313
EMEA 23C 2% 13% 22€ 29% 18% 17¢
Asia Pacific 117 26% 33% 93 36% 28% 68
Total revenue 77 12% 18% 694 25% 19% 557
Expenses
Cost of service® 621 -2% 4% 63z 10% 6% 574
Stocl-based compensatic 4 -9% -9% 5 16% 16% 4
Amortization of intangible asse® 13 1% -1% 14 0% 0% 14
Total expense 63 -2% 3% 651 10% 6% 592
Total Margin $141 228% 225% $ 43 224% 213% $ (35
Total Margin % 18% 6% -6%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 55% 54% 56%
EMEA 30% 33% 32%
Asia Pacific 15% 13% 12%

@ Excluding stoc-based compensatic

@ Included as a component ‘ Amortization of Intangible Asse’ in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 20080n Demand revenue growth was unfavorably affebjefbreign currency
rate fluctuations of 6 percentage points in fi209. On Demand revenues increased in fiscal 2083aan
increase in each service category’s subscriptiee lbba a greater number of customers engaged usvid|T
services and outsourcing solutions. On a constam¢cy basis, Advanced Customer Services conébtite
majority of our On Demand revenues growth. Exclgdime effect of currency rate fluctuations, the Aices
contributed 52%, EMEA contributed 23% and Asia Baciontributed 25% to the increase in On Demanegmnees.

Excluding the effect of favorable currency ratecfliations of 5 percentage points, On Demand expansecased
modestly in fiscal 2009 due to higher personneltesl costs resulting from additional employeesdhicesupport th
increase in On Demand revenues. This expense Beweas partially offset by a shift of certain Ub&sed costs to
global support centers in lower cost countries.

Total On Demand margin and margin as a percentggenues improved primarily as a result of ouacs On
Demand business, which increased revenues whilegiram operating expenses to a modest level of grawt
comparison to fiscal 2008. Our Advanced Customevi€es margin and margin percentages also impraved
comparison to fiscal 2008.

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 20070n Demand revenue growth was positively affetigéoreign currency
rate fluctuations of 6 percentage points in fi208. Excluding the effect of currency rate flu¢toias, On Demand
revenues increased in fiscal 2008 due to similasaes as noted above. On a constant currency Baae On
Demand and Advanced Customer Services contribygpbaimately equal amounts to the growth in On Dedna
revenues. Excluding the effect of currency ratetflations, the Americas contributed 53%, EMEA cibotied 29%
and Asia Pacific contributed 18% to the increas@inDemand revenues.

Excluding the effect of unfavorable currency rdtetuations of 4 percentage points, On Demand esgmeimcrease
in fiscal 2008 due to higher salaries and benekfgenses associated with increased headcount,gimel h
technology infrastructure related expenses to suippe expansion of our customer base. These egproseases
were partially offset by a shift of certain U.Ssbd costs to global support centers in lower coshties.
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Total On Demand margin as a percentage of revammsved primarily as a result of our Oracle On it
business, which increased revenues while managiegating expenses to a level consistent with figéal7. Our
Advanced Customer Services margin and margin peages also improved in comparison to fiscal 2007.

Education: Education revenues are earned by providing iogirded, media-based and internet-based traiming i
the use of our database and middleware softwadupts as well as applications software productsicition
expenses primarily consist of personnel relateeerdjiures, facilities and external contractor costs

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2009 Actual Constant 2008 Actual Constant 2007
Education Revenues
Americas $151 -17% -15% $181 10% 8% $ 164
EMEA 127 -20% -13% 15 20% 9% 13z
Asia Pacific 71 -T% -3% 76 22% 14% 63
Total revenue 34¢ -16% -12% 41€ 16% 10% 35¢
Expenses
Cost of service®@ 292 -10% -5% 325 15% 8% 28¢
Stocl-based compensatic 2 19% 19% 1 -17% -17% 2
Total expense 294 -10% 5% 32€ 15% 8% 28t
Total Margin $ 55 -39% -38% $ 90 21% 16% $ 74
Total Margin % 16% 22% 21%
% Revenues by Geography:
Americas 43% 44% 46%
EMEA 37% 38% 37%
Asia Pacific 20% 18% 17%

@ Excluding stoc-based compensatic

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008Excluding the effect of unfavorable currency ritetuations of
4 percentage points, education revenues decreagisdal 2009 as we experienced weaker demandufor o
educational services that we believe was the re$uieaker global economic conditions.

Excluding the effect of favorable currency ratecfiiations of 5 percentage points, education expetselined in
comparison to fiscal 2008, due to headcount rednstassociated with restructuring actions takensaratiuction in
other variable costs associated with the declif®isiness activity.

Education margin and margin as a percentage ohtmgedecreased in fiscal 2009 due to a reductioniin
revenues, which declined at a higher rate tharerpense reductions.

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Education revenues growth was positively affettedoreign currency rate
fluctuations of 6 percentage points in fiscal 20B8cluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatipaducation
revenues increased in fiscal 2008 due primarilgrtancrease in customer training on the use ohpptications
products, including our acquired products. Exclgdime effect of currency rate fluctuations, the Aices
contributed 39%, EMEA contributed 36% and Asia Racontributed 25% to the increase in educatioreneles.

Excluding the effect of unfavorable currency rdtetuations of 7 percentage points, education es@&increased
due to higher personnel related expenses durinfirgtdalf of fiscal 2008 and were partially offdsy lower
personnel related expenses in the second haé@dIf2008 as a result of restructuring actionsrtake

Education margin and margin as a percentage ohtmeincreased slightly in fiscal 2008 as revemow/th
exceeded expense growth.
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Research and Development Expens Research and development expenses consist giirahgersonnel related
expenditures. We intend to continue to invest $iggutly in our research and development effortsaose, in our
judgment, they are essential to maintaining ourpetitive position

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2009 Actual Constani 2008 Actual Constani 2007
Research and developmi®) $2,612 -1% 2% $2,621 24% @ 22% $2,11(
Stocl-based compensatic 158 36% 36% 114 35%  35% 85
Total expense $2,761 1% 4% $2,741 25%  22% $2,19¢
% of Total Revenue 12% 12% 12%

@ Excluding stoc-based compensatic

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008Total research and development expenses wereatalyaffected by

3 percentage points of currency variations durisgal 2009. On a constant currency basis, totalares) and
development expenses increased as salary expeosehkifjher headcount and increased stock-basedamsapon
expenses were partially offset by a decrease inderpenses. The increase in our headcount wasihieined
result of our recent acquisitions, primarily BEAdsour hiring of additional personnel to develogvrianctionality
for our existing products. Research and developineaticount as of the end of fiscal 2009 increaged b
approximately 1,500 employees, or 7%, in compartsahe end of fiscal 2008.

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspresearch and developrr
expenses increased in fiscal 2008 due to highetasmp related expenses associated with higher beatitevels,
including higher stock-based compensation experses$46 million of expenses pertaining to certegal-related
matters. The increase in our headcount was the io@ahlpesult of acquisitions, primarily BEA, andihg of
additional resources to develop new functionalitydur existing products. Research and developimesdcount as
of the end of fiscal 2008 increased by approxinya2eb50 employees in comparison to the end of fi2ea7.

General and Administrative ExpensesGeneral and administrative expenses primarilyssbof personnel related
expenditures for information technology, finanagdl and human resources support functions.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2009 Actual Constani 2008 Actual Constani 2007
General and administrati®) $ 692 -6% 2% $ 73€ 15% 10% $ 643
Stocl-based compensatic 93 35% 35% 69 40%  40% 49
Total expense $ 78t -3% 1% $ 80 17% 12% $ 692
% of Total Revenue 3% 4% 4%

@ Excluding stoc-based compensatic

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008Total general and administrative expenses wédeetad by 4 percentage
points of favorable currency variations during &ls2009. Excluding the effect of currency rate fllations, general
and administrative expenses increased slightlynduiscal 2009 as a result of increased profestmeraices fees
and increased stock-based compensation expensieb, widre almost entirely offset by decreases inuses
expenses and certain of our benefits expensesding a reduction in our deferred compensation esee (see
discussion under “Non-Operating Income, net” below)

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspgeneral and
administrative expenses increased during fiscaB230a result of higher personnel related costscagsd with
increased headcount to support our expanding apesadnd increased stock-based compensation expense
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Amortization of Intangible Assets

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change

(Dollars in millions) 2009 Actual Constani 2008 Actual Constani 2007
Software support agreements and related relatipa $ 54¢  37% 37% $ 40z 25% 25% $321
Developed technolog 72z 40% 40% 515  45% 45% 35E
Core technolog 258 43% 44% 17¢  34% 34% 13z
Customer relationshig 15C  77% T7% 85 93% 93% 44
Trademark: 37 16% 16% 32 28% 28% 25

Total amortization of intangible ass: $1,71:  41% 42% $1,21: 38% 38% $87¢

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008Amortization of intangible assets increased sadl 2009 due to the
amortization of acquired intangibles from BEA arider acquisitions that we consummated since thanbieg of
fiscal 2008. See Note 6 of Notes to Consolidateduftial Statements for additional information reljjay our
intangible assets (including weighted average u$ieks) and related amortization.

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Amortization of intangible assets increased scdl 2008 due to the
amortization of acquired intangibles from HyperiBEA and other acquisitions that we consummatedesihe
beginning of fiscal 2007.

Acquisition Related and Other Expense Acquisition related and other expenses primangsist of in-process
research and development expenses, integratidiedgdaofessional services, stock-based compensatjpenses,
personnel related costs for transitional and ogingployees, certain business combination adjustnadigisthe
purchase price allocation period has ended, artdinather expenses (income), net. Stock-based ensapion
expenses included in acquisition related and atkpenses relate to unvested options assumed frouisg®ns
whereby vesting was accelerated upon terminatidghe@émployees pursuant to the original terms adehoptions.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change

(Dollars in millions) 2009 Actual Constani 2008 Actual Constant 2007
In-process research and developn $ 10 -58%  -58% $ 24  -84% -84% $151
Transitional and other employee related ¢ 45  41% 34% 32 34% 33% 24
Stock-based compensatic 15 -87% -87% 112 1,144% 1,144% 9
Professional fees and other, 25 257%  257% 7 -13% -13% 8
Business combination adjustme 22 267% @ 267% 6 111% 111% (52
Gain on sale of proper _— -100% -100% _ (57) * A

Total acquisition related and other exper $117 6% 4% $124 -11% -12% $14C

" Not meaningfu

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 20080n a constant currency basis, acquisition relatetother expenses
decreased slightly due to lower stock-based congiiemsexpenses in fiscal 2009 caused primarilyhaytiming of
stock option accelerations for certain former Hygerand BEA employees that were incurred in thet find fourth
quarters of fiscal 2008 and lower in-process regeand development expenses. These decreaseslmest a
entirely offset by higher transitional and otheroyee related expenses resulting primarily fromamquisition of
BEA, an increase in professional fees and an iser@acertain acquisition related adjustments sylesa to the en
of the purchase price allocation period. In additive also recognized a gain on property sale (idestabove) in
fiscal 2008, which reduced expenses in that period.

In fiscal 2010, the items that we record to acdjoisirelated and other expenses will change asutref our
adoption of Statement 141(R), which could materietipact our consolidated financial statements {sgber
discussion in “Critical Accounting Policies and iEsites” above and in Note 1 of Notes to Consolid&ti@ancial
Statements).
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Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 200 Acquisition related and other expenses decredisedg fiscal 2008 due to
lower in-process research and development acqasedpart of our fiscal 2008 acquisitions in coriguer to our
fiscal 2007 acquisitions and a gain on a propeaty.sThese decreases to acquisition related amd eXpenses were
partially offset by higher transitional employeéated expenses and increased stock-based commenszagienses
due to the acceleration of certain acquired em@ageck options, primarily Hyperion and BEA, punsui the
terms of those options. Total operating expenséisdal 2007 were also reduced by a $52 milliondferas a result
of a settlement of an acquired legal contingenoynfPeopleSoft for less than the amount accrued the @nd of

the purchase price allocation period (see NoteNatés to Consolidated Financial Statements fahéur
discussion).

Restructuring expenses Restructuring expenses consist primarily of Grachployee severance costs and may
also include charges for duplicate facilities iderto improve our Oracle-based cost structurepacs/ely. For
additional information regarding our Oracle-basestnucturing plans, as well as restructuring ati¢igiof our
acquired companies, please see Note 8 of Notesriedlidated Financial Statements.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2009 Actual Constani 2008 Actual Constani 2007
Restructuring expens: $117 187% 212% $41 113% 9%5% $1¢

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008During the third quarter of fiscal 2009, our mgeaent approved,
committed to and initiated a plan to restructurd famther improve efficiencies in our Oradbased operations (20
Plan). The total estimated restructuring costs@atad with the 2009 Plan are $241 million and wélrecorded to
restructuring expenses in our consolidated stat&swdroperations as they are recognized. In fi268B, we
recorded $85 million of restructuring expensesdnrection with the 2009 Plan. We expect to incerrtiajority of
the remaining $156 million during fiscal 2010. Gastimated costs are preliminary and may be sutgettiange in
future periods.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2008, our manaant approved, committed to and initiated a pdarestructure
and improve efficiencies in our Oracle-based opamatas a result of certain management and orgzorizéh
changes and our recent acquisitions (the 2008 PTée) 2008 Plan was amended in the fourth quaftisaal 2008
to include the Oracle-based effects resulting foamacquisition of BEA. The total costs associatéti the 2008
Plan were approximately $80 million, of which expes of $39 million and $41 million were incurredidg fiscal
2009 and 2008, respectively.

In connection with any acquisition that we closédisgal 2010 and prospective periods, we will relcovoluntary
termination and other exit costs associated witth@icquisition to restructuring expenses in oursotidated
statement of operations as a result of our adogti®@tatement 141(R), which is a change from cunpeactice
pursuant to existing accounting standards and amalrially impact our consolidated financial sta¢ats (see
further discussion in “Critical Accounting Policiaad Estimates” above).

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007We incurred restructuring expenses of $41 milliofiscal 2008 pursuant
the 2008 Plan as described above. Restructuringn=es in fiscal 2007 relate to Oracle employeeraege and
facility closures that were recorded in those pisiand were a part of a restructuring plan initiatethe third
quarter of fiscal 2006.

Interest Expense

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2009 Actual Constani 2008 Actual Constant 2007
Interest expens $63( 60% 60% $394 15% 15% $ 34:

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008Interest expense increased in fiscal 2009 dimgtoer average borrowings
resulting from our issuance of $5.0 billion of semotes in April 2008.

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Interest expense increased in fiscal 2008 dimgtoer average borrowings
resulting from the issuance of $5.0 billion of sEmotes in April 2008, a net increase of $500ionillin additional
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senior notes outstanding for the majority of fis2ad8 and our issuances of short-term commercizipa the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 and fourth quartefis€al 2007 (we repaid these commercial paper atsoduring
fiscal 2008).

Non-Operating Income, net: Non-operating income, net consists primarilyraérest income, net foreign currency
exchange gains and losses, the minority ownerseshahe net profits of our majority-owned OraEiaancial
Services Software Limited (formerly i-flex solut®fimited) and Oracle Japan subsidiaries, and atlteme, net,
including net realized gains and losses relatedl tof our investments and net unrealized gainslassks related to
the small portion of our investment portfolio tha classify as trading.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2009 Actual Constant 2008 Actual  Constani 2007
Interest incom $27¢ -17% -11%  $337 14% 9% $29t
Foreign currency (losses) gains, (55) -236%  -203% 40 -10% 3% 45
Minority interests in incom (84) -41% -48% (60) -15% -18% (72)
Other income, ne 3 -95% -96% 67 -22% -26% 86
Total nor-operating income, nt¢ $143 -63% -54% 384 8% 5% $35¢

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008Non-operating income, net decreased during fi28@P as a result of a
reduction in our interest income, primarily duddwer market rates that affected the yields eaoredur
investment portfolio and net foreign currency tiaton losses of $55 million in comparison to reefgn currency
transaction gains of $40 million in the correspawgdprior year. Non-operating income, net was affected by
changes in our investments that we classify asngatthat support our deferred compensation plaigatibns. The
majority of these changes decreased “Other incoet®,in the table above during the second quartéiscal 2009.
We account for our deferred compensation plan asset obligations pursuant to EITF 97-Adcounting for
Deferred Compensation Arrangements Where AmountseHaAre Held in a Rabbi Trust and Inves, which
requires that the changes in obligations associattdour deferred compensation plan be recordezlimoperating
expenses while the corresponding change in thegssets be recorded in noperating income, net. The change
obligations and asset values of the plan are eaphbffsetting, such that there is no impact toincome before
provision for income taxes during fiscal 2009 oy ather periods presented.

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Non-operating income, net increased in fiscal®@pfmarily due to an
increase in interest income from higher weighteerage cash and marketable securities balancegdis@al 2008

Provision for Income Taxes The effective tax rate in all periods is the tesfithe mix of income earned in
various tax jurisdictions that apply a broad ranfjincome tax rates. The provision for income tadiéfers from the
tax computed at the U.S. federal statutory incaemerate due primarily to state taxes and earningsidered as
indefinitely reinvested in foreign operations. Feateffective tax rates could be adversely affedtedrnings are
lower than anticipated in countries where we hawveet statutory rates, by unfavorable changes ihaas and
regulations or by adverse rulings in tax relatéddtion.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2009 Actual Constani 2008 Actual Constani 2007
Provision for income taxe $ 2,241 -3% 6% $ 2,318 35% 32% $1,71:
Effective tax rate 28.6% 29.5% 28.6%

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008Provision for income taxes decreased during Ifi2689 in comparison to
fiscal 2008 due to a lower effective tax rate, whicas primarily the result of a higher proportidroar worldwide
taxable income being earned in lower tax rate glictons.

In fiscal 2010, we will adopt Statement 141(R), ethamends FASB Statement No. 188counting for Income
Taxesand FIN 48. For fiscal 2009 and prior periods, weaerally accounted for post-acquisition adjustménts
business combination related deferred tax asseatiah allowances and liabilities related to ureiertax
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positions as an increase or decrease to goodegihrdless of the time that had elapsed since tigisaton date.
Statement 141(R) will no longer permit this accaugiand generally will require any such changesgoecorded i
current period income tax expense, unless any ch@hge is identified during the measurement paiatlit relates
to new information obtained about facts and cirdamses that existed as of the acquisition dateh $atimate
revisions that do not qualify as measurement paijdstments will be recorded to our provisionifmome taxes i
our consolidated statement of operations in thegdehe revision is made and could have a matengact on our
consolidated financial statements.

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007Provision for income taxes increased in fisc@&@and fiscal 2007 due
primarily to higher earnings before taxes.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of May 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2009 Change 2008 Change 2007
Working capital $ 9,43: 17% $ 8,07 131%  $3,49¢
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable secL $12,62¢ 14% $11,04: 57% $7,02(

Working Capital: The increase in working capital as of May 31,200comparison to May 31, 2008 was due to
the favorable impact to our net current assetmamily our cash, cash equivalents and marketalolergies
balances, resulting from our net income generateihgl fiscal 2009. This increase in working capitals partially
offset by an increase in our stock repurchasesddiscal 2009 in comparison to the prior year (wed $4.0 billiol
of cash for stock repurchases during fiscal 2008imparison to $2.0 billion used for stock repusgsaduring fisci
2008), cash used for our acquisitions, cash useebi@y $1.0 billion of our Senior Notes that matkire May 2009
and the reclassification of $1.0 billion of our 8 rNotes due May 2010 as a current liability, cashkd to pay
dividends to our stockholders for the first timeour history, and the decline in value of our ngrent assets held
by certain of our foreign subsidiaries as a resthe strengthening of the U.S. Dollar during s2009 (the offset
to which is recorded to accumulated other comprsiwerincome in our consolidated balance sheet).v@uking
capital may be impacted by all of the aforementibfaetors in future periods, certain amounts amdngy of which
are variable.

The increase in working capital as of May 31, 2008omparison to May 31, 2007 was primarily du@moncrease
in our cash, cash equivalents and marketable sisubialances resulting from the issuance of $tli@rbof long-
term senior notes in April 2008, additional casH &rade receivables generated from our operatindsar adoptio
of FIN 48, which resulted in $1.3 billion of uncain tax positions being prospectively reclassifiedn current
income taxes payable to non-current taxes paydhkese increases in working capital were partiaffged by cash
used in fiscal 2008 to pay for our acquisitionsriarily BEA) and to repurchase our common stock.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securitie€ash and cash equivalents primarily consist pbdis held
at major banks, money market funds, Tier-1 comraépaper, U.S. Treasury obligations, U.S. goverrtragency
and government sponsored enterprise obligatiomsptrer securities with original maturities of 9yd or less.
Marketable securities primarily consist of time dsits held at major banks, Tier-1 commercial papemorate
notes, U.S. Treasury obligations and U.S. goveriiragency and government sponsored enterprise tibliga The
increase in cash, cash equivalents and marketableises at May 31, 2009 in comparison to May Z108 was du
to an increase in cash generated from our operatitigities. Cash, cash equivalents and marketdtarities
include $11.3 billion held by our foreign subsidésras of May 31, 2009. The amount of cash, casivalgnts and
marketable securities that we report in U.S. Dslfar a significant portion of the cash held bysénsubsidiaries is
subject to translation adjustments caused by clwing®reign currency exchange rates as of theoféedch
respective reporting period (the offset to whicheisorded to accumulated other comprehensive incomwaur
consolidated balance sheet). As the U.S. Dollangtthened against most major international curesngirring fisce
2009, the amount of cash, cash equivalents andetadlle securities that we reported in U.S. Dollarghese
subsidiaries declined relative to what we wouldeéheaported using a constant currency rate as of 3ap008. Ou
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitiaadss were also partially offset by cash usedfwracquisitions,
the repayment of $1.0 billion of senior notes iny\2®09, the repurchases of our common stock (seisiion
above), and the payment of cash dividends to aakkblders.
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The increase in cash, cash equivalents and matketaburities at May 31, 2008 in comparison to Nay2007 is
due to the issuance of $5.0 billion of senior nate&pril 2008 and an increase in our operatinchdé&sws resulting
primarily from an increase in net income, partiafjset by cash used for our acquisitions (prinyaBEA), net
repayments of our short-term commercial paper naeies repurchases of our common stock.

Days sales outstanding, which is calculated byditig period end accounts receivable by averagg dales for the
quarter, was 58 days at May 31, 2009 compared&@ttays at May 31, 2008. The days sales outstanding
calculation excludes the adjustment that reducesicquired software license updates and produgistp
obligations to fair value. Our decline in days salatstanding is primarily due to the improved timess of our
collections efforts and the mix of our total reveauwluring the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, whigkighted more
heavily toward our license updates and product etppvenues (such revenues generally have a ID8€r than
our revenues from our other operating segments).

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2009 Change 2008 Change 2007

Cash provided by operating activiti $ 8,25t 12% $ 7,40% 34% $ 5,52(
Cash used for investing activiti $(2,599) -71% $(9,07¢) 83% $(4,97)
Cash (used for) provided by financing activit $(4,427) 235% $ 3,281 -388% $(1,139

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:Our largest source of operating cash flows i catlections from our
customers following the purchase and renewal df gtdtware license updates and product suppodegents.
Payments from customers for software license ugdate product support agreements are generalliveeceear
the beginning of the contracts’ terms, which aneegally one year in length. We also generate sizarit cash from
new software license sales and, to a lesser extenices. Our primary uses of cash from operatiyities are for
personnel related expenditures as well as paymelated to taxes and leased facilities.

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 20C Net cash provided by operating activities incegbis fiscal 2009 primarily
due to higher net income adjusting for amortizatbbmtangible assets, stotlased compensation and other net
favorable balance sheet movements.

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 20C Net cash provided by operating activities incegbis fiscal 2008 primarily
due to higher net income, partially offset by iresed accounts receivable primarily due to fourtrgu fiscal 2008
revenues growth (in particular, our new softwacerise revenues growth).

Cash Flows from Investing Activities: The changes in cash flows from investing actsgifprimarily relate to
acquisitions and the timing of purchases, matwritied sales of our investments in marketable sesiriVe also
use cash to invest in capital and other assetsppast our growth.

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 20C Net cash used for investing activities decreasdidcal 2009 due to a
decrease in cash used for acquisitions, net of @eghired, and a decrease in cash used to puroiergetable
securities, net of proceeds received from salesaatdrities.

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 20C Net cash used for investing activities increasdiscal 2008 due to an
increase in cash used for acquisitions (primarlBAB, net of cash acquired, and an increase in aast to purchas
marketable securities, net of proceeds receivad fales and maturities.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities: The changes in cash flows from financing actdgtprimarily relate to
borrowings and payments under debt facilities at agestock repurchases, dividend payments andepascfrom
stock option exercise activity.

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 20C Net cash used for financing activities in fise@0D9 increased in comparison
to cash provided by financing activities in fis@@I08 due to increased stock repurchases and divig@yments (se
discussion in “Working Capital” above and in Nofdf Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementsétalitional
information) and decreased proceeds from the eseeafiemployee stock options during fiscal 200%ddition,
financing activities provided cash in fiscal 20@8aaresult of our issuance of $5.0 hillion of Idegn senior notes
April 2008 and certain commercial paper issuaneespf commercial paper repayments.
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Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 20C Net cash provided by financing activities in 62008 increased in
comparison to cash used for financing activitieBsoal 2007 due to the issuance of $5.0 billioooig-term senior
notes, additional proceeds from the exercise ofl@eyee stock options and decreased spending on stpckchase:
and were partially offset by $1.4 billion of nepesyments of short-term commercial paper notes.

Free cash flow: To supplement our statements of cash flows ptedesn a GAAP basis, we use non-GAAP
measures of cash flows on a trailing 4-quarterso@sanalyze cash flows generated from our operatid/e believe
free cash flow is also useful as one of the basesdmparing our performance with our competitditse
presentation of noGAAP free cash flow is not meant to be consideneidalation or as an alternative to net incc
as an indicator of our performance, or as an atama to cash flows from operating activities ase@asure of
liquidity. We calculate free cash flows as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2009 Change 2008 Change 2007

Cash provided by operating activiti $ 8,25¢ 12%  $7,40: 34% $5,52(
Capital expenditure®) (52¢9)  118% (245  -24% 319
Free cash flov $7,72¢ 8% $7,15¢ 38% $5,201
Net income $5,59:¢ 1% $5,52] 29% $4,27¢
Free cash flow as a percent of net incc 138% 130% 122%

(@) Represents capital expenditures as reported infagh from investing activities in our consoliddtstatements of cash flows presented in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accoumptimgiples.

Long-Term Customer Financing: We offer certain of our customers the optiondquare our software products
and service offerings through separate long-tergmgat contracts. We generally sell contracts thahave
financed on a non-recourse basis to financialtut&ins. We record the transfers of amounts dum ftastomers to
financial institutions as sales of financial aséetsause we are considered to have surrendereloofthese
financial assets. In fiscal 2009, 2008 and 20074 $illion, $1.1 billion and $891 million or apprioxately 19%,
15% and 15%, respectively, of our new softwarenlsgerevenues were financed through our financinigidn.

Recent Financing Activities In recent years, we have issued Idagn senior notes to fund our acquisitions an
general corporate purposes. During fiscal 2009repaid $1.0 billion of senior notes that matured/isy 2009. As
of May 31, 2009, we have $10.2 billion of seniotamoutstanding, including $1.0 billion that matuire May 2010.
We have also, on occasion, issued short-term coniah@aper notes in recent years pursuant to omnoercial
paper program to assist with the short-term finagdor certain of our acquisitions and for othengml corporate
purposes. Typically, we have repaid these liab8itivithin 12 months or less from their issuance.date also have
entered into certain revolving credit agreementsack-stop any commercial paper notes we may issddor other
general corporate purposes. As of May 31, 200%have no commercial paper notes or amounts undesredit
agreements outstanding. If we issue commercialmagutes in the future, we would most likely use mwolving
credit agreements as a back-stop to these noteseatiterefore consider that we have a total of $ili@n of
capacity available to us pursuant to our credieagrents and commercial paper program as of Mag®&b.
Additional details of our various debt facilitieschobligations are included in the “Contractual i@dions” section
below and in Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Fimr8tatements and risks associated with our delijations an
any future debt issuances are included in Riskdfattem 1A).

Our Board of Directors has approved a program $aiouepurchase shares of our common stock. Orb@cgo,
2008, our Board of Directors expanded our repurelpgsgram by $8.0 billion and as of May 31, 200®3%billion
was available for share repurchases pursuant tetook repurchase program. We repurchased 225liémshares
for $4.0 billion, 97.3 million shares for $2.0 lilh, and 233.5 million shares for $4.0 billion iadal 2009, 2008 ar
2007, respectively. Our stock repurchase authaoizatoes not have an expiration date and the plgero
repurchase activity will depend on factors suchwasworking capital needs, our cash requirementadquisitions
and dividend repayments, our debt repayment olidigatas described below), our stock price, ansheeic and
market conditions. Our stock repurchases may leetffl from time to time through open market purehas
pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan. Our stock repuecpasgram may be accelerated, suspended, delayed or
discontinued at any time.
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In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, we declared gaid our first quarterly cash dividend in owtbiy of $0.05 per
share of outstanding common stock. In June 2009Board of Directors declared a quarterly cashd#ind of $0.0
per share of outstanding common stock payable qustd3, 2009 to stockholders of record as of thgecof
business on July 15, 2009. Future declarationsvidehds and the establishment of future recordadnent dates
are subject to the final determination of our Boaf @irectors.

Contractual Obligations: The contractual obligations presented in theetdlelow represent our estimates of future
payments under fixed contractual obligations androitments. Changes in our business needs, carnaellat
provisions, changing interest rates and other faatay result in actual payments differing fromsinestimates. W
cannot provide certainty regarding the timing ansbants of payments. We have presented below a styrofithe
most significant assumptions used in our informatigthin the context of our consolidated finangiakition, result

of operations and cash flows. The following is mmary of our contractual obligations as of May 3009:

Year Ending May 31,

(Dollars in millions) Total 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Thereafter
Principal payments on borrowin(®) $1025( $1,00¢ $225( $ — $125( $ — $ 5,75C
Capital lease®® 1 1 — — — — —
Interest payments on borrowin(®) 4.90¢ 554 50¢ 392 392 33C 2,73¢
Operating lease®) 1,33¢ 38¢ 287 20¢€ 137 11€ 20C
Purchase obligatior® 165 88 21 11 3 3 39
Funding commitment(®) 3 3 — — — — —

Total contractual obligatior $16,66: $2,03: $306¢/ $60¢ $1,782 $44¢ $ 8,72«

@ our borrowings (excluding capital leases) consighe following as of May 31, 200!

Principal Balance

Floating rate senior notes due May 2( $ 1,00¢
5.00% senior notes due January 2011, net of disafi$8 2,243
4.95% senior notes due April 20 1,25(
5.25% senior notes due January 2016, net of disafiv 1,99¢
5.75% senior notes due April 2018, net of discafrl 2,49¢
6.50% senior notes due April 2038, net of discafr§2 1,24¢

Total borrowings $ 10,23:

Our floating rate senior notes due May 2010 boter@st at a rate of 0.97% as of May 31, 2009. W lemtered into an interest rate swap
agreement that has the economic effect of modiftfiegvariable interest obligations associated withfloating rate senior notes due May
2010 so that the interest payable on the seni@sneffectively became fixed at a rate of 4.59%erkdt payments were calculated based on
terms of the related agreement and include estsrzised on the effective interest rates as of Map@09 for variable rate borrowings after
consideration of the aforementioned interest rat@psagreemen

Represents remaining payments under capital leasesned from acquisitior

@) Primarily represents leases of facilities and idelfuture minimum rent payments for facilitiesttive have vacated pursuant to our
restructuring and merger integration activities. éee approximately $259 million in facility obligans, net of estimated sublease incom
accrued restructuring for these locations in oursetidated balance sheet at May 31, 2(

(4 Represents amounts associated with agreementaréhanforceable, legally binding and specify terimsuding: fixed or minimum quantitie
to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable pricevisions; and the approximate timing of the paytmAmounts in this row do not include
purchase orders for raw materials and other gootised into in the ordinary course of businesiag are generally entered into in order to
secure pricing or other negotiated terms and dfieut to quantify in a meaningful way

® Represents the maximum additional capital we maylirie contribute toward our venture fund investragwhich are payable upon dema

On April 19, 2009, we entered into an Agreement Rlash of Merger (Merger Agreement) with Sun Micregyms,
Inc., a provider of enterprise computing systerofiysre and services. Pursuant to the Merger Agesenour
wholly owned subsidiary will merge with and intorsSand Sun will become a wholly owned subsidiarpddcle.
Upon the consummation of the merger, each shaseiefcommon stock will be converted into the righteceive
$9.50 in cash. In addition, options to acquire 8aimmon stock, Sun restricted stock unit awardscaher equity-

58




Table of Contents

based awards denominated in shares of Sun commck @itstanding immediately prior to the consumorabf the
merger will generally be converted into optionstrieted stock unit awards or other equigsed awards, as the ¢
may be, denominated in shares of our common staskdon formulas contained in the Merger Agreenié.
estimated total purchase price of Sun is approxin&t7.4 billion. This transaction is subject tonStockholder
approval, regulatory clearance under the Hart-SRottino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 and #pplicable
merger control laws of the European Commissionahdr jurisdictions, and other customary closingditions.
We also have entered into certain other agreentertsquire other companies and expect these prdpose
acquisitions to close during the first quarteris€él 2010. We intend to finance our proposed aiftijpms through a
combination of our internally available cash, oasit generated from operations, our existing aviaildébt
capacity, additional borrowings, or from the isstenf additional securities.

As of May 31, 2009, we have $2.3 billion of unrecizgd tax benefits recorded on our consolidatedrza sheet.
We have reached certain settlement agreementgelgtbant taxing authorities to pay approximatel $Tillion of
these liabilities (these amounts have been exclérded the table above due to the uncertainty of mtiey might
be settled). Although it remains unclear as to wpe@yments pursuant to these agreements will be nsadee or all
may be made in fiscal 2010. We cannot make a reddpreliable estimate of the period in which teenainder of
our unrecognized tax benefits will be settled ¢eased with the relevant tax authorities, althowghbelieve it is
reasonably possible that certain of these liabditould be settled or released during fiscal 26&6 Note 14 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemet

We believe that our current cash, cash equivakemdsmarketable securities and cash generated fpenmatons will
be sufficient to meet our working capital, capéapenditures and contractual obligations. In addjtive believe w
could fund any future acquisitions, including thregosed Sun acquisition, and dividend paymentsepdrchase
common stock or debt with our internally availabdsh, cash equivalents and marketable securidsh, generated
from operations, our existing available debt cayaeidditional borrowings or from the issuance aditional
securities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements:We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangentiesithave or are reasonably
likely to have a current or future effect on oundincial condition, changes in financial conditioejenues or
expenses, results of operations, liquidity, captqdenditures or capital resources that are materiavestors.

Selected Quarterly Financial Data

Quarterly revenues, expenses and operating incawe tistorically been affected by a variety of seasfactors,
including sales force incentive compensation plémaddition, our European operations generallyio® lower
revenues in our first fiscal quarter because ofduleiced economic activity in Europe during the suem These
seasonal factors are common in the software ingluBtrese factors have caused a decrease in ougtiaster
revenues as compared to revenues in the immedjateteding fourth quarter, which historically hasb our
highest revenue quarter within a particular fisesr. Similarly, the operating income of our busmes affected by
seasonal factors in a consistent manner as ounueggin particular, our new software license bessh as certain
expenses within our cost structure are relativielgd in the short term. We expect these trendohdicue in fiscal
2010.
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The following tables set forth selected unauditadrterly information for our last eight fiscal qteas. We believe
that all necessary adjustments, which consisteg @fmhormal recurring adjustments, have been ireduid the
amounts stated below to present fairly the resilsich periods when read in conjunction with tbrsolidated
financial statements and related notes includesinisre in this Annual Report. The sum of the quigrfemancial
information may vary from the annual data due tniding.

Fiscal 2009 Quarter Ended (Unaudited)

(in millions, except per share amounts) August 31 November 3( February 28 May 31

Revenue:! $ 5331 $ 5607 $ 545 $ 6,86
Gross profit $ 380 $ 4,18 $ 4,11¢ $ 5,441
Operating incom: $ 1521 $ 197 $ 194C $ 2,88¢
Net income $ 1,077 $ 129 $ 132¢ $ 1,897
Earnings per sha—Dbasic $ 021 $ 028 $ 027 $ 0.3¢
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 021 $ 028 $ 02¢ $ 0.3t

Fiscal 2008 Quarter Ended (Unaudited

(in millions, except per share amounts August 31 November 3( February 29 May 31

Revenue: $ 452¢ $ 531 $ 534¢ §$ 7,23¢
Gross profit $ 319: $ 3902 $ 3931 $ 5,70(
Operating incom: $ 1217 $ 1,782 $ 187F $ 2,971
Net income $ 84C % 1,300 $ 134C $ 2,03%
Earnings per sha—basic $ 01lc $ 028 % 0.2¢ $ 0.4C
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 01l $ 028 $ 02¢ $ 03¢

Stock Options

Our stock option program is a key component ofciti@pensation package we provide to attract anchregatain o
our talented employees and align their interesti thie interests of existing stockholders. We re@athat options
dilute existing stockholders and have sought tarobthe number of options granted while providownpetitive
compensation packages. Consistent with these aadd,gour cumulative potential dilution since Jan@006 has
been a weighted average annualized rate of 1.3%saer The potential dilution percentage is calmdas the
average annualized new options granted and assumaedf options forfeited by employees leavingtbenpany,
divided by the weighted average outstanding shdwesg the calculation period. This maximum potaindilution
will only result if all options are exercised. Sowfehese options, which generally have 10 yearcse periods,
have exercise prices substantially higher tharctiieent market price of our common stock. At May 2009, 45%
of our outstanding stock options had exercise prigeexcess of the current market price. Consistéhtour
historical practices, we do not expect that dilutijom future grants before the effect of our stogurchase
program will exceed 2.0% per year for our ongoingibess. In recent years, our stock repurchasegrogas mor
than offset the dilutive effect of our stock optiorogram; however, we may reduce the level of tarks
repurchases in the future as we may use our al@ialsh for acquisitions, to pay dividends, to yeparepurchase
indebtedness or for other purposes. At May 31, 20@9maximum potential dilution from all outstangliand
unexercised option awards, regardless of when gglaantd regardless of whether vested or unvestethahdling
options where the strike price is higher than timeent market price, was 7.2%.
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The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directeviews and approves the organization-wide stgtion
grants to selected employees, all stock optiontgranexecutive officers and any individual stogition grants in
excess of 100,000 shares. A separate Plan Compmnitkéeh is an executive officer committee, approvelvidual
stock option grants up to 100,000 shares to nowteie officers and employees. Stock option agtifibm June 1,
2006 through May 31, 2009 is summarized as foll(sfigres in millions):

Options outstanding at May 31, 20 4732
Options grante: 191
Options assume 62
Options exercise (317
Forfeitures and cancellatiol (50

Options outstanding at May 31, 20 35¢

Average annualized options granted and assumedf fateitures 68

Average annualized stock repurcha 18t

Shares outstanding at May 31, 2( 5,00¢

Basic weighted average shares outstanding from Iu2@06 through May 31, 20( 5,12¢

Options outstanding as a percent of shares ouistatl May 31, 200! 7.2%

In the money options outstanding (based on our 8132009 stock price) as a percent of shares
outstanding at May 31, 20( 3.9%

Weighted average annualized options granted anoireesh net of forfeitures and before stock repureba
as a percent of weighted average shares outstaftdmglune 1, 2006 through May 31, 2( 1.3%

Weighted average annualized options granted anohreest net of forfeitures and after stock repurchaas
a percent of weighted average shares outstanding June 1, 2006 through May 31, 2( -2.3%

Our Compensation Committee approves the annuah@aton-wide option grants to certain key emplasy/eehese
annual option grants are made during the ten bssiday period following the second trading dayrafie
announcement of our fiscal fourth quarter earnieg®rt.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information with respect to recent accountingnouncements and the impact of these pronouncsrmantur
consolidated financial statements, see Note 1 eé&Ntw Consolidated Financial Statements.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Cash, Cash Equivalents, Marketable Securities anchterest Income Risk

Our bank deposits and money market investmentgearerally held with a number of large, diversefiicial
institutions worldwide that we believe mitigatesreoof the exposures associated with our holdings thiese
financial institutions. In addition, we purchasglhiquality debt security investments, substantialllyvith relatively
short maturities (see a description of our debtisées held in Notes 3 and 4 of Notes to Constéidainancial
Statements and “Liquidity and Capital Resourcesival. Therefore, interest rate movements genedallgot
materially affect the valuation of our debt segunitvestments. Substantially all of our marketatdeurities are
designated as available-for-sale.

Changes in the overall level of interest ratesctffiee interest income that is generated from ashccash
equivalents and marketable securities. For fis@b2total interest income was $279 million withr owestments
yielding an average 2.23% on a worldwide basiss Tterest rate level was down by 121 basis pdiota 3.44%
for fiscal 2008. If overall interest rates fell b0 basis points from our average of 2.23% durisgaf 2009, our
annual interest income would decline by approxitye#&21 million, assuming consistent investmentlsyThe
table below presents the cash, cash equivalentnankketable securities balances and the relatedwezlgaverage
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interest rates for our investment portfolio at My 2009. The cash, cash equivalent and markesablérities
balances are recorded at their fair values at May309.

May 31, 2009
Fair Value of
Available-for- Sale Weighted Average
(Dollars in millions) Securities Interest Rate
Cash and cash equivalel $ 8,99t 0.83%
Marketable securitie 3,62¢ 1.14%
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sies $ 12,62« 0.92%

Interest Expense Risk

Our borrowings as of May 31, 2009 were $10.2 hilliconsisting of $9.2 billion of fixed rate borrowis and

$1.0 billion of floating rate senior notes that dree in May 2010 and bear interest at a floating egual to three-
month LIBOR plus 0.06% per year (0.97% at May 309). We have entered into an interest rate swangemer
to manage the economic effect of variable intesbfgations associated with our 2010 floating iseaior notes so
that the interest payable on the senior notes tafedg became fixed at a rate of 4.59%, therebycéth the impact
of future interest rate changes on our future @geexpense. We do not use interest rate swapgements for
trading purposes. The critical terms of the interate swap agreement and the 2010 senior notehmatiuding
the notional amounts, interest rate reset datesyrityadates and underlying market indices. Accoglly, we have
designated the swap as a qualifying instrumentaaedccounting for the swap as a cash flow hedgmupat to
FASB Statement No. 133ccounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgirgjivities. The unrealized losses on
the swap are included in accumulated other comps#he income and the corresponding fair value pleyisb
included in other current liabilities in our conisialted balance sheet. The periodic interest settdsnwhich occur
at the same interval as the interest payment a@t dates as the 2010 senior notes, are recordetbesst expense.

Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign Currency Transaction Risk

We transact business in various foreign curreramigshave established a program that primarilyzetiforeign
currency forward contracts to offset the risks agded with the effects of certain foreign curremsyposures. Undt
this program, increases or decreases in our for@igency exposures are offset by gains or losse¢keforeign
currency forward contracts that we enter into ttigate the possibility of foreign currency transastgains or
losses. These foreign currency exposures typieaite from intercompany sublicense fees and ottieradompany
transactions. Our forward contracts generally hauas of 90 days or less. We do not use foreigreoagy forward
contracts for trading purposes. All outstandingefgn currency forward contracts are marked to ntaakthe end of
the period with unrealized gains and losses regyftiom fair value changes included in non-operpiiitome, net
(the effective portion of our Yen net investmenddpe described below is included in stockholdersiitgg. Our
ultimate realized gain or loss with respect to ency fluctuations will depend on the currency exgerates and
other factors in effect as the contracts mature. Adtional amounts of foreign currency forward cacts to
purchase and sell U.S. Dollars in exchange forratiegor international currencies were $860 millaord

$1.1 billion, respectively, and to purchase Euroexchange for other major international curreneias

€142 million ($198 million), as of May 31, 2009. Thet unrealized gains of our outstanding foreigmency
forward contracts were $2 million at May 31, 20Bi@t foreign exchange transaction (losses) gairladed in non-
operating income, net in the accompanying constdiatatements of operations were $(65) milliory, §illion
and $17 million in fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, extjvely.

Foreign Currency Translation Risk

Fluctuations in foreign currencies impact the antadrotal assets and liabilities that we reportdar foreign
subsidiaries upon translation of these amountsung& Dollars. In particular, the amount of casisttequivalents
and marketable securities that we report in U.Slabofor a significant portion of the cash heldthgse
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subsidiaries is subject to translation variancesediby changes in foreign currency exchange rate$§the end of
each respective reporting period (the offset tocWwié recorded to accumulated other comprehensoanie on our
consolidated balance sheet). We hedge net assegstain international subsidiaries from foreigmrency exposure
and provide a discussion in “Foreign Currency Metktment Risk” below.

As the U.S. Dollar strengthened against most majernational currencies during fiscal 2009, theoant of cash,
cash equivalents and marketable securities thaeparted in U.S. Dollars for these subsidiariesfaday 31, 2009
declined relative to what we would have reportedgia constant currency rate as of May 31, 2008efsrted in
our consolidated statements of cash flows, theeffeexchange rate changes on our reported cabhast
equivalents balances in U.S. Dollars for fiscal 20008 and 2007 was a (decrease) increase of jgilibn,
$437 million, and $149 million, respectively. Tra@léwing table includes the U.S. Dollar equivaleftash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities denominatéatéign currencies at May 31, 2009.

U.S. Dollar

Equivalent at

(in millions) May 31, 200¢
Euro $ 1,372
British Pounc 65&
Chinese Renmint 63%
Indian Rupe 338
Japanese Ye 19¢
Canadian Dolla 171
Other foreign currencie 1,615
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sesudénominated in foreign currenc $  4,97¢

If overall foreign currency exchange rates in coriguen to the U.S. Dollar weakened by 10%, the arhofinash,
cash equivalents and marketable securities we wepldrt in U.S. Dollars would decrease by approxatya
$498 million, assuming constant foreign currencshczash equivalent and marketable security basance

Foreign Currency Net Investment Risk

We hedge the net assets of certain of our intematisubsidiaries (net investment hedges) usirgjdorcurrency
forward contracts to offset the translation andneenic exposures related to our investments in thabsidiaries.
We measure the effectiveness of our net investimeaiges by using the changes in spot exchangelhmatesise this
method reflects our risk management strategiese¢baomics of those strategies in our financiakstents and
better manages interest rate differentials betvdiféerent countries. Under this method, the chaingair value of
the forward contract attributable to the changespiot exchange rates (the effective portion) il in
stockholders’ equity to offset the translation fesan the net investments. The remaining chandaitirvalue of the
forward contract (the ineffective portion, if arig)recognized in non-operating income, net.

Net gains (losses) on investment hedges reportsthakholder equity, net of tax effects, were $(41) million,
$(53) million and $28 million in fiscal 2009, 20@8d 2007, respectively. Net gains on investmengésdeported
in non-operating income, net were $10 million, $&i#lion and $28 million in fiscal 2009, 2008 and®Q)
respectively.

At May 31, 2009, we had one net investment hedgiajpanese Yen. The Yen net investment hedge migsmiz

currency risk arising from net assets held in Yem aesult of equity capital raised during thei@hipublic offering
and secondary offering of our majority owned suiasid Oracle Japan. The notional amount of ourimetstment
hedge was $694 million and had a nominal fair valsef May 31, 2009.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Da

The response to this item is submitted as a saepseation of this Annual Report. See Part IV, ItEn
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Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accouants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

As of the end of the period covered by this AnriRa@port on Form 10-K, we carried out an evaluatindar the
supervision and with the participation of our Dastire Committee and our management, including thiefC
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officef,the effectiveness of the design and operatiamuofdisclosure
controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange AletsRiBa-15(e) and 15d-15(&)isclosure controls are procedu
that are designed to ensure that information redguio be disclosed in our reports filed under teeuBities
Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act, sucthigsAnnual Report on Form 10-K, is recorded, psses,
summarized and reported within the time periodsi§ipe by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Comimiissi
Disclosure controls are also designed to ensutestitd information is accumulated and communicsdeslir
management, including our Chief Executive Officed £hief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allorvely
decisions regarding required disclosure. Our qugréyaluation of disclosure controls includes a&aleation of
some components of our internal control over finanmeporting. We also perform a separate annualuetion of
internal control over financial reporting for therpose of providing the management report below.

The evaluation of our disclosure controls include@view of their objectives and design, our impeatation of the
controls and the effect of the controls on therimfation generated for use in this Annual ReporEorm 10-K. In
the course of the controls evaluation, we reviedatz errors or control problems identified and $bug confirm
that appropriate corrective actions, including pssimprovements, were being undertaken. Thisdfpgaluation
is performed on a quarterly basis so that the esimhs of management, including our Chief Execuiicer and
Chief Financial Officer, concerning the effectivea®f the disclosure controls can be reported irpetiodic
reports on Form 10-Q and Form 10-K. Many of the ponents of our disclosure controls are also evatliah an
ongoing basis by both our internal audit and firaoganizations. The overall goals of these varexaduation
activities are to monitor our disclosure contratsl & modify them as necessary. We intend to miaiar
disclosure controls as dynamic processes and puoegthat we adjust as circumstances merit.

Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executived®ffand Chief Financial Officer concluded that disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of tloeoéithe period covered by this report.

Managemen's Report on Internal Control over Financial Repadrtg

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, a
such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}X5(fl 15d-15(f). Under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our €lirecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, wenducted
an evaluation of the effectiveness of our intermaitrol over financial reporting as of May 31, 2a@2%ed on the
guidelines established Internal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOY.iernal control over financial reporting inclugelicies
and procedures that provide reasonable assuragardieg the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation
of financial statements for external reporting msgs in accordance with U.S. generally acceptesuating
principles.

Based on the results of our evaluation, our managéroncluded that our internal control over finaheporting
was effective as of May 31, 2009. We reviewed #wiits of management’s assessment with our Firemté\udit
Committee.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fiaial reporting as of May 31, 2009 has been auditeBErnst &
Young LLP, an independent registered public acdagrfirm, as stated in their report which is inohadin Part 1V,
Item 15 of this Annual Report.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportm

There were no changes in our internal control éwancial reporting identified in connection withet evaluation
required by paragraph (d) of Exchange Act RulesiBar 15d-15 that occurred during our last fispadrter that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likelynaterially affect, our internal control overdimcial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Contro

Our management, including our Chief Executive @iffiand Chief Financial Officer, believes that oisctbsure
controls and procedures and internal control owericial reporting are designed and operated &ffleetive at the
reasonable assurance level. However, our managetnestot expect that our disclosure controls aadgulures c
our internal control over financial reporting wiltevent all errors and all fraud. A control systerm matter how
well conceived and operated, can provide only nealsie, not absolute, assurance that the objeativibe control
system are met. Further, the design of a contsikesy must reflect the fact that there are resotwostraints, and
the benefits of controls must be considered reddtivtheir costs. Because of the inherent limitetim all control
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide labs@assurance that all control issues and instaotfaud, if
any, have been detected. These inherent limitatiwhsde the realities that judgments in decisicaking can be
faulty, and that breakdowns can occur becauseswhple error or mistake. Additionally, controls dag
circumvented by the individual acts of some persbgsollusion of two or more people or by managenoverride
of the controls. The design of any system of cdsitatso is based in part upon certain assumptibosatahe
likelihood of future events, and there can be rausce that any design will succeed in achieumgtated goals
under all potential future conditions; over timentrols may become inadequate because of changesditions, o
the degree of compliance with policies or procedumay deteriorate. Because of the inherent linoitetin a cost
effective control system, misstatements due tor@nrdraud may occur and not be detected.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 1@H¢€, information required by this item relating tar @xecutive
officers is included under the caption “Executivie@rs of the Registrant” in Part | of this report

The other information required by this Item 10risdrporated by reference from the information cioreta in our
Proxy Statement to be filed with the U.S. Secwitdaed Exchange Commission in connection with thieitdion of
proxies for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholdéhe “2009 Proxy Statement”) under the sectioriiled

“Board of Directors—Incumbent Directors,” “Board Dfrectors—Committees, Membership and Meetings—dtisc
2009 Committee Memberships,” “Board of Directors—a@nittees, Membership and Meetings—The Finance and
Audit Committee,” “Corporate Governance—Employeettéida—Code of Conduct” and “Section 16(a) Beneficia
Ownership Reporting Compliance”.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item 11 is incargted by reference from the information to be cimet@ in our
2009 Proxy Statement under sections entitled “Boéidirectors—Committees, Membership and Meetinghe-T
Compensation Committee—Compensation Committeeltries and Insider Participation,” “Board of Direrse—
Director Compensation” and “Executive Compensation”
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Related Stockholder
Matters

Equity Compensation Plan Informatiol

May 31, 2008
Number of Securities
Number of Securities Remaining Available
to be Issued Upor Weighted Average for Future Issuance
Exercise of Exercise Price of Under Equity
Outstanding Options,  Outstanding Options, Compensation
(in millions, except price data) Warrants and Rights ~ Warrants and Rights Plans®)
Equity compensation plans approved by stockhol 306 $ 18.4¢ 31¢@)
Equity compensation plans not approved by stocldrs®) 54 % 17.4C —
Total 36C $ 18.32 31¢

(@) These numbers exclude the shares listed undeothmn heading “Number of Securities to be IssuedrUBxercise of Outstanding Options,
Warrants and Right”

@ This number includes 78 million shares availableffiture issuance under the Oracle Corporation Byg# Stock Purchase Pl:

(3 These options and restricted stock units were asdumconnection with our acquisitions. No additibawards were or can be granted under
the plans that originally issued these awards.aHmief description of the assumed plans, pledse te Note 13 (Employee Benefit Plans) of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements incluesewhere in this annual repc

Information required by this Item 12 with respexStock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners Mahagemer
is incorporated herein by reference from the infation to be contained in our 2009 Proxy Statemadeuthe
section entitled “Security Ownership of Certain Bficial Owners and Management”.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information required by this Item is incorp@éherein by reference from the information to betained in ou
2009 Proxy Statement under the sections entitledp@ate Governance—Board of Directors and Director
Independence” and “Related Party Transactions”.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Service

The information required by this Item is incorp@éherein by reference from the information to betained in ou
2009 Proxy Statement under the section entitrdposal No. 3: Ratification of Selection of Indegent Registere
Public Accounting Firm”.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(@) 1. Financial Statements

The following financial statements are filed asaat pf this report:

Page

Reports of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registd?ablic Accounting Firn 70
Consolidated Financial Statemer

Balance Sheets as of May 31, 2009 and - 72

Statements of Operations for the years ended Mag19, 2008 and 20( 73

Statements of Stockhold’ Equity for the years ended May 31, 2009, 2008 @GV 74

Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended Mag2(@19, 2008 and 20( 75

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 76
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2. Financial Statement Schedule

The following financial statement schedule is fiksla part of this report:

Schedule

I Valuation and Qualifying Accoun

Page
11€

All other schedules are omitted because they aresgaired or the required information is shownha financial
statements or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed herewith or aredamporated by reference to exhibits previouslydfikdth the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

Exhibit
No.

2.01

2.02

3.01

3.02

4.01

4.02

4.03

4.04

4.05

4.06

Filed
Incorporated by Reference Here
Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Filing Date Filed By with
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated 8-K 000-22369 2.1 1/17/08 BEA Systems, Inc
January 16, 2008, among Oracle
Corporation, BEA Systems, Inc. and
Bronco Acquisition Corporatio
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated 8-K 000-15086 2.1 4/20/09 Sun Microsystem:
April 19, 2009, among Oracle Inc.
Corporation, Sun Microsystems, Inc. and
Soda Acquisition Corporatic
Amended and Restated Certificate of 8-K 000-51788 3.1 2/6/06 Oracle Corporatic

Incorporation of Oracle Corporation and2G3

Certificate of Amendment of Amended

and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

of Oracle Corporatio

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Orac&K 000-51788
Corporation

Specimen Certificate of Registrant's  10-K 000-51788
Common Stocl

Indenture dated January 13, 2006, am 8-K 000-14376
Ozark Holding Inc., Oracle Corporation

and Citibank, N.A

Forms of Old 2011 Note and Old 2016 8-K 000-14376
Note, together with the Office

Certificate issued January 13, 2006

pursuant to the Indenture dated

January 13, 2006, among Oracle

Corporation (formerly known as Ozark

Holding Inc.) and Citibank, N.A

Forms of New 5.00% Note due 2011 aisd4/A 333-13225(
New 5.25% Note due 20

First Supplemental Indenture dated S-3 333-14279¢
May 9, 2007 among Oracle CorporatiorASR

Citibank, N.A. and The Bank of New

York Trust Company, N.A

Forms of New Floating Rate Note due 8-K 000-51788
2009 and New Floating Rate Note due

2010, together with Officers’ Certificate

issued May 15, 2007 setting forth the

terms of the Note
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3.02 7/14/06
4.017/21/06

10.34 1/20/06

10.3€ 1/20/06

4.4 4/14/06

4.3 5/10/07

4.01 5/15/07

Oracle Corporatic
Oracle Corporatic

Oracle Systems
Corporation

Oracle Systems
Corporation

Oracle Corporatic

Oracle Corporatic

Oracle Corporatic
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Exhibit
No.

4.07

10.01*

10.02*

10.03*

10.04*

10.05*

10.06*

10.07*

10.08*

10.09*

10.10*

10.11*

10.12*

10.13*

10.14*

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description Form File No

Exhibit Filing Date

Filed By

Forms of 4.95% Note due 2013,
5.75% Note due 2018 and 6.50% Note
due 2038, together with Officers’
Certificate issued April 9, 2008 setting
forth the terms of the Not¢

Oracle Corporation 1993 Deferred
Compensation Plan, as amended and
restated as of January 1, 2(

Oracle Corporation Employee Stock 10-Q 000-14376
Purchase Plan (1992), as amended and

restated as of February 8, 2(

Oracle Corporation Amended and 10-Q 00051788
Restated 1993 Directors’ Stock Plan, as

amended and restated on July 14, 2

The 1991 Long-Term Equity Incentive 10-Q 00014376
Plan, as amended through October 18,

1999

Amendment to the 1991 Long-Term 10K 000-14376
Equity Incentive Plan, dated January 7,
2000

Amendment to the 1991 Long-Term
Equity Incentive Plan, dated June 2, 2
Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Ter8+K 000-14376
Equity Incentive Plan, as approved on

October 29, 200

Form of Stock Option Agreements for 10-Q 00051788
Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term

Equity Incentive Plal

Form of Stock Option Agreement for
Oracle Corporation Amended and
Restated 1993 Directc Stock Plar
Form of Indemnification Agreement for10-Q 000-14376
Directors and Executive Office

Letter dated September 15, 2004
confirming severance arrangement
contained in Offer Letter dated May 14,
2003 to Charles E. Phillips, Jr. and
Employment Agreement dated May 15,
2003

Amendment dated August 26, 2005, to 8-K 000-14376
the Offer Letter dated May 14, 2003, to

Charles E. Phillips, Jr

Offer letter dated September 7, 2004 tal0-Q 000-14376
Juergen Rottler and Employment
Agreement dated September 3, 2!
Form of Executive Bonus Plan
Agreements for the Oracle Executive
Bonus Plan, Nc-Sales

8-K 00051788

10-Q 00051788

10K 00014376

10-Q 00014376

10-Q 00014376

10-Q 00014376
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10.16
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10.24

12.01

21.01

23.01

31.01

31.02
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Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Filing Date Filed By
Form of Executive Bonus Plan 10-Q 00014376 10.3C 1/5/06 Oracle Systems
Agreements for the Oracle Executive Corporation

Bonus Plan, Sales and Consult

Form of Commercial Paper Dealer 8-K 00051788
Agreement relating to the $5,000,000,

Commercial Paper Progra

Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement 8-K 00051788
between Oracle Corporation and JP

Morgan Chase Bank, National

Association dated as of February 3, 2

$3,000,000,000 5-Year Revolving Cred8-K 00051788
Agreement dated as of March 15, 2006,

among Oracle Corporation and the

lenders and agents named the

Description of the Fiscal Year 2008  10-Q 00051788
Executive Bonus Pla

$2,000,000,000 364-Day Revolving  8-K 00051788
Credit Agreement dated as of March 18,

2008, among Oracle Corporation and the

lenders and agents named the

Offer letter dated August 19, 2008 to 8-K 00051788
Jeffrey E. Epstein and employment

agreement dated August 19, 2(

Description of the Fiscal Year 2009 8-K 00051788
Executive Bonus Pla

Employment Agreement of Loic Le 10-Q 00051788
Guisquet dated November 18, 1¢

$2,000,000,000 364-Day Revolving  10-Q 00051788
Credit Agreement dated as of March 17,

2009, among Oracle Corporation and the

lenders and agents named the

Consolidated Ratio of Earnings to Fixed

Charges

Subsidiaries of the Registre

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP,

Independent Registered Public

Accounting Firm

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act—Lawrence J.

Ellison

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of

the Sarban«-Oxley Act—Jeff Epsteir

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of

the Sarban«-Oxley Act

Indicates management contract or compensatoryglarrangemen
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of OraabepGration

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Oracle Corporation as of May 31, 20@2008,
and the related consolidated statements of opastatockholdersquity, and cash flows for each of the three 'y
in the period ended May 31, 2009. Our audits alstuded the financial statement schedule listatiénindex at
Item 15(a) 2. These financial statements and s¢beda the responsibility of the Company’s managsgmeur
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements and schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighago
(United States). Those standards require that e g@hd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether the financial statements and schedulereeeof material misstatement. An audit includesm@rang, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts awctbdiges in the financial statements. An audit alstudes
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well agatirg the
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audits provide a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢consolidated
financial position of Oracle Corporation at May 2009 and 2008, and the consolidated results ofsations and
its cash flows for each of the three years in thigogol ended May 31, 2009, in conformity with U.8ngrally
accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinithe related financial statement schedule, wioasidered in
relation to the basic financial statements takea @a#$ole, presents fairly in all material respebtsinformation set
forth therein.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrst&ements, under the headings Income Taxe&dhgany
adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (FA&&rpretation No. 48Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement No., H¥fctive June 1, 2007.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdi the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited
States), Oracle Corporation’s internal control dugaincial reporting as of May 31, 2009, based dteiGa
established imnternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidgrike
Treadway Commission and our report dated June@®® 2xpressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s ERNST & YOUNG LLF
San Francisco, California

June 29, 2009
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of OraabepGration

We have audited Oracle Corporation’s internal adrdver financial reporting as of May 31, 2009 lthea criteria
established imnternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). OraclepGration’s management is responsible for maintginin
effective internal control over financial reportirand for its assessment of the effectivenesstefnal control over
financial reporting included in the accompanyingidgement’s Report on Internal Control Over Findncia
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an mpiron the Company’s internal control over finahcéporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBoa
(United States). Those standards require that ame ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether effective internal control over financieporting was maintained in all material respects. &udit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dugincial reporting, assessing the risk that aemaltweakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and ¢ipgraffectiveness of internal control based onabsessed risk,
and performing such other procedures as we comsldercessary in the circumstances. We believethaudit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassu
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdthe preparation of financial statements for exaepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfeee A company’s internal control over finanaiaporting
includes those policies and procedures that (Ipjpeto the maintenance of records that, in reasiendetail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disghositions of the assets of the company; (2) ideweasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as ngctsparmit preparation of financial statementa@cordance wit
generally accepted accounting principles, andréwdipts and expenditures of the company are beadg only in
accordance with authorizations of management anedtdirs of the company; and (3) provide reasonasdeirance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitted acquisition, use, or disposition of the comps assets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or d@étaisstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivesnés future periods are subject to the risk thatids may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, btttbalegree of compliance with the policies orcpaures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, Oracle Corporation maintained, limzaterial respects, effective internal controkofinancial
reporting as of May 31, 2009, based on the COS@rii

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited
States), the consolidated balance sheets of OCaeigoration as of May 31, 2009 and 2008, and tlztee
consolidated statements of operations, stockhdldgtsty, and cash flows for each of the three géarthe period
ended May 31, 2009 and our report dated June 28 @gpressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s ERNST & YOUNG LLF
San Francisco, California

June 29, 2009
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of May 31, 2009 and 2008

May 31,
(in millions, except per share data 2009 2008
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 8,99 $ 8,26:
Marketable securitie 3,62¢ 2,781
Trade receivables, net of allowances of $270 afd8$3 of May 31, 2009 and 20 4,43( 5,127
Deferred tax asse 661 852
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 86€ 1,08(
Total current asse 18,58! 18,10:
Non-current asset:
Property, ne 1,92z 1,68¢
Intangible assets: software support agreementsedaigd relationships, n 3,411 3,791
Intangible assets: other, r 3,85¢ 4,59¢
Goodwill 18,84: 17,99
Other asset 802 1,091
Total nor-current assel 28,83t 29,16t
Total asset $ 47,41¢  $ 47,26¢
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Notes payable, current and other current borrow $ 1,001 $ 1,001
Accounts payabl 271 383
Accrued compensation and related ben: 1,40¢ 1,77¢
Deferred revenue 4,59 4,49;
Other current liabilitie: 1,87¢ 2,38t
Total current liabilities 9,14¢ 10,02¢
Non-current liabilities:
Notes payable and other r-current borrowing: 9,231 10,23t
Income taxes payab 2,427 1,56€
Deferred tax liabilities 48C 1,21¢
Other norcurrent liabilities 1,037 1,19¢
Total nor-current liabilities 13,175 14,21«
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par va—authorized: 1.0 shares; outstanding: n — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value and additional paichpital—authorized: 11,000 shares; outstanding:

5,005 shares and 5,150 shares as of May 31, 2@D2G08 12,98( 12,44¢
Retained earninc 11,894 9,961
Accumulated other comprehensive inco 21€ 61€

Total stockholder” equity 25,09( 23,02t
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 47,41 $ 47,26¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended May 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data 2009 2008 2007
Revenues
New software license $ 7,12 $ 7,51 $ 5,88
Software license updates and product sug 11,75¢ 10,32¢ 8,32¢
Software revenue 18,87 17,84 14,21
Services 4,37¢ 4,587 3,78¢
Total revenue 23,25: 22,43( 17,99¢
Operating expense
Sales and marketir 4,63¢ 4,67¢ 3,901
Software license updates and product sug 1,08¢ 997 842
Cost of service 3,70¢ 3,98¢ 3,34¢
Research and developm 2,761 2,741 2,19t
General and administrati 78t 80¢ 69z
Amortization of intangible asse 1,71¢ 1,212 87¢
Acquisition related and oth 117 124 14C
Restructuring 117 41 19
Total operating expens 14,93 14,58¢ 12,02:
Operating incom: 8,321 7,84¢ 5,974
Interest expens (630) (399 (343)
Non-operating income, n¢ 142 384 35E
Income before provision for income ta 7,83¢ 7,83¢ 5,98¢
Provision for income taxe 2,241 2,31 1,717
Net income $ 559 $ 5521 $ 4,27/
Earnings per shar
Basic $ 1.1C % 106 $ 0.8
Diluted $ 1.0 $ 106 $ 0.81
Weighted average common shares outstani
Basic 5,07( 5,13 5,17(C
Diluted 5,13( 5,22¢ 5,26¢
Dividends declared per common sh $ 0.08 % — 9 =

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

73




Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY
For the Years Ended May 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

Common Stock

and Additional Paid Accumulated
in Capital Other
Comprehensive  Number of Retained Deferred Comprehensive

(in millions) Income Shares Amount Earnings Compensatior Income Total
Balances as of May 31, 20! 523: $ 9,24¢ $ 553¢ $ B) $ 25¢  $15,01:
Common stock issued under stock award p $ — 10€ 87: — — — 873
Common stock issued under stock purchase — 3 51 — — — 51
Assumption of stock awards in connection with asifiains — — 97 — — — 97
Reclassification of deferred compensation upon tdopf

Statement 123(F — — (3C) — 30 — —
Stock-based compensatic — — 207 — — — 207
Repurchase of common sto — (239 (395) (3,589 — — (3,989
Tax benefit from stock plar — — 244 — — — 244
Minimum benefit plan liability adjustmen 1C — — — — 1C 10
Adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive ircopon

adoption of Statement 1! — — — — — 28 29
Foreign currency translatic 82 — — — — 82 82
Equity hedge gain, net of t: 28 — — — — 28 28
Net unrealized losses on marketable securitiemfrteix (4) — — — — @) (4)
Net income 4,27¢ — — 4,27¢ — — 4,27¢
Comprehensive incorr $ 4,39(
Balances as of May 31, 20! 5,107 10,29! 6,220 — 402 16,91¢
Common stock issued under stock award p $ — 137 1,22¢ — — — 1,22¢
Common stock issued under stock purchase | — 3 58 — — — 59
Assumption of stock awards in connection with asitiains — — 24C — — — 24C
Stocl-based compensatic — — 367 — — — 367
Repurchase of common sto — 97) (214 (1,786 — — (2,000
Tax benefit from stock plar — — 47z — — — 472
Adjustment to retained earnings upon adoption bFf #8 — — — 3 — — 3
Net unrealized loss on defined benefit plan, n¢ar 9) — — — — 9) 9)
Foreign currency translatic 30C — — — — 30( 30C
Net unrealized losses on derivative financial instents, net of ta 77 — — — — 77) 77
Net unrealized gain on marketable securities, hex 1 — — — — 1 1
Net income 5,521 — — 5,521 — — 5,521
Comprehensive inconr $ 5,73¢
Balances as of May 31, 20 5,15(C 12,44¢ 9,961 — 61€ 23,02t
Common stock issued under stock award p $ = 76 69€ — — — 69€
Common stock issued under stock purchase | — 3 64 — — — 64
Assumption of stock awards in connection with asiiains — — 1 — — — 1
Stock-based compensatic — — 34¢ — — — 34¢
Repurchase of common sto — (226) (550 (3,410 — — (3,960)
Cash dividends declared ($0.05 per sh — — — (250 — — (250
Tax effect from stock plar — — (42) — — — (41)
Other, ne — 2 1€ — — — 16
Net unrealized loss on defined benefit plan, net®e (14) — — — — (14) (14)
Foreign currency translatic (350 — — — — (350 (350
Net unrealized losses on derivative financial insients, net of ta (39) — — — — (39) (39)
Net unrealized gain on marketable securities, hex 1 — — — — 1 1
Net income 5,59:¢ — — 5,59: — — 5,59:
Comprehensive incomrr $ 5,19
Balances as of May 31, 20! 5,00 $ 12,98( $11,89¢ $ — 3 21€ $ 25,09(

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended May 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2009 2008 2007
Cash Flows From Operating Activitie
Net income $5,59: $5521 $4,27¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciatior 263 26¢ 24¢
Amortization of intangible asse 1,71: 1,21z 87¢
Provision for trade receivable allowant 11¢ 164 244
Deferred income taxe (395) (135) (56)
Minority interests in incom 84 60 71
Stocl-based compensatic 35E 36¢ 207
Tax benefits on the exercise of stock opti 252 58¢ 33¢
Excess tax benefits on the exercise of stock op (97) (454) (259
In-process research and developn 10 24 151
Other gains, ne (6) (66) (22
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffetts from acquisition:
Decrease (increase) in trade receiva 33¢ (825) (72%)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and athetc 14t (197) (153%)
Decrease in accounts payable and other liabi (697) (15%) (345
Increase in income taxes paya 14z 36¢ 27¢
Increase in deferred revent 43¢ 652 387
Net cash provided by operating activit 8,25¢ 7,40 5,52(
Cash Flows From Investing Activitie
Purchases of marketable securities and other imesgs (9,315 (5,629 (5,40%)
Proceeds from maturities and sales of marketalblarisies and other investmer 8,40¢ 4,281 5,75¢€
Acquisitions, net of cash acquir (1,159 (7,649 (5,00%)
Capital expenditure (529 (243%) (319
Proceeds from sale of prope — 15z 2
Net cash used for investing activiti (2,599 (9,076 (4,97))
Cash Flows From Financing Activitie
Payments for repurchases of common s (3,979 (2,029 (3,93))
Proceeds from issuances of common s 76C 1,28¢ 924
Payment of dividends to stockhold: (250) — —
Proceeds from borrowings, net of issuance ¢ — 6,171 4,07¢
Repayments of borrowing (1,009 (2,560 (2,419
Excess tax benefits on the exercise of stock op 97 454 25¢
Distributions to minority interesi (53 (49 (46)
Net cash (used for) provided by financing actia (4,422 3,281 (1,139
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and caslaénts (507) 437 14¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 735 2,04 (441
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe 8,26: 6,21¢ 6,65¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $8,99t $8,26: $6,21¢
Non-cash investing and financing transactic
Fair value of stock awards assumed in connectidim adquisitions $ 1 $ 24C $ 97
(Decrease) increase in unsettled repurchases ahoonstock $ (12 23 ¢ 47
Supplemental schedule of cash flow d
Cash paid for income tax: $2,17C $1,687 $1,19%
Cash paid for intere: $ 627 $ 347 $ 354

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

75




Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
May 31, 2009

1. ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Oracle Corporation develops, manufactures, marlletsjbutes and services database and middlewdingase, as
well as applications software, that help organtaimanage and grow their businesses. Databasuiddikware
software is used for the secure storage, retrizwdlmanipulation of all forms of software-basedadand for
developing and deploying applications on the irgeand on corporate intranets. Applications sofewarsed to
automate business processes and to provide busimteligence. We also offer software license updatnd produt
support (including support for the Linux OperatfBgstem), and other services including consulting B@mand,
and education.

Basis of Financial Statements
Fiscal 2009 and Prior Periods

The consolidated financial statements include eapants and the accounts of our wholly- and majaritned
subsidiaries. We consolidate all of our majorityr@d subsidiaries and reflect as minority interdstgportions of
these entities that we do not own in other noneamtrliabilities on our consolidated balance she&tdday 31, 2009
and 2008, the liability related to minority intetesvas $355 million and $369 million, respectivdijtercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Certain prior year balances have been reclasgifiednform to the current year presentation. Sechassifications
did not affect total revenues, operating incomaeairincome.

Fiscal 2010

In fiscal 2010, we will adopt Financial AccountiBgandards Board (FASB) Statement No. I6ncontrolling
Interests in Consolidated Financial Stateme, an amendment of ARB No. 51. As a result, we reilfospectively
classify noncontrolling (minority) interest posii® of consolidated entities as a separate compafieonsolidated
stockholders’ equity from the equity attributaldeQracle’s stockholders for all periods presentést.income and
comprehensive income will be attributed to Oratbelsholders and the noncontrolling interests. Iditoh,
Statement 160 requires that any change in our @shipeof a majority-owned subsidiary be prospecyivadcounted
for as an equity transaction provided that we retaintrol of the subsidiary.

Use of Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with U.S. generally accepted accogmtiinciples
(GAAP). These accounting principles require us tikencertain estimates, judgments and assumptioasealieve
that the estimates, judgments and assumptionswpimh we rely are reasonable based upon informati@ilable
to us at the time that these estimates, judgmemts&ssumptions are made. These estimates, judgarehts
assumptions can affect the reported amounts ofsaard liabilities as of the date of the finansi@tements as well
as the reported amounts of revenues and expensag the periods presented. To the extent therenaterial
differences between these estimates, judgmentssorgtions and actual results, our consolidatexhiial
statements will be affected. In many cases, thewatting treatment of a particular transaction iscéfically dictatec
by GAAP and does not require management’s judginetg application. There are also areas in which
management’s judgment in selecting among availalbéenatives would not produce a materially différeesult.

Revenue Recognition

We derive revenues from the following sources:s@jware, which includes new software license afthsare
license updates and product support revenues 2arsgivices, which include consulting, On Demand @tlucation
revenues.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2009

New software license revenues represent fees efnaradgranting customers licenses to use our datg
middleware and applications software, and excledemues derived from software license updates,hndrie
included in software license updates and prodympet revenues. While the basis for software lieerevenue
recognition is substantially governed by the priovis of Statement of Position No. 97Shftware Revenue
Recognitior(SOP 97-2)jssued by the American Institute of Certified Pal#liccountants, we exercise judgment
use estimates in connection with the determinatfdhe amount of software and services revenubég t@cognized
in each accounting period.

For software license arrangements that do not regignificant modification or customization of thederlying
software, we recognize new software license revemiben: (1) we enter into a legally binding arrangat with a
customer for the license of software; (2) we delie products; (3) customer payment is deemedi fote
determinable and free of contingencies or signifiamcertainties; and (4) collection is probablgb&antially all of
our new software license revenues are recognizédsmanner.

The vast majority of our software license arrangaiménclude software license updates and prodygiat
contracts, which are entered into at the custonogat®n and are recognized ratably over the terthef
arrangement, typically one year. Software licensgéates provide customers with rights to unspec#igftivare
product upgrades, maintenance releases and pa&thased during the term of the support perioddéebsupport
includes internet access to technical content,edkas internet and telephone access to technipglast personnel.
Software license updates and product support cisteae generally priced as a percentage of theevetsoftware
license fees. Substantially all of our customensipase both software license updates and prodppbsucontracts
when they acquire new software licenses. In addiobstantially all of our customers renew theftvgare license
updates and product support contracts annually.

Many of our software arrangements include consyllimplementation services sold separately undeswting
engagement contracts. Consulting revenues frone thieangements are generally accounted for sepafisten new
software license revenues because the arrangemeadify as services transactions as defined in SBR. The
more significant factors considered in determinirigether the revenues should be accounted for depanaclude
the nature of services (i.e., consideration of Wwhethe services are essential to the functionafitye licensed
product), degree of risk, availability of servidesm other vendors, timing of payments and impdchibestones or
acceptance criteria on the realizability of thetwafe license fee. Revenues for consulting senacegenerally
recognized as the services are performed. If tisesiesignificant uncertainty about the project ctatipn or receipt
of payment for the consulting services, revenuedeferred until the uncertainty is sufficientlgotved. We
estimate the proportional performance on contraits fixed or “not to exceed” fees on a monthly isastilizing
hours incurred to date as a percentage of totmhattd hours to complete the project. If we dohrte a sufficient
basis to measure progress towards completion, vegeare recognized when we receive final accepfaocethe
customer. When total cost estimates exceed reveweesccrue for the estimated losses immediatehgu=ost
estimates that are based upon an average fullyehadidaily rate applicable to the consulting orggtion
delivering the services. The complexity of therastion process and factors relating to the assomgptirisks and
uncertainties inherent with the application of gineportional performance method of accounting a$félte amount
of revenues and related expenses reported in msotidated financial statements. A number of irdaéemd extern:
factors can affect our estimates, including lalates, utilization and efficiency variances and Hpation and
testing requirement changes.

If an arrangement does not qualify for separateanting of the software license and consultinggeations, then
new software license revenues are generally rezedribgether with the consulting services basecbotract
accounting using either the percentage-of-compiatiocompleted-contract method. Contract accourisiragpplied
to any bundled software and services arrangemgtghat include milestones or customer specifaeatance
criteria that may affect collection of the softwédicense fees; (2) where services include signiicaodification or
customization of the software; (3) where significaonsulting services are provided for in the
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ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2009

software license contract without additional chavgare substantially discounted; or (4) wheresibféware license
payment is tied to the performance of consultingises.

On Demand is comprised of Oracle On Demand and Aache Customer Services. Oracle On Demand provides
multi-featured software and hardware managementraidtenance services for our database, middlearadte
applications software. Advanced Customer Servioesists of solution lifecycle management servidesabase ar
application management services, industry-spesiflation support centers and remote and on-siterésprvices.
Revenues from On Demand services are recognizediueéerm of the service period, which is gengraite year
or less.

Education revenues include instructor-led, medisetdaand internet-based training in the use of oodlyrts.
Education revenues are recognized as the classgesreducation offerings are delivered.

For arrangements with multiple elements, we allcavenues to each element of a transaction basedits fair
value as determined by “vendor specific objectivielence.” Vendor specific objective evidence of falue for all
elements of an arrangement is based upon the n@noalg and discounting practices for those prasland
services when sold separately and for softwaredieaipdates and product support services is alasured by the
renewal rate offered to the customer. We may madlifiypricing practices in the future, which coudgdult in
changes in our vendor specific objective eviderfdaiovalue for these undelivered elements. Assult, our future
revenue recognition for multiple element arranget:eould differ significantly from our historicasults.

For software license arrangements that includevans, software and services, and the software e than
incidental to the multiple element arrangement,fmitessential to the functionality of the hardwave apply the
guidance of Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) I$med3-5,Applicability of AICPA Statement of Position
97-2 to Non-Software Deliverables in an Arrangem@amtaining More-Than-Incidental Softwarevhich allows
the non-software elements and related services twbounted for pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting

Bulletin No. 104 Revenue Recognitiditopic 13), and EITF 00-2Revenue Arrangements with Multiple
Deliverables, and the software license and related services taccounted for pursuant to SOP 97-2.

We defer revenues for any undelivered elementsregmhnize revenues when the product is deliverewer the
period in which the service is performed, in acamak with our revenue recognition policy for sutghment. If we
cannot objectively determine the fair value of amyglelivered element included in bundled softwar service
arrangements, we defer revenue until all elememtsi@livered and services have been performedtdrfair value
can objectively be determined for any remainingalivéred elements. When the fair value of a deidezlement
has not been established, we use the residual ch&gtrecord revenue if the fair value of all undeted elements is
determinable. Under the residual method, the falmer of the undelivered elements is deferred aaddmaining
portion of the arrangement fee is allocated todiblevered elements and is recognized as revenues.

Substantially all of our software license arrangetselo not include acceptance provisions. Howefatceptance
provisions exist as part of public policy, for exalmin agreements with government entities wherptzace
periods are required by law, or within previouskgeuted terms and conditions that are referencéukicurrent
agreement and are short-term in nature, we gepeemlbgnize revenues upon delivery provided theptance
terms are perfunctory and all other revenue redimgnériteria have been met. If acceptance prowisare not
perfunctory (for example, acceptance provisions dina long-term in nature or are not included aadard terms of
an arrangement), revenues are recognized uporatheref receipt of written customer acceptancexgpiration of
the acceptance period.

We also evaluate arrangements with governmentaiesntontaining “fiscal funding” or “terminatiorof
convenience” provisions, when such provisions ageired by law, to determine the probability of gibke
cancellation. We consider multiple factors, inchglthe history with the customer in similar trartgats, the
“essential use” of the software licenses and thamhg, budgeting and approval processes undertakére
governmental entity. If we determine upon executibthese arrangements that the likelihood of cliatien is
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remote, we then recognize revenues once all ofriteria described above have been met. If suakterchination
cannot be made, revenues are recognized upontie ehcash receipt or approval of the applicdbileding
provision by the governmental entity.

We assess whether fees are fixed or determinathe ditme of sale and recognize revenues if akkiothvenue
recognition requirements are met. Our standard payterms are net 30; however, terms may vary basekde
country in which the agreement is executed. Paysbiat are due within six months are generally dekta be
fixed or determinable based on our successful citle history on such arrangements, and thereligfgahe
required criteria for revenue recognition.

While most of our arrangements include short-teaynpent terms, we have a standard practice of prayidng-
term financing to creditworthy customers through fimancing division. Since fiscal 1989, when oumahcing
division was formed, we have established a histbigollection, without concessions, on these reaials with
payment terms that generally extend up to five yéam the contract date. Provided all other reeemecognition
criteria have been met, we recognize new softweease revenues for these arrangements upon delivetrof any
payment discounts from financing transactions. \&eetgenerally sold receivables financed throughfioancing
division on a non-recourse basis to third partgficing institutions and we classify the proceedmfthese sales as
cash flows from operating activities in our condated statements of cash flows. In fiscal 2009820t 2007,
$1.4 billion, $1.1 billion, and $891 million or amximately 19%, 15% and 15%, respectively, of cenwrsoftware
license revenues were financed through our fingndivision. We account for the sale of these remlglips as “true
sales” as defined in FASB Statement No. 1A&;ounting for Transfers and Servicing of Finandakets and
Extinguishments of Liabilitie:

Our customers include several of our suppliers@ntare occasion, we have purchased goods or ssrfac our
operations from these vendors at or about the smmecthat we have licensed our software to theseessompanies
(Concurrent Transactions). Software license agreésrtbat occur within a three-month time periodrfrthe date
we have purchased goods or services from that sastemer are reviewed for appropriate accountieattnent an
disclosure. When we acquire goods or services Ea@mstomer, we negotiate the purchase separatetydny
software license transaction, at terms we condalbe at arns length, and settle the purchase in cash. We nize
new software license revenues from Concurrent Betiens if all of our revenue recognition critesige met and tr
goods and services acquired are necessary fouotent operations.

Business Combinations

Fiscal 2009 and Prior Periods

We determine and allocate the purchase price atguoired company to the tangible and intangibletasscquired
and liabilities assumed as well as to in-processarch and development as of the business condnradie in
accordance with FASB Statement No. 1Baisiness CombinationsThe purchase price allocation process requires
us to use significant estimates and assumptiookdmg fair value estimates, as of the businesshination date
including:

« estimated fair values of stock awards assumed thenacquiree that are included in the purchaseg
« estimated fair values of intangible assets acqui@d the acquiree
« estimated fair values of software license updatesproduct support obligations assumed from theliees;

« estimated value of restructuring liabilities to ngmnize the acquiree’s pre-acquisition operations i
accordance with EITF 95-Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a Bhase Business Combination
(EITF 95-3);

» estimated income tax assets and liabilities ass’dmetdthe acquiree; ar

« estimated fair value of g-acquisition contingencies assumed from the acqt
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While we use our best estimates and assumptioagpad of the purchase price allocation processtorately
value assets acquired and liabilities assumededbikiness combination date, our estimates andhasisns are
inherently uncertain and subject to refinementaAssult, during the purchase price allocationqeenivhich may b
up to one year from the business combination aegeecord adjustments to the assets acquired abidities
assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodWiiith the exception of unresolved income tax mattar
decreases to estimated restructuring liabilities record adjustments to assets acquired or ligsil#ssumed
subsequent to the purchase price allocation pémiodr operating results in the period in which #uustments
were determined.

Fiscal 2010

In fiscal 2010, we will adopt and account for oagaisitions, including our pending acquisition ainS
Microsystems, Inc. (see Note 2), in accordance WRBB Statement No. 141 (revised 20B\)siness
Combinations and related position. Pursuant to Statement 1Y éRquisition method of accounting, we will
recognize separately from goodwill, the identifabksets acquired, the liabilities assumed, anchangontrolling
interests in an acquiree, generally at the acdpisdate fair value as defined by FASB Statement1%d,Fair
Value MeasurementsGoodwill as of the acquisition date is measuretha excess of consideration transferred,
which is also generally measured at fair value, thechet of the acquisition date amounts of thetiflable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed.

The acquisition method requires us to use sigmifiestimates and assumptions, including fair vektenates, as of
the business combination date and to refine themates, as necessary, during the measurementigdefined as
the period, not to exceed one year, in which we adjyst the provisional amounts recognized for sirimss
combination) in a manner that is generally simitathat under Statement 141 (see above). The additpolicies
that we will adopt in order to account for, andiscdssion of the impact of, the more significargsar of Statement
141(R) that we expect will affect our consolidatedncial statements are provided below.

Upon our adoption of Statement 141(R), any chaitgegferred tax asset valuation allowances anditiab relatec
to uncertain tax positions will be recorded in eatrperiod income tax expense, unless any suclyekare
identified during the measurement period and ratateew information obtained about facts and cirstamces that
existed as of the acquisition date, in which casechange is considered a measurement period edjusand is
recorded to goodwill. Upon our adoption of Statetdetl(R) in fiscal 2010, this requirement is apglie to all of
our acquisitions regardless of the acquisition .date

Statement 141(R) requires that acquired compariguctgring activities initiated by us must be acctmd for
separately from the business combination in acemelavith FASB Statement No. 14&ccounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activiti. We accounted for our Oracl&sed restructuring activities in accorde
with Statement 146 for fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2@dtement 146 requires that a liability for a @sstociated with
an exit or disposal activity be recognized and messinitially at its fair value in the period irhich the liability is
incurred. In order to incur a liability pursuant$tatement 146, our management must have estabbstteapprove
a plan of restructuring in sufficient detail. ABidity for a cost associated with involuntary temaiion benefits is
recorded when benefits have been communicated babilty for a cost to terminate an operatingdear other
contract is incurred when the contract has beemnitated in accordance with the contract terms ohawe ceased
using the right conveyed by the contract, suchazating a leased facility. Changes in estimatescésgd with
liabilities recognized for restructuring plans pémtng to acquisitions completed prior to fiscall@0will continue to
be accounted for pursuant to those accounting atdadind descriptions provided above.

Upon our adoption of Statement 141(R), we will mglccosts incurred to effect an acquisition to tbguasition
related and other line in our consolidated statéraEaperations as the expenses are incurred.
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Upon our adoption of Statement 141(R), should tiiteal accounting for a business combination be@mplete by
the end of a reporting period that falls within theasurement period, we will report the provisicarabunts for
such items in our consolidated financial statemddtsing the measurement period, we will adjustghavisional
amounts recognized at the acquisition date toaeflew information obtained about facts and circamses that
existed as of the acquisition date that, if knowauld have affected the measurement of the amoentgnized as
of that date and we will record those adjustmemsur consolidated financial statements. Those uoreasent perio
adjustments that we determine to be significantlvalapplied retrospectively to comparative infotimain our
consolidated financial statements, including adjgstts to depreciation, amortization, or other ineaffects
recognized in the initial accounting.

Our adoption of Statement 141(R) in fiscal 2010 whlange how we account for the aforementionedsarea
comparison to how these areas are currently aceddat pursuant to Statement 141 and related a¢icgun
guidance. Our accounting for deferred tax assefati@in allowances and uncertain tax position litied,
restructuring liabilities and costs incurred toeeffan acquisition will generally result in theaeting of expense to
our operations as these expenses are incurredcdihisasts with how we account for these itemsyamsto
Statement 141 and related accounting guidancedalf009 and prior periods, which generally regjthiat these
items be included as a part of the purchase pliceagion for the business combination and gengiddl not impact
our expenses or results of operations. As a resalgxpect that we will incur additional restruatgy, income tax
and acquisition related and other expenses fopawgpective acquisitions that we consummate, inatudur
proposed acquisition of Sun (see Note 2). The amaénmng and frequency of such expenses are diffto predict
and could materially affect our results of openagiand financial position. Additionally, we expétat changes in
estimates of deferred tax asset valuation allowaaoé uncertain tax position liabilities assumedriracquisition
that occurred prior to the adoption of Statemerif(R3 will be accounted for as a current period inedax expense
if we do not believe any new information obtainéathe acquisition date about facts and circunsta existed as
of the acquisition date or was not identified witltihe measurement period.

Marketable and Non-Marketable Securities

In accordance with FASB Statement No. 1A8counting for Certain Investments in Debt and BgB8ecuritiesand
based on our intentions regarding these instrumemlassify substantially all of our marketab&btiand equity
securities as available-for-sale. Marketable debtequity securities are reported at fair valugh\ail unrealized
gains (losses) reflected net of tax in stockholdegsity. If we determine that an investment hastoer than
temporary decline in fair value, we recognize tineestment loss in non-operating income, net iret@mmpanying
consolidated statements of operations. We peritidieaaluate our investments to determine if impent charges
are required.

We hold investments in certain non-marketable ggéturities in which we do not have a controliimigrest or
significant influence. These equity securitiesraeorded at cost and included in other assetsiaticompanying
consolidated balance sheets. Our non-marketablgiSes are subject to periodic impairment reviewsl we had
nominal impairment losses related to moarketable equity securities and other investmierfiscal 2009, 2008 ar
2007.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We apply the provisions of FASB Statement No. Fair Value Measurementsand related FASB Staff Positions
(described below) to our financial instruments thatare required to carry at fair value pursuarther accounting
standards, including our marketable debt and egeaityrities and our derivative financial instrunseftte have not
applied the fair value option to those financiatinments that we are not required to carry atMale pursuant to
other accounting standards, including our senitesioutstanding.
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Based on the trading prices of our $10.25 billiod &11.25 billion senior notes outstanding as of/ /@4, 2009 and
2008, respectively, and the interest rates we cobddin for other borrowings with similar termsladse dates, the
estimated fair value of our borrowings at May 3002 and 2008 was $10.79 billion and $11.26 billi@spectively

The additional disclosures regarding our fair vaheasurements are included in Note 4.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

We record allowances for doubtful accounts baseuh@gpspecific review of all significant outstandingoices. For
those invoices not specifically reviewed, provisi@re provided at differing rates, based upon g¢jeecd the
receivable, the collection history associated whthgeographic region that the receivable was datbin and
current economic trends.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that are potentially subjeaoncentrations of credit risk consist primaofycash and cash
equivalents, marketable securities and trade rabtg. Our cash and cash equivalents are genbsdtlywith a
number of large, diverse financial institutions ldaride to reduce the amount of exposure to anylsifigancial
institution. Investment policies have been impletedrthat limit purchases of marketable debt saesrib
investment grade securities. We do not requireaterthl to secure accounts receivable. The risk regpect to trade
receivables is mitigated by credit evaluations wegrm on our customers, the short duration ofgayment terms
for the significant majority of our customer comttsaand by the diversification of our customer basesingle
customer accounted for 10% or more of our totatneres in fiscal 2009, 2008 or 2007.

Other Receivables

Other receivables represent value-added tax ard &at receivables associated with the sale ofvaodtand
services to third parties. Other receivables ackided in prepaid expenses and other current aissets
consolidated balance sheets and totaled $555 mdlia $672 million at May 31, 2009 and 2008, resSpely.

Property

Property is stated at the lower of cost or realzahlue, net of accumulated depreciation. Deptiecias computed
using the straight-line method based on estimaseflllives of the assets, which range from onftipyears.
Leasehold improvements are amortized over theredsstimated useful lives or lease terms, as@pjate.
Property is periodically reviewed for impairmenteviever events or changes in circumstances indicatehe
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoversidedid not recognize any significant property impeent
charges in fiscal 2009, 2008 or 2007.

Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Impairment Assessnmgs

Gooduwill represents the excess of the purchase pria business combination over the fair valueatftangible an
intangible assets acquired. Intangible assetsatigatot considered to have an indefinite usefaldife amortized
over their useful lives, which range from one to years. Each period we evaluate the estimatedimergauseful
life of purchased intangible assets and whethentsva@ changes in circumstances warrant a revisitime
remaining period of amortization.

The carrying amounts of these assets are peribdiealiewed for impairment (at least annually faoglwill) and
whenever events or changes in circumstances irdibat the carrying value of these assets mayeaotdoverable.
The goodwill impairment analysis is comprised obtsteps. In the first step, we compare the fawealf each
reporting unit to its carrying value. Our reportimgits are consistent with the reportable segmidetsified in
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Note 15 below. If the fair value of the reporting uniiceeds the carrying value of the net assets asbigrthat unit
goodwill is not considered impaired and we arerequired to perform further testing. If the cargyivalue of the
net assets assigned to the reporting unit excéedsir value of the reporting unit, then we mustfprm the second
step of the impairment test in order to determireeimplied fair value of the reporting unit's goatwif the

carrying value of a reporting unit’s goodwill exdsdts implied fair value, then we would recordimpairment loss
equal to the difference. Recoverability of intangiassets is measured by comparison of the cararmgunt of eac
asset to the future undiscounted cash flows thet &sgxpected to generate. If the asset is corezide be impaired,
the amount of any impairment is measured as tlierdifice between the carrying value and the fairevaF the
impaired asset. We did not recognize any goodwilhtangible asset impairment charges in fiscalR@D08 or
2007.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We hold derivative financial instruments to man&meign currency and interest rate risks. We actéanthese
instruments in accordance with FASB Statement 188, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities, as amended, which requires that every derivatisttument be recorded on the balance sheet as @ith
asset or liability measured at its fair value athefreporting date. Statement 133 also requirgsctianges in our
derivatives’ fair values be recognized in earningdess specific hedge accounting and documentatiteria are
met (i.e. the instruments are accounted for asd®dyVe record the effective portions of the gaitoss on
derivative financial instruments that are desigdate cash flow hedges or net investment hedgescimaulated
other comprehensive income in the accompanyingatigiaged balance sheets. Any ineffective or exatupertion
of a designated cash flow hedge or net investmeagé is recognized in earnings.

We adopted the disclosure requirements of FASBe8tant No. 161Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities, an amendment of FASB Stated®3), as of December 1, 2008 and have provided these
disclosures for fiscal 2009 in Note 10.

Legal Contingencies

We are currently involved in various claims andalggroceedings. Quarterly, we review the statusagh
significant matter and assess our potential firereiposure. If the potential loss from any claintegal proceedin
is considered probable and the amount can be rebloestimated, we accrue a liability for the estied loss.

Foreign Currency

We transact business in various foreign currendgiiegeneral, the functional currency of a foreigretion is the
local country’s currency. Consequently, revenuasexpenses of operations outside the United Staesanslated
into U.S. Dollars using weighted average exchaatgsrwhile assets and liabilities of operationsidetthe

United States are translated into U.S. Dollarsgisixchange rates at the balance sheet date. Tewsefff foreign
currency translation adjustments are includedanlgtolders’ equity as a component of accumulatbdrot
comprehensive income in the accompanying conselithalance sheets. Foreign currency transactiseg$) gain
net which include the effects of our derivativeafitial instruments, are included in noperating income, net in o
consolidated statements of operations and weré $¢8kon, $40 million and $45 million in fiscal Z®, 2008 and
2007, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for share-based payments, includingtgfremployee stock awards and purchases unddogeep
stock purchase plans, in accordance with FASB Siané No. 123 (revised 2004hare-Based Paymenthich
requires that share-based payments (to the exteptare compensatory) be recognized in our coregelit
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statements of operations based on their fair vadnesthe estimated number of shares we ultimatglga will vest
In addition, we have applied certain of the prawisi of the SEC’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 10opic 14), as
amended, in our accounting for Statement 123(R)r&%¥egnize stock-based compensation expense oaighst
line basis over the service period of the awardckvis generally four years. The fair value of threvested portion
of share-based payments granted prior to June(B @ur adoption date of Statement 123(R)) is ratzegl using
the accelerated expense attribution method, nestorhated forfeitures.

We record deferred tax assets for stbalsed awards that result in deductions on our iec@xreturns based on i
amount of stockkased compensation recognized and the statutonatevin the jurisdiction in which we will recei
a tax deduction.

Advertising

All advertising costs are expensed as incurred efliiing expenses, which are included within saled marketing
expenses, were $71 million, $81 million and $91liomlin fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Research and Development

All research and development costs are expenset@sed. Costs eligible for capitalization und&x3B Statemen
No. 86,Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software t&Blel, Leased, or Otherwise Marketedere not
material to our consolidated financial statememtfsical 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Acquisition Related and Other Expenses

Acquisition related and other expenses consist-girocess research and development expenses, pelselated
costs for transitional and other employees, statded compensation expenses, integration relatéesgional
services, certain business combination adjustnadtesthe purchase price allocation period has @&naled certain
other operating expenses (income), net. Stoaded compensation included in acquisition relatetiother expens
resulted from unvested options assumed from adguisiwhere vesting was accelerated upon terminatidhe
employees pursuant to the original terms of thqe®ns.

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2009 2008 2007
In-process research and developn $ 1C $ 24 $ 151
Transitional and other employee related ¢ 45 32 24
Stocl-based compensatic 15 112 9
Professional fees and other, 25 7 8
Business combination adjustme 22 6 (52
Gain on sale of proper — (57) —
Total acquisition related and other exper $117 $124 $ 14C

In fiscal 2008, we sold certain of our land anddings for $153 million in cash. Concurrent witletkale, we lease
the property back from the buyer for a period otaithree years. We have accounted for this traiosain
accordance with FASB Statement No. 28counting for Sales with Leasebac¢kASB Statement No. 66,
Accounting for Sales of Real Esti, and FASB Statement No. 98¢ccounting for Leases, et alle deferred

$19 million of the gain on the sale representirggghesent value of the operating lease commitmahtecognized
gain of approximately $57 million for fiscal 200Bhe deferred portion of the gain will be recognizsda reduction
of rent expense over the operating lease term.

In fiscal 2007, acquisition related and other exgesrincluded a benefit related to the settlemeatlafvsuit filed
against PeopleSoft, Inc. on behalf of the U.S. gavent. This lawsuit was filed in October 2003pptio our
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acquisition of PeopleSoft and represented aagrpiisition contingency that we identified and assd in connectic
with our acquisition of PeopleSoft. We settled thissuit in October 2006, which was subsequentégurchase
price allocation period, for approximately $98 ioifl. Accordingly, we included the difference betwéle amount
accrued as of the end of the purchase price aitotperiod and the settlement amount as a beweditit
consolidated statement of operations in fiscal 2007

Non-Operating Income, net

Non-operating income, net consists primarily of ingti@come, net foreign currency exchange gains¢®ys the
minority owners’ shares in the net profits of oujarity-owned subsidiaries (Oracle Financial SezgiSoftware
Limited, formerly i-flex solutions limited, and Gste Japan), and other income, net, including redtzed gains and
losses related to all of our investments and netalized gains and losses related to the smaliquoof our
investment portfolio that we classify as trading.

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2009 2008 2007
Interest incom: $27¢ $337 $29¢
Foreign currency (losses) gains, (55) 40 45
Minority interests in incom (84) (60) (72)
Other income, ne 3 67 86
Total nor-operating income, nt¢ $14: $384 $35¢

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with FA&Rement No. 10$ccounting for Income Taxe®eferred
income taxes are recorded for the expected taxecuesices of temporary differences between theasssbof
assets and liabilities for financial reporting pagps and amounts recognized for income tax purpdsesecord a
valuation allowance to reduce our deferred taxtageehe amount of future tax benefit that is mikely than not
to be realized.

On June 1, 2007, we adopted FASB Interpretationd8¢ Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Tax&$N 48), to
account for our uncertain tax positions. FIN 48tagrs a two-step approach to recognizing and mewsuncertain
tax positions taken or expected to be taken ixagtrn. The first step is to determine if the gigiof available
evidence indicates that it is more likely than tiatt the tax position will be sustained in an guditluding
resolution of any related appeals or litigationgasses. The second step is to measure the taxtlzntfe largest
amount that is more than 50% likely to be realiapdn ultimate settlement. We recognize interestmerdlties
related to uncertain tax positions in our provisionincome taxes line of our consolidated stateimehoperations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Transfers of Financial Assets: In June 2009, the FASB issued Statement No. Aé&ounting for Transfers of
Financial Assets, an amendment of FASB Statemerit4d. Statement 166 eliminates the concept of a “gyialif
special-purpose entityffom Statement 140 and changes the requirementefecognizing financial assets. We \
adopt Statement 166 in fiscal 2011 and are cuyrenthluating the impact of its pending adoptioroon
consolidated financial statements.

Variable Interest Entities: In June 2009, the FASB issued Statement No. ABigndments to FASB Interpretation
No. 46(R). Statement 167 amends the evaluation criteriddntify the primary beneficiary of a variable irgst
entity provided by FASB Interpretation No. 46(RJonsolidation of Variable Interest Entities—Arelpretation of
ARB No. 51. Additionally, Statement 167 requires ongoing seasments of whether an enterprise
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is the primary beneficiary of the variable interestity. We will adopt Statement 167 in fiscal 2Gi1d are currentl
evaluating the impact of its pending adoption onaansolidated financial statements.

Subsequent Events In May 2009, the FASB issued Statement No. Baffjsequent EventStatement

165 establishes general standards of accountirgniibdisclosure of events that occur after theno&laheet date
but before the financial statements are issuedeawaailable to be issued. We will adopt Statemiétin the first
quarter of fiscal 2010 and do not believe it wésult in significant changes to reporting of sulbset events either
through recognition or disclosure.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment of Debt Securitiestn April 2009, the FASB issued FASB Staff Pogitio

No. FAS 11-2 and FAS 124-ZRecognition and Presentation of Other-Than-TempotarpairmentsThis FASB
Staff Position amends the other-than-temporary impent accounting guidance for debt securitiess Staff
Position requires that other-than-temporary impairtrbe separated into the amount of the total impait related
to credit losses and the amount of the total inmpant related to all other factors. The amount efttital other-than-
temporary impairment related to credit lossesdésgaized in earnings and the amount related tothdér factors is
recognized in other comprehensive income. Thisf B@adition is effective for interim and annual rejptg periods
ending after June 15, 2009, with early adoptiomyged for periods ending after March 15, 2009. Wik adopt
FSP No. FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2 in our first quasfdiscal 2010 and do not believe it will havenaterial
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Fair Value Disclosures in Interim Reports: In April 2009, the FASB issued FASB Staff Positio

No. FAS 10-1 and APB 28-1interim Disclosures about Fair Value of FinanciaktrumentsThis Staff Position
amends FASB Statement No. 1@isclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instrunmo require disclosures
about fair value of financial instruments at interieporting periods. This Staff Position is effeetfor interim
reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009, wihy adoption permitted for periods ending aftersh 15, 2009
provided FSP No. FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2 (descriimn/e) are also early adopted. We will adopt FSP

No. FAS 10-1 in our first quarter of fiscal 2010 and do netieve it will have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

Equity Method Investment Accounting In November 2008, the FASB ratified EITF Issue R8-6,Equity
Method Investment Accounting Considerati. EITF 08-6 clarifies the accounting for certaiartsactions and
impairment considerations involving equity methodastments. EITF 08-6 is effective for fiscal yeleginning
after December 15, 2008, with early adoption priddib We do not currently have any investments ahat
accounted for under the equity method. As a resultadoption of EITF 08-6 in fiscal 2010 is nopegted to have
an impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Defensive Intangible Asset: In November 2008, the FASB ratified EITF No. 08A¢counting for Defensive
Intangible Asset. EITF 08-7 clarifies the accounting for certaipaetely identifiable intangible assets which an
acquirer does not intend to actively use but inseiachold to prevent its competitors from obtainaugess to them.
EITF 08-7 requires an acquirer in a business coatiain to account for a defensive intangible asset separate
unit of accounting which should be amortized toenge over the period the asset diminishes in valid: 08-7 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after Decemb®gy 2008, with early adoption prohibited. We wailopt

EITF 08-7 in fiscal 2010 and it could materiallyeadt how we account for certain identifiable intdilg assets that
we may acquire in connection with any future acdjoiss we complete and account for pursuant toegtant 141
(R), which could materially affect our consolidafathncial statements. Historically, we have gelerilized the
intangible assets we acquire as a part of our oggoperations subsequent to the acquisition date.

Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Ass& In April 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Positi-SP)
FAS 142-3 Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Atssd=SP FAS 142-3 amends the factors that should be
considered in developing renewal or extension apions used to determine the useful life of a redoed

intangible asset under FASB Statement No. Btdwill and Other Intangible AssetESP FAS 142-3 is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2808 early adoption is prohibited. We will adopt FSP

FAS 142-3 in fiscal 2010 and do not believe it vadlve a material impact on our consolidated firarstatements.
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Business Combinations In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement Kb (tevised 2007 Business
Combinations The standard changes the accounting for busgmsbinations including the measurement of
acquirer shares issued in consideration for a legsicombination, the recognition of contingent marstion, the
accounting for pre-acquisition gain and loss caygirties, the recognition of capitalized in-proaesearch and
development, the accounting for acquisition relagsdructuring liabilities, the treatment of acdfios related
transaction costs, and the accounting for incomeatuation allowances and other income tax unogis,
amongst other impacts. In April 2009, the FASB é&b&SP No. FAS 141(R)Accounting for Assets Acquired and
Liabilities Assumed in a Business Combinations Prage from Contingencie. FSP No. FAS 141(R)-amends an
clarifies the accounting for acquired contingeneied is effective upon the adoption of Statemed(R% We will
adopt Statement 141(R) and the related Staff Basiti fiscal 2010 and believe that the adoptioSt@itement 141
(R) will result in the recognition of certain typesexpenses in our results of operations that \weseiously
capitalized pursuant to pre-adoption accountingdaeds, amongst other potential impacts. A disoassf the more
significant items of Statement 141(R) that coulderially affect our consolidated financial statersesind our
accounting policy for these items is included im discussion of “Significant Accounting Policies—&ness
Combinations” above.

Accounting and Reporting of Noncontrolling Interest In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement Bl@, 1
Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financi&thtements, an amendment of ARB Nc. In fiscal 2010, we
will adopt Statement 160 and generally believeilit mot materially affect our consolidated finaniciatements.
Upon our adoption of Statement 160, we will retexgjvely classify noncontrolling (minority) inteitgsositions of
consolidated entities as a separate componentnsbtiidated stockholders’ equity from the equityibtitable to
Oracle’s stockholders for all periods presented.ifeome and comprehensive income will be attriduteOracle
stockholders and the noncontrolling interests.dditégon, Statement 160 requires that any changeifrownership
of a majority-owned subsidiary be prospectivelyasted for as an equity transaction provided thatetain
control of the subsidiary. This requirement is arae to current practice whereby gains or lossgsheaecognized
on the sales of our interests in a subsidiary,riigas of whether we maintain control. While we daot recognize
any material gains or losses on such ownership sllgng fiscal 2009, 2008 or 2007, the timing antbunt of any
future gains or losses on sales of our ownersh@rests in our subsidiaries could be materiallg@#d as a result
our fiscal 2010 adoption of Statement 160.

Fair Value Measurements: In September 2006, the FASB issued StatemeniBlgFair Value Measurements.
Statement 157 defines fair value, establishearadwork for measuring fair value and expandsvalne
measurement disclosures. In February 2008, the H88Ed FASB Staff Position No. FAS 157Ahplication of
FASB Statement No. 157 to FASB Statement No. 1@ Accounting Pronouncements That Address Value
Measurements for Purposes of Lease Classificatidvieasurement under Statementand FASB Staff Position
No. FAS 15-2, Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 1&bllectively, the Staff Positions defer the effee date
of Statement 157 to fiscal years beginning aftevéxiaber 15, 2008 for nonfinancial assets and nonéiad
liabilities except for items that are recognizedisiclosed at fair value on a recurring basis agtlannually, and
amend the scope of Statement 157. In October 2088;ASB issued FASB Staff Position FAS 15D&termining
the Fair Value of a Financial Asset When the MafkefThat Asset Is Not Activevhich clarified the application of
how the fair value of a financial asset is deteediwvhen the market for that financial asset istimacFSP
No. FAS 15-3 was effective upon issuance, including prioiigus for which financial statements had not been
issued. In April 2009, the FASB issued FASB Staffidlon No. FAS 157-4Determining Fair Value When the
Volume and Level of Activity for the Asset or LliabHave Significantly Decreased and Identifyingfisactions
That Are Not OrderlyFSP FAS 157-4 amends Statement 157 to provideiadalitguidance on determining fair
value when the volume and level of activity for Heset or liability have significantly decreasedewltompared
with normal market activity for the asset or lidyil FSP FAS 157-4 is effective for interim and aahreporting
periods ending after June 15, 2009 with early ddogtermitted for periods ending after March 15020As
described in Note 4, we have adopted Statemenai8the related FASB staff positions except for FSP
No. FAS 15-4 and those items specifically deferred under RBPFAS 157-2. We do not believe the full
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adoption of Statement 157 and related FASB StadftPos in fiscal 2010 will have a material affect our
consolidated financial statements.

2. ACQUISITIONS
Proposed Acquisition of Sun Microsystems, Inc. an®thers

On April 19, 2009, we entered into an Agreement Rlach of Merger (Merger Agreement) with Sun Micrstgyns,
Inc. (Sun), a provider of enterprise computing eys, software and services. Pursuant to the Méngerement,
our wholly owned subsidiary will merge with andarBun and Sun will become a wholly owned subsididiry
Oracle. Upon the consummation of the merger, ehahesof Sun common stock will be converted intortghkt to
receive $9.50 in cash. In addition, options to @&g8un common stock, Sun restricted stock unitrdsvand other
equity-based awards denominated in shares of Sumon stock outstanding immediately prior to the
consummation of the merger will generally be cotecinto options, restricted stock unit awardstheo equity-
based awards, as the case may be, denominatedrasgf Oracle common stock based on formulas teatan the
Merger Agreement. The estimated total purchase @fiSun is approximately $7.4 billion.

The Merger Agreement contains certain terminatights for both Sun and Oracle and further provithas, upon
termination of the Merger Agreement under cert@icuenstances, Sun may be obligated to pay Oratdengination
fee of $260 million.

This transaction is subject to Sun stockholder aygdr regulatory clearance under the Hart-ScottiRmdntitrust
Improvements Act of 1976, the applicable mergetrmbhaws of the European Commission and othesglictions,
and other customary closing conditions.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, we agreeddaquire certain other companies for amounts tlehat material to
our business. We expect these transactions to itldke first quarter of fiscal 2010.

Fiscal 2009 Acquisitions

During fiscal 2009, we acquired several companigsurchased certain technology and developmesatsass
primarily to expand our product offerings. Thesquasitions were not individually significant. Wevwincluded th
financial results of these companies in our fiH9 consolidated results from their respectivausitipn dates. In
the aggregate, the total purchase price for thegeisitions was approximately $1.2 billion, whiatnsisted of
$1.2 billion in cash, $1 million for the fair valué stock awards assumed and $13 million for tretisa costs. In
allocating the total purchase price for these asitjons based on estimated fair values, we prelmiynrecorded
$712 million of goodwill, $587 million of identifiale intangible assets, $100 million of net tangii@bilities
(resulting primarily from deferred tax and resturatg liabilities assumed as a part of these tretimas) and

$10 million of in-process research and developmiEme. preliminary allocations of the various pur@hpsces were
based upon preliminary valuations and our estimatelsassumptions are subject to change. The priarans of th
purchase price allocations that were not yet feealirelate to certain restructuring liabilitiegaimgible assets, legal
matters, income and non-income based taxes artletgjoodwill.

Fiscal 2008 Acquisitions
BEA Systems, Inc

We acquired BEA Systems, Inc. on April 29, 200&tsans of a merger of one of our wholly-owned subgieks
with and into BEA such that BEA became a wholly-edrsubsidiary of Oracle. We acquired BEA to, amotigr
things, expand our offering of middleware produt¥& have included the financial results of BEA ur o
consolidated financial results effective April 2908.
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The total purchase price for BEA was $8.6 billiohieh consisted of $8.3 billion in cash paid to dogthe
outstanding common stock of BEA, $225 million foetfair value of BEA options assumed and restristedk
awards exchanged and $10 million for acquisitidategl transaction costs. In allocating the purcheie based on
estimated fair values, we recorded approximatel$ $4lion of goodwill, $3.3 billion of identifiald intangible
assets, $703 million of net tangible assets and§illibn of in-process research and development.

Other Fiscal 2008 Acquisitions

During fiscal 2008, we acquired several other camgmand purchased certain technology and develapassets.
Our fiscal 2008 acquisitions, other than BEA, weog significant individually or in the aggregateeWave include
the effects of these transactions in our resultspefrations prospectively from the respective datébe
acquisitions.

Fiscal 2007 Acquisitions
Hyperion Solutions Corporatior

On April 13, 2007, we acquired majority ownershfgHyperion Solutions Corporation by means of a dastier
offer and, subsequently, completed a merger of Hgpeavith one of our wholly owned subsidiaries sticat
Hyperion became a wholly owned subsidiary of Oraciedpril 19, 2007. We acquired Hyperion to expauod
offerings of enterprise performance managementbasthess intelligence software solutions.

The total purchase price for Hyperion was $3.2dillwhich consisted of approximately $3.1 billiondash paid to
acquire the outstanding common stock of Hyperi&d, fillion for the fair value of Hyperion optionssumed and
restricted stock awards exchanged and $21 milboraEquisition related transaction costs. In aliocpthe purchas
price based on estimated fair values, we recorgpcbaimately $1.6 billion of goodwill, $1.5 billioof identifiable
intangible assets, $118 million of net tangiblectssnd $56 million of in-process research and ldpweent.

Oracle Financial Services Software Limited (OFSS)

During fiscal 2007, we acquired interests in araéased our ownership of OFSS, formerly i-flex Sohs limited,
by means of share purchase agreements, an operncoéfiequire shares and open market purchasescuéred a
majority ownership in OFSS to expand our offerin§software solutions and services to the finameéasices
industry.

Our cumulative investment in OFSS as of May 31,98@s approximately $2.1 billion, which consistéd o
approximately $2.0 billion of cash paid for commstack and $17 million in transaction costs and o&xpenses.
Our cumulative investment in OFSS has been allddat®©FSS’s net tangible and identifiable intangiktsets
based on their estimated fair values as of theetiye dates of acquisition of the interests. Thigomity interest in
the net assets of OFSS has been recorded at tadtibdiok values. In allocating the purchase prieerecorded
approximately $1.6 billion of goodwill, $266 milloof identifiable intangible assets, $211 millidmet tangible
assets and $46 million of in-process research amdldpment.

Other Fiscal 2007 Acquisitions

During fiscal 2007, in addition to our acquisitioofsHyperion and OFSS, we also acquired severapemies and
purchased certain technology and development asseipand our product offerings. We have inclutted
financial results of these companies in our fig207 consolidated results from their respectiveusitipn dates. In
the aggregate, the total purchase price for thegeisitions was approximately $1.3 billion, whiatnsisted of
approximately $1.2 billion in cash, $46 million fibve fair value of stock awards assumed, and $8omifor
acquisition related transaction costs. In allogathe total purchase price for these acquisitiaset on their fair
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values, we recorded $561 million of goodwill, $5%8lion of identifiable intangible assets, $106 lwih of net
tangible assets and $49 million of in-process me$eand development.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The unaudited pro forma financial information i tlable below summarizes the combined results efatipns for
Oracle, BEA and certain other companies that weliaed since the beginning of fiscal 2008 (which ever
collectively significant for purposes of unauditg forma financial information disclosure) as tgbuhe
companies were combined as of the beginning oc&lfi2808. The pro forma financial information fol périods
presented also includes the business combinatimuating effects resulting from these acquisitiorsuding
amortization charges from acquired intangible asstbdck-based compensation charges for unvegieki stvards
assumed, adjustments to interest expense for bimgevand the related tax effects as though theeafentioned
companies were combined as of the beginning c&lfi2808. The pro forma financial information asgeneted
below is for informational purposes only and is imalicative of the results of operations that woluéde been
achieved if the acquisitions and any borrowingseautaken to finance these acquisitions had takere@athe
beginning of fiscal 2008.

The unaudited pro forma financial information feachl 2009 combined the historical results of Qraid certain
other companies that we acquired since the begimfifiscal 2009 (which were collectively signifitafor purpose
of unaudited pro forma financial information disslioe) based upon their respective previous rempptamiods and
the dates that these companies were acquired andshe effects of the pro forma adjustmentsdisteove.

The unaudited pro forma financial information feachl 2008 combined the historical results of Gedol fiscal
2008 and the historical results of BEA for the elevwnonths ended April 29, 2008, and the historiesililts of
certain other companies that we acquired sincéelginning of fiscal 2008 (which were collectivelgrficant for
purposes of unaudited pro forma financial informatilisclosure) based upon their respective previgpsrting
periods and the dates these companies were acdpyinesl and the effects of the pro forma adjustsbsited above
The unaudited pro forma financial information wadalows for fiscal 2009 and 2008:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data 2009 2008

Total revenue $ 23,37: $ 24,18!
Net income $ 557¢ $ 5,16(
Basic earnings per she $ 11C $ 1.0
Diluted earnings per sha $ 10¢ $ 0.9¢

3. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of digpbeld at major banks, money market funds, Tieommercia
paper, U.S. Treasury obligations, U.S. governmgahay and government sponsored enterprise obligatand
other securities with original maturities of 90 day less. Marketable securities primarily consfdime deposits
held at major banks, Tier-1 commercial paper, caj@onotes, U.S. Treasury obligations and U.S. gowent
agency and government sponsored enterprise dagatbhs.

The amortized principal amounts of our cash, caglivalents and marketable securities approximdten fair
values at May 31, 2009 and 2008. We use the spedéntification method to determine any realizathg or losse
from the sale of our marketable securities clasgifis available-for-sale. Such realized gains asgtEk were
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insignificant for fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007. Th#dwing table summarizes the components of ouh eagiivalent
and marketable securities held, substantiallyfalflich were classified as available-for-sale:

May 31,
(in millions) 2009 2008
Money market fund $ 467 $1,05¢
U.S. Treasury, U.S. government and U.S. governmgency debt securitic 4,07¢ 1,15¢
Commercial paper, corporate debt securities aner 2,70C 3,06¢
Total investment $7,24t $5,28¢
Investments classified as cash equival $3,61€¢ $2,50¢
Investments classified as marketable secut $3,62¢ $2,78]

Substantially all of our marketable security inveshts held as of May 31, 2009 mature within one.y@ar
investment portfolio is subject to market risk daehanges in interest rates. We place our invagsneith high
credit quality issuers as described above andpbygyp limit the amount of credit exposure to amedssuer. As
stated in our investment policy, we are averseiticipal loss and seek to preserve our invested<iny limiting
default risk, market risk and reinvestment risk.

4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

On June 1, 2008, we adopted FASB Statement No.F&i7Value Measurementnd subsequently adopted certain
related FASB Staff Positions. The adoption of Steet 157 and related positions did not have a riaghierpact on
our consolidated financial statements. StatementdEfines fair value as the price that would beirgd from

selling an asset or paid to transfer a liabilittamorderly transaction between market participahtee measureme
date. When determining the fair value measurenfentsssets and liabilities required to be recoralefir value, w
consider the principal or most advantageous mankehich we would transact and consider assumptioats

market participants would use when pricing the tagséability, such as inherent risk, transfertrisions, and risk

of nonperformance.

Statement 157 also establishes a fair value higyatat requires an entity to maximize the usebsfeovable inputs
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs wheasonéng fair value. A financial instrument’s categation
within the fair value hierarchy is based upon thedst level of input that is significant to therfaalue
measurement. Statement 157 establishes three tEvialsuts that may be used to measure fair value:

» Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for idegitassets or liabilities

« Level 2: inputs other than Level 1 that are obdalejeeither directly or indirectly, such as quopeites in
active markets for similar assets or liabilitiespted prices for identical or similar assets dbiliies in
markets that are not active, or other inputs thaibhservable or can be corroborated by observaaiket
data for substantially the full term of the asswtBabilities; or

« Level 3: unobservable inputs that are supportelitty or no market activity and that are signifitdo the
fair value of the assets or liabilitie
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Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair \&lue on a Recurring Basis

Our significant financial assets and liabilitiesasered at fair value on a recurring basis, exclydiccrued interest
components, consisted of the following types ofrimsents as of May 31, 2009 (Level 1 and 2 inputsdefined

above):
Fair Value
Measurements
Using Input Type
(in millions) Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:
Money market fund $ 467 $ — $ 467
U.S. Treasury, U.S. government and U.S. governmgancy debt securitit 4,07¢ — 4,07¢
Commercial paper debt securit — 1,36t 1,36t
Corporate debt securities and ot — 1,33 1,33¢
Total financial assel $4,548  $2,70C $7,24¢
Liabilities:
Derivative financial instrument liabilitie $ — $ 3B $ 3
Total financial liabilities $ — $ 3K $ 3t

Our valuation techniques used to measure the &hireg of our money market funds and U.S. Treasury,

U.S. government and U.S. government agency dehtities were derived from quoted market prices as
substantially all of these instruments have matutites (if any) within one year from our date ofghase and
active markets for these instruments exist. Ounatédn techniques used to measure the fair valtiab other
instruments listed in the table above, substagtallof which mature within one year and the ceuparties to
which have high credit ratings, were derived frdma following: non-binding market consensus pri¢ed are
corroborated by observable market data; quoted eharices for similar instruments; or pricing magjeduch as
discounted cash flow techniques, with all significeaputs derived from or corroborated by obsereabbrket data.
Our discounted cash flow techniques use observahat&et inputs, such as LIBOR-based yield curved,camrency
spot and forward rates.

5. PROPERTY

Property consisted of the following:

Estimated May 31,

(Dollars in millions) Useful Lives 2009 2008
Computer and network equipme 2-5year $1,21: $1,27¢
Buildings and improvemen 1-50 year 1,57¢ 1,50¢
Furniture and fixture 3-10 year 38¢ 432
Land — 51t 21z
Automobiles 5 year: 5 5
Construction in progres — 12€ 20€

Total property 1-50 year 3,82¢ 3,64(
Accumulated depreciatic (1,909 (1,959

Total property, ne $1,92: $1,68¢
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

The changes in intangible assets for fiscal 20@Ptha net book value of intangible assets at Mgy2809 and 200
were as follows:

Intangible Assets, Gross Accumulated Amortization  Intangible Assets, ne Weighted
May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, Average
(Dollars in millions) 2008  Additions 2009 2008  Expense _ 2009 2008 2009  Useful Life
Software support agreements and related relatipa $ 484¢$ 165 $ 5017 $(1,059)$ (549 $(1,601) $3,797 $3,411 9yearn
Developed technolog 3,601 237 3,84 (1,209 (722) (1,92%) 2,404 1,91¢ 5year
Core technolog 1,425 75 1,50z (432) (255) (687) 99t 81t 6 year
Customer relationshig 1,18: 101 1,28¢ (170 (a5¢  (32¢) 1,01: 964  8year
Trademarks 262 11 272 (7€) (37) (113  18€ 16C 7 year
Total $11,32¢ $ 587 $11,91f $(2,939) $ (1,719 $ (4,646 $ 8,39¢ $7,26¢

Total amortization expense related to our intargddsets was $1.7 billion, $1.2 billion and $87Bioni in fiscal
2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. As of May 3D @stimated future amortization expense relatemnlit
intangible assets, excluding the impact of addélidntangible assets arising from any subsequeniisitions such
as Sun, was $1.7 billion in fiscal 2010, $1.4 biiliin fiscal 2011, $1.2 billion in fiscal 2012, $billion in fiscal
2013, $881 million in fiscal 2014 and $1.1 billidrereafter.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill,ekhis generally not deductible for tax purposesppgrating
segment for fiscal 2009 and 2008, were as follows:

Software
License
New Updates anc
Software Product
(in millions) Licenses Support Services Other @) Total

Balances as of May 31, 20 $3,16¢ $ 7,12 $ 150¢ $ 1,68 $ 13,/47¢
Allocation of goodwill®) 741 912 30 (1,687 —
BEA acquisition goodwil(@) — — — 4,35k 4,35k
Other acquisition goodwi 164 114 24 — 30z
Goodwill adjustment() (16) (120) (9) — (145)
Balances as of May 31, 20 4,05¢ 8,02¢ 1,55( 4,35¢ 17,99
Allocation of goodwill(®) 1,25¢ 2,907 19C (4,355) —
Other acquisition goodwi 373 28¢ 56 — 712
Goodwill adjustment(@ 27 11€ (4) — 13¢
Balances as of May 31, 20 $571¢ $ 1133« $1,790 $ — $ 18,84

(1) Represents the goodwill allocation associated wéthain acquisitions that was allocated to our afieg segments upon the
completion of certain valuation

@ Pursuant to our business combinations accountitigypave record goodwill adjustments for the effeatgoodwill of
changes to net assets acquired during the purghiaseallocation period (generally, up to one yieam date of acquisition).
Goodwill adjustments also include the effects oadyuaill resulting from our adoption of FIN 48 in al 2008.
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7. NOTES PAYABLE AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Notes payable and other borrowings consisted ofalt@ving:

May 31, May 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2009 2008
Floating rate senior notes due May 2( $ — $ 1,00C
Floating rate senior notes due May 2( 1,00(C 1,00(
5.00% senior notes due January 2011, net of disai$8 and $4 as of May 31, 2009 and 200€
respectively 2,247 2,24¢
4.95% senior notes due April 20 1,25( 1,25(C
5.25% senior notes due January 2016, net of disafBv and $9 as of May 31, 2009 and 200€
respectively 1,99: 1,991
5.75% senior notes due April 2018, net of discafr&l as of May 31, 2009 and 20 2,49¢ 2,49¢
6.50% senior notes due April 2038, net of discafr#i2 as of May 31, 2009 and 20 1,24¢ 1,24¢
Capital lease 1 2
Total borrowings $10,23¢ $ 11,23¢
Notes payable, current and other current borrow $ 1,001 $ 1,001
Notes payable, n-current and other n-current borrowing: $ 9,231 $ 10,23!

Senior Notes

In April 2008, we issued $5.0 billion of fixed regenior notes, of which $1.25 billion of 4.95% semotes is due
April 2013 (2013 Notes), $2.5 billion of 5.75% sennotes is due April 2018 (2018 Notes), and $billbn of
6.50% senior notes is due April 2038 (2038 Noté#).issued these senior notes to finance the atiquisif BEA
and for general corporate purposes. Some or #ieof013 Notes, 2018 Notes and 2038 Notes maydeeneed at
any time, subject to payment of a make-whole premithe 2013 Notes, 2018 Notes and 2038 Notes pasest
semi-annually.

In May 2007, we issued $2.0 billion of floatingeatenior notes, of which $1.0 billion was due aaidi jin

May 2009 (New 2009 Notes) and $1.0 billion is duayM2010 (2010 Notes). We issued the New 2009 Nutds
2010 Notes to fund the redemption of the $1.5dllof senior floating rate notes that we issuefistal 2006 (see
below) and for general corporate purposes. The Alit8s bear interest at a rate of three-month UEBDR plus
0.06% with interest payable quarterly. The 2010edahay not be redeemed prior to their maturity.

In January 2006, we issued $5.75 billion of senmtes consisting of $1.5 billion of floating raensor notes due
2009 (Original 2009 Notes), $2.25 billion of 5.0@%nior notes due 2011 (2011 Notes) and $2.0 biéifon

5.25% senior notes due 2016 (2016 Notes and togeitiethe Original 2009 Notes and the 2011 No@sginal
Senior Notes) to finance the Siebel acquisitionfandjeneral corporate purposes. On June 16, 200@ompleted
registered exchange offer of the Original Seniotdddor registered senior notes with substantidiytical terms t
the Original Senior Notes.

In May 2007, we redeemed the Original 2009 NotegHeir principal amount plus accrued and unpaiérast. Our
2011 Notes and 2016 Notes may also be redeemey éihee, subject to payment of a make-whole premium
Interest is payable semi-annually for the 2011 Klated 2016 Notes.

The effective interest yields of the 2010 Notes] 208lotes, 2013 Notes, 2016 Notes, 2018 Notes aBf Rdtes
(collectively, the Senior Notes) at May 31, 2009ev8.97%, 5.08%, 4.96%, 5.33%, 5.76% and 6.52%e@wely.
We have entered into an interest rate swap agrddahsarhas the economic effect of modifying theiatale interest
obligations associated with the 2010 Notes sottieinterest payable on the senior notes effegtivetame fixed ¢
a rate of 4.59% (see Note 10 for additional infaiorg.
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The Senior Notes rank pari passu with any CommiglPeiper Notes that we may issue and all existingfature
senior indebtedness of Oracle Corporation. All taxgsand future liabilities of the subsidiaries@facle Corporatic
will be effectively senior to the Senior Notes amy Commercial Paper Notes that we issue.

We were in compliance with all debt-related coveaat May 31, 2009. Future principal payments af ou
borrowings at May 31, 2009 are as follows: $1.0dilin fiscal 2010, $2.25 billion in fiscal 201%1.25 billion in
fiscal 2013, and $5.75 billion thereafter.

Commercial Paper Program

In March 2008, we increased our commercial papegnam to $5.0 billion from $3.0 billion (the CP gram). The
original dealer agreements that we entered inteeloruary 2006 with Banc of America Securities Lu@ dP
Morgan Securities Inc., and the Issuing and Pagiggncy Agreement entered into in February 2006 iiMorgat
Chase Bank, National Association, remain in eféerd were not changed. Under the CP Program, weisaag and
sell unsecured short-term promissory notes (ComialdPaper Notes) pursuant to a private placemegingtion
from the registration requirements under federdl state securities laws. We did not issue any Comiald?aper
Notes in fiscal 2009 and we issued $1.2 billiofiscal 2008, of which none remained outstandingfdday 31,
2009 and 2008. If we are required to issue ComrakRaper Notes in the future, we would most likedg our
revolving credit agreements (see below) as a btkie these notes and we therefore consider thdtave

$4.9 billion of capacity pursuant to this progravaitable to us as of May 31, 2009.

Revolving Credit Agreements

In March 2009, we entered into a $2.0 billion, 3Bdy Revolving Credit Agreement with certain lendeasned in
the agreement (2009 Credit Agreement). The 2008iCAgreement supplements our existing $3.0 billiive-year
Revolving Credit Agreement with certain lenderg tia entered into in March 2006 (the 2006 Credite®gnent,
and together with the 2009 Credit Agreement, thed@Agreements). The Credit Agreements provideufegecure
revolving credit facilities, which can also be usedackstop any Commercial Paper Notes (see above) thatay
issue and for working capital and other genergbarate purposes. Subject to certain conditionedtat the Credit
Agreements, we may borrow, prepay and re-borrowuatsounder the facilities at any time during thente of the
Credit Agreements. Interest for the 2009 Credite®gnent is based on, at our election, either (xytime of

(A) adjusted LIBOR plus (B) a margin equal to thublished 30-day moving average credit default smapbrate
spread for Oracle for a one-year period, subjeattmaximum and minimum rate based on our creditgaor (y) a
“base rate” calculated as the highest of () Wath®ank National Association’s prime rate, (1) tteeleral funds
effective rate plus 0.50% and (Ill) adjusted LIB@Rs a margin determined in the manner describethumse (x)
(B) above. Interest for the 2006 Credit Agreeméntsased on either (a) a LIBOR-based formula oa(fgrmula
based on Wachovia’s prime rate or on the federaddieffective rate. Any amounts drawn pursuani¢c2009
Credit Agreement are due on March 16, 2010 (we mpgn the agreement of a combination of then exjdender:
and additional banks not currently party to the2@0edit Agreement, extend the termination datithef2009
Credit Agreement by an additional 364 days). Anyants drawn pursuant to the 2006 Credit Agreementiae o1
March 14, 2011. No amounts were outstanding putdoahe Credit Agreements as of May 31, 2009 0@B2A
total of $4.9 billion remained available pursuanttte Credit Agreements at May 31, 2009, whicless Ithan the
$5.0 billion described above due to the insolveofcyne of the parties to the 2006 Credit Agreem¥éfg.would
most likely use the Credit Agreements to back-stop Commercial Paper Notes (described above) thahay
issue in the future.

The Credit Agreements contain certain customaryessmtations and warranties, covenants and evede&fault,
including the requirement that our total net dehtbtal capitalization ratio not exceed 45%. If afiyhe events of
default occur and are not cured within applicalsbcg periods or waived, any unpaid amounts unae€Ctedit
Agreements may be declared immediately due andapagad the Credit Agreements may be terminatedwéfte
in compliance with the Credit Agreements’ covenag®f May 31, 2009.
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8. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES
Fiscal 2009 Oracle Restructuring Plan

During the third quarter of fiscal 2009, our marragat approved, committed to and initiated planesiructure ar
further improve efficiencies in our Oracle-baseérmpions (the 2009 Plan). The total estimateduettring costs
associated with the 2009 Plan are $241 millionwiticdbe recorded to the restructuring expense iti@m within our
consolidated statements of operations as theyeaognized. In fiscal 2009, we recorded $85 millddmestructuring
expenses in connection with the 2009 Plan. We axpencur the majority of the remaining $156 naitli during
fiscal 2010. Any changes to the estimates of exeguhe 2009 Plan will be reflected in our futuesults of
operations.

Fiscal 2008 Oracle Restructuring Plan and Other

During the second quarter of fiscal 2008, our manaant approved, committed to and initiated plamestructure
and improve efficiencies in our Oracle-based opamatas a result of certain management and orgzorizéa
changes and our recent acquisitions (the 2008 Hhamjng the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, the @®lan was
amended to include the Oracle-based effects raguitbm our acquisition of BEA. Estimated restructg costs
relating to employees included in the 2008 plan fizal not yet been notified as of the third quantdiscal 2009
were transferred to the 2009 Plan. The total resiring costs (primarily related to employee semeed associated
with the 2008 Plan were $80 million; these costsewecorded to the restructuring expense line iétnin our
consolidated statements of operations. In fisc@P20ve recorded $39 million of restructuring expenand in fiscal
2008 we recorded $41 million of restructuring exgenin connection with the 2008 Plan. Any changeke
estimates of executing the 2008 Plan will be réélddn our future results of operations.

Acquisition Related Restructuring Plans

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, fourthagier of fiscal 2007 and third quarter of fiscaD8Dour
management approved, committed to and initiatedspi@ restructure certain pre-acquisition operatiohBEA
(BEA Restructuring Plan), Hyperion (Hyperion Restring Plan) and Siebel Systems, Inc. (Siebelretiring
Plan), respectively. Our management initiated tipdaes in connection with our acquisitions of thesmpanies in
order to improve the cost efficiencies in our opierss. The total restructuring costs associatetl exiting activities
of BEA were $218 million, consisting of severaneecess facilities obligations through fiscal 2057neell as other
restructuring costs. The total restructuring castsociated with exiting activities of Hyperion w&&8 million,
consisting of severance, excess facilities oblayetithrough fiscal 2016, as well as other restrugjcosts. The
total restructuring costs associated with exitintjvities of Siebel were $590 million, consistinfjseverance, exce
facilities obligations through fiscal 2022, and ethestructuring costs.

These costs were originally recognized as liabgitissumed in each of the respective business iatianis and
included in the allocation of the cost to acquirese companies and, accordingly, have resulted incaease to
goodwill. Our restructuring expenses may changeuasnanagement executes the approved plans. Flgareases
to the estimates of executing the acquisition eglaestructuring plans will be recorded as an dajest to goodwill
indefinitely. Increases to the estimates of theuastion related restructuring plans will be receddo operating
expenses.
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Summary of All Plans
Fiscal 2009 Activity
Total Total
Accrued Year Ended May 31, 200¢ Accrued Costs Expectec
May 31, Initial Adj. Cash May 31, Accrued Program
(in millions) 2008 Costs® to Cost® Payments Others® 2009 to Date _ Costs
Fiscal 2009 Oracle Restructuring Plan
New software license $ — $ 30 % — $ (1% — % 12$ 330 95
Software license updates and product sug — 1 — D — — 1 9
Services — 35 — (13 — 22 35 89
Other(®) — 19 = (6) = 13 19 48
Total Fiscal 2009 Oracle Restructuri $ — $ 8 % — $ (39 % — $ 47 $ 85 $ 241
Fiscal 2008 Oracle Restructuring Plan
New software license $ 10 % 17 $ —$ (19% — % 8% 34 3% 34
Software license updates and product sug 5 1 — ?3) — 3 7 7
Services 6 17 — (19) — 4 27 27
Other® 2 4 — (5) — 1 12 12
Total Fiscal 2008 Oracle Restructuri $ 23$ 39 % — $ (46 % — $ 16 $ 80 % 80
BEA Restructuring Plan
Severanct $ 1128 (9% — $ (50 $ 1)$ 52 % 144 8 144
Facilities 63 O} — (24) %) 33 59 59
Contracts and othe 14 — — (6) — 8 15 15
Total BEA Restructuring $ 18 $ (13 $ — $ (80) $ (3% 93 $ 218 $ 21¢
Hyperion Restructuring Plan
Severanci $ 3% — 8 ™ $ ) $ 2$ 158 $ 40 % 40
Facilities 34 — 8) (12) (4) 1C 42 42
Contracts and othe 14 — (5) (2) — 8 16 16
Total Hyperion Restructurin $ 81 % — 3% (208 (22% 6)$ 33 % 98 % 98
Siebel Restructuring Plan
Severanct $ 1% — % 1) $ —%$ — % — % 598% 59
Facilities 17¢ — 21 (42) (13)  14¢€ 495 495
Contracts and othe 12 — (5 — — 7 36 36
Total Siebel Restructurin $ 1923 — 3 15 (4H)$ (139 $ 155 $ 59 $ 59
Total Other Restructuring Pla $ 8% — 8% (7H$ (26 % (3) $ 47
Total Restructuring Plans ) $ 566 $ 111 $ (120$% (259 $ (25 $ 38¢
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Fiscal 2008 Activity
Accrued Year Ended May 31, 200¢ Accrued
May 31, Initial Adj. Cash May 31,
(in millions) 2007@ Costs® to Cost®@ Payments Others ® 2008@
Fiscal 2008 Oracle Restructuring Plar
New software license $ — $ 17 $§ — % 7n $ — $ 10
Software license updates and product sug. — 6 — (2) — 5
Services — 10 — 4 — 6
Other®) — 8 — (4) (2) 2
Total Fiscal 2008 Oracle Restructuri $ — $41 $ — $ (16 $ @ $ 23
BEA Restructuring Plan
Severanc $ — $158 $ — $ (41) $ — % 112
Facilities — 63 — — — 63
Contracts and oth — 15 — (D — 14
Total BEA Restructurin $ — $231 $ — $ (42 $ — $ 18¢
Hyperion Restructuring Plan
Severanc $ 45 $ — $ 2 $ (159 $ 1 $ 33
Facilities 46 — 3 (16) 1 34
Contracts and othe 16 — 5 (7) — 14
Total Hyperion Restructurin $ 107 $ — $ 10 $ (3 $ 2 s 84
Siebel Restructuring Plan
Severanci $ 6 $ — $ (3 ¢ ® $ 1 % 1
Facilities 23C — 2 (56) 3 17¢
Contracts and oth 10 — 2 — — 12
Total Siebel Restructurir $ 246 $ — $ 1 $ B9 $ 4 $ 192
Total Other Restructuring Pla $ 106 $ — $ D $ (29 $ 7 $ 83
Total Restructuring Plans ©) $ 45¢ $272 $ 1C $ (189) $ 11 $ b56¢
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Fiscal 2007 Activity
Accrued Year Ended May 31, 2007 Accrued
May 31, Initial Adj. Cash May 31,
(in millions) 2006 Costs®  to Cost®  Payment:  Others ®) 2007@
Hyperion Restructuring Plan
Severanci $ — $45 $ — $ — $ — $ 45
Facilities — 47 — (D) — 46
Contracts and othe — 16 — — — 16
Total Hyperion Restructurin $ — $106 $ — $ (1) $ — $ 107
Siebel Restructuring Plan
Severanc $ 37 $— $ B $ (29 $ 1 $ 6
Facilities 44¢€ — (12 (208) 4 23C
Contracts and othe 26 — 4 (20) — 10
Total Siebel Restructurir $506 $ — $ (16) $ (252 $ 5 ¢ 24¢
Total Other Restructuring Pla $17¢€ $ 19 $ (2 $ (B8 $ 1 $ 10€
Total All Restructuring Plans ©) $68 $127 $ (18 $ (34) $ € $ 45¢

@ Includes severance costs associated with reseadctieselopment, general and administrative funstiand certain other
facility related costs

@ Accrued restructuring at May 31, 2009, 2008 andr20as $389 million, $568 million, and $459 milliaespectively. The

balances at May 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 includ8 $#lion, $308 million and $201 million recorden dther current
liabilities, respectively, and $186 million, $260llion and $258 million recorded in other r-current liabilities, respectivel

@) Initial costs recorded for the respective restrmiotuplans.

@ Certain adjustment increases to the Siebel ResatingtPlan were included in our consolidated statenof operation
(acquisition related and other expenses) in fi26809. Adjustment decreases to the Hyperion Resiriagt Plan were
recorded to goodwill in fiscal 2009. Hyperion pladiustments in fiscal 2008 and Siebel plan adjustsia fiscal 2007 rela
to changes in estimates within the purchase pticeadion period (offset recorded to goodwill). Ather plan adjustments
are changes in estimates whereby all increasessirace recorded to operating expenses in thegefiadjustment with
decreases in costs of Oracle-based plans recavdmzbtating expenses and acquisition related peowded as an
adjustment to goodwill indefinitely

®) Primarily represents foreign currency translatidjustments
®) Restructuring plans included in this footnote repre those plans that management has deemed g
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9. DEFERRED REVENUES
Deferred revenues consisted of the following:
May 31,

(in millions) 2009 2008
Software license updates and product suf. $4,15¢  $3,93¢
Services 242 338
New software license 191 22C

Deferred revenues, curre 4,59 4,49;

Deferred revenues, n-current (in other nc-current liabilities) 204 262

Total deferred revenut $4,79¢  $4,75¢

Deferred software license updates and product stuppgenues represent customer payments made anee\for
annual support contracts. Software license updatdgproduct support contracts are typically bilbbeda per annum
basis in advance and revenues are recognizedyatadt the support periods. Deferred service regsiinclude
prepayments for consulting, On Demand and educagovices. Revenue for these services is recogaizéie
services are performed. Deferred new software dieeavenues typically result from undelivered paisior
specified enhancements, customer specific accepianowisions, software license transactions thahctbe
segmented from consulting services or certain eéddmpayment term arrangements.

In connection with the purchase price allocatiariated to our acquisitions, we have estimateddhevélues of the
support obligations assumed. The estimated fairegabf the support obligations assumed were detednising a
cost-build up approach. The cost-build up appratetbrmines fair value by estimating the costs ireab fulfilling
the obligations plus a normal profit margin. Thensof the costs and operating profit approximateshéeory, the
amount that we would be required to pay a thirdypiar assume the support obligations. These fdireva
adjustments reduce the revenues recognized oveufpport contract term of our acquired contracts as a result,
we did not recognize software license updates aodugt support revenues related to support costiastumed
from our acquisitions in the amount of $243 milli&179 million and $212 million in fiscal 2009, Z9and 2007,
respectively which would have been otherwise regthity our acquired businesses as independentesentiti

10. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

On December 1, 2008, we adopted FASB Statement 8lgDisclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedy
Activities, an amendment of FASB Statement. The adoption of Statement 161 had no financiglaioh on our
consolidated financial statements and only requagditional financial statement disclosures. Weehapplied the
requirements of Statement 161 on a prospectives.bascordingly, disclosures related to prior fisgaérs have not
been presented.

Interest Rate Swap Agreement

We use an interest rate swap agreement to managedmomic effect of variable interest obligatiassociated
with our 2010 Notes so that the interest payablether2010 Notes effectively becomes fixed at a 0&#&59%,
thereby reducing the impact of future interest ctanges on our future interest expense. We daseinterest rate
swap agreements for trading purposes. The criiicals of the interest rate swap agreement andhe Rotes
match, including the notional amounts, interest raset dates, maturity dates and underlying maniates.
Accordingly, we have designated this swap agreemeatqualifying instrument and are accountingtfas a cash
flow hedge pursuant to FASB Statement No. ¥83;ounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgirgjivities. The
unrealized losses on this interest rate swap agmeeare included in accumulated other compreherisemme and
the corresponding fair value payables are includexher current liabilities in our consolidated
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balance sheet. The periodic interest settlemeritishwoccur at the same interval as the senior raiesn
May 2010, are recorded as interest expense.

Net Investment Hedges

Periodically, we hedge net assets of certain ofirtternational subsidiaries using foreign currefaryvard contracts
to offset the translation and economic exposurese® to our foreign currency-based investmentbése
subsidiaries. These contracts have been desigaateet investment hedges pursuant to Statementi88se the
spot method to measure the effectiveness of ounmestment hedges. Under this method for eachrtieggeriod,
the change in fair value of the forward contra¢tstatable to the changes in spot exchange réteseffective
portion) is reported in accumulated other comprshwenincome on our consolidated balance sheetrendemainin
change in fair value of the forward contract (thefiective portion, if any) is recognized in noneogting income,
net, in our consolidated statement of operations.ré¢ord settlements under these forward contimaetsimilar
manner. The fair value of both the effective areffiective portions is recorded to our consoliddiathnce sheet as
prepaid expenses and other current assets for dsaeivable from the counterparties or otheremrliabilities
for amounts payable to the counterparties.

As of May 31, 2009, we had one net investment héudapanese Yen. The Yen investment hedge mingmize
currency risk arising from net assets held in Yem aesult of equity capital raised during thei@hipublic offering
and secondary offering of our majority owned suiasid Oracle Japan. As of May 31, 2009, the falugaf our ne
investment hedge in Japanese Yen was nominal ahd hational amount of $694 million.

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts Not Designated a Hedges

We transact business in various foreign curreraigshave established a program that primarilyzesiforeign
currency forward contracts to offset the risks amged with the effects of certain foreign curreexyposures. Undkt
this program, our strategy is to have increasaekeoreases in our foreign currency exposures dffsggins or losst
on the foreign currency forward contracts to mitégtine risks and volatility associated with fore@nrency
transaction gains or losses. These foreign currerpgsures typically arise from intercompany surige fees and
other intercompany transactions. Our foreign cuayeirward contracts generally settle within 90 slay/e do not
use these forward contracts for trading purposesdd/not designate these forward contracts as hgdlggtrument
pursuant to Statement 133. Accordingly, we rechedfair value of these contracts as of the enduofeporting
period to our consolidated balance sheet with chaigfair value recorded in our consolidated statat of
operations. The balance sheet classification fefdir values of these forward contracts is to pigexpenses and
other current assets for unrealized gains andheraurrent liabilities for unrealized losses. Bietement of
operations classification for the fair values a#gb forward contracts is to non-operating incoreg, for both
realized and unrealized gains and losses.

As of May 31, 2009, the notional amounts of theviand contracts we held to purchase and sell U.8a3dn
exchange for other major international currenciesen$860 million and $1.1 billion, respectivelydahe notional
amounts of the foreign currency forward contractsh&ld to purchase European Euros in exchangeher major
international currencies were €142 million ($198liom).
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The effects of derivative instruments on our coiasdéd financial statements were as follows as ay g1, 2009
and for the year then ended (amounts presenteddzainy income tax effects):

Fair Value of Derivative Instruments in ConsolidateBalance Sheet

May 31, 2009
(in millions) Balance Sheet Locatior Fair Value
Interest rate swap agreement designated as casinéidge: Other current liabilitie $ 35
Foreign currency forward contracts designated asmmestment hedge Other current liabilitie —
Total derivatives designated as hedging instrun $ 35
Foreign currency forward contracts not designatehealge: Other current liabilitie  $ —
Total derivatives $ 35
Effects of Derivative Instruments on Income and @thComprehensive Income (OC
Location and Amount of
Amount of Gain Location and Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Incom:
(Loss) Recognized il Gain (Loss) Reclassified on Derivative
Accumulated OCI on from Accumulated OCI (Ineffective Portion and
Derivative into Income Amount Excluded
(Effective Portion) (Effective Portion) from Effectiveness Testing’
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
(in millions) May 31, 2009 May 31, 2009 May 31, 2009
Cash flow hedges
Interest rate sway $ 3 Interest Expens  $(47) Nonr-operating Income,n  $ —
Net investment hedges
Foreign currency forward contrac $ (63 Not Applicable $ —  Non-operating Income,n  $ 1C
Location and Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Income on Derivative
Year Ended
(in millions) May 31, 2009

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedges:
Foreign currency forward contrac

(€8]

Non-operating Income, n
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11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Lease Commitments

We lease certain facilities, furniture and equipmerder operating leases. As of May 31, 2009, &utaimimum
annual operating lease payments and future minipayments to be received from non-cancelable suldeasre

as follows:
(in millions)
Fiscal 201( $ 38¢
Fiscal 2011 287
Fiscal 201z 20€
Fiscal 2012 137
Fiscal 201¢ 11€
Thereafte 20C
Future minimum operating lease payme 1,33¢
Less: minimum payments to be received from-cancelable subleas 17y
Total future minimum operating lease payments, $1,16%

Lease commitments include future minimum rent payéor facilities that we have vacated pursuartuo
restructuring and merger integration activitiesgssussed in Note 8. We have approximately $2538omin
facility obligations, net of estimated subleaseome and other costs, in accrued restructuringhiesd locations in
our consolidated balance sheet at May 31, 2009.

Rent expense was $293 million, $276 million and4s@#llion for fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respeelyy net of
sublease income of approximately $69 million, $5ifion and $32 million, respectively. Certain lessgreements
contain renewal options providing for an extensibthe lease term.

Unconditional Purchase Obligations

In the ordinary course of business, we enter iettain unconditional purchase obligations with suppliers, whict
are agreements that are enforceable, legally hgnalid specify certain minimum quantity and priciegns.

As of May 31, 2009, our unconditional purchasegdiions total $88 million for fiscal 2010, $21 riah for fiscal
2011, $11 million for fiscal 2012, $3 million foistal 2013, $3 million for fiscal 2014 and $39 roifl thereafter.

As described in Note 2, we also have a commitmenbnnection with our proposed acquisition of Sun
Microsystems, Inc. for approximately $7.4 billiohaash consideration that we expect to pay uposirdpof this
acquisition and other insignificant commitmentstgjuire certain other companies. As described i@ Mpwe have
notes payable and other borrowings outstandind.0fZbbillion that mature at various future datesjuding

$1.0 billion that matures in fiscal 2010.

Guarantees

Our software license agreements generally incled&in provisions for indemnifying customers agtliabilities if
our software products infringe a third party’s Ifgetual property rights. To date, we have not ined any material
costs as a result of such indemnifications and hat@ccrued any liabilities related to such olilyss in our
consolidated financial statements. Certain of odtmsare license agreements also include provisiogemnifying
customers against liabilities in the event we bineaanfidentiality or service level requirementssihot possible to
determine the maximum potential amount under tiregmnification agreements due to our limited arfcequent
history of prior indemnification claims and the gué facts and circumstances involved in each
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particular agreement. Historically, payments magledunder these agreements have not had a matfeiet on
our results of operations, financial position, asle flows.

Our software license agreements also generallydlech warranty that our software products will sabigally
operate as described in the applicable programrdentation for a period of one year after delivéie also
warrant that services we perform will be providedimanner consistent with industry standards fogréod of
90 days from performance of the service. Warrarpease was not significant in fiscal 2009, fisc@02 or fiscal
2007.

We occasionally are required, for various reastmenter into agreements with financial institusdhat provide
letters of credit on our behalf to parties we cantdwsiness with in ordinary course. Such agreesrggte not had
material effect on our results of operations, fitiahposition or cash flows.

12. STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY
Stock Repurchases

Our Board of Directors has approved a program $atourepurchase shares of our common stock. Orb@c,
2008, we announced that our Board of Directors @pat the expansion of our repurchase program Wy iBion
and as of May 31, 2009, approximately $6.3 billwees available for share repurchases pursuant tstook
repurchase program. We repurchased 225.6 millianestfor $4.0 billion (including 0.6 million sharkes

$12 million that were repurchased but not settlé@d)3 million shares for $2.0 billion and 233.5lioih shares for
$4.0 billion in fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respety.

Our stock repurchase authorization does not hawxpination date and the pace of our repurchaseitgiauill
depend on factors such as our working capital nemdscash requirements for acquisitions and dividgayments,
our debt repayment obligations (as described abmvepurchases of our debt, our stock price, asd@mic and
market conditions. Our stock repurchases may leet&ffl from time to time through open market purebas
pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan. Our stock repuecpasgram may be accelerated, suspended, delayed or
discontinued at any time.

Dividends on Common Stock

In June 2009, our Board of Directors declared atqus cash dividend of $0.05 per share of outstajmdommon
stock payable on August 13, 2009 to stockholdereadrd as of the close of business on July 159 2B0ture
declarations of dividends and the establishmeffiitofe record and payment dates are subject tbrthe
determination of our Board of Directors.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The following table summarizes, as of each balahest date, the components of our accumulated other
comprehensive income, net of income taxes (incaxeffects were insignificant for all periods pnetssl):

May 31,
(in millions) 2009 2008
Foreign currency translation gains, $34C $69C
Unrealized losses on derivative financial instrutagnet (125) (86)
Unrealized gains on marketable securities,
Unrealized (losses) gains on defined benefit pian 3 1
Total accumulated other comprehensive inci $21¢ $61¢
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13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Stock-based Compensation Plans
Stock Option Plan:

In fiscal 2001, we adopted the 2000 Long-Term Bouitentive Plan (the 2000 Plan), which replaced 191
Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan (the 1991 Plan) aravides for the issuance of non-qualified stopkans and
incentive stock options, as well as stock purchiagds, stock appreciation rights and lotegm performance awar
to our eligible employees, officers, directors vare also employees or consultants, independentltants and
advisers. In fiscal 2005, the 2000 Plan was ameadddestated to, among other things, eliminataHilgy to
reprice options without stockholder approval, toyide our Board of Directors (Board) with the ayilio grant
restricted stock awards, to permit us to grantgrerhnce-based equity awards for eligible tax dedility, to
provide our Board with the ability to issue tramafde equity awards and to eliminate the abilitytiyout
employees’ options with cash or common stock. Utldetterms of the 2000 Plan, options to purchasenoon
stock generally are granted at not less than faiket value, become exercisable as establishelebBaard
(generally over four years under our current pcagtiand generally expire no more than ten years the date of
grant. Options granted under the 1991 Plan wenetggeon similar terms. If options outstanding urither1991 Pla
are forfeited, repurchased, or otherwise termindtieout the issuance of stock, the shares undeylgirch options
will also become available for future awards unitker2000 Plan. As of May 31, 2009, options to paseh

302 million shares of common stock were outstandimder both plans, of which 156 million were vested
Approximately 239 million shares of common stockevavailable for future awards under the 2000 Plandate,
we have not issued any stock purchase rights, stopkeciation rights, restricted stock awards ongierm
performance awards under the 2000 Plan.

In fiscal 1993, the Board adopted the 1993 DirextStock Option Plan (the Original Directors’ Plawhich
provided for the issuance of non-qualified stockiays to non-employee directors. In fiscal 2004, @riginal
Directors’ Plan was amended and restated to eltmiaderm limit on the plan, eliminate the abitibyreprice
options without stockholder approval, decreasentiaber of shares of common stock reserved for ieuander
the Original Directors’ Plan, provide the Boardwihe ability to make grants of restricted stoestricted stock
units or other stock-based awards instead of thenaatic option grants and rename the Original Doe Plan, the
1993 Directors’ Stock Plan. In fiscal 2007, thegdval Directors’ Plan was further amended to, amaifgr things,
increase the amounts of the annual stock optiontgjta directors, permit pro rata option grantshairs of Board c
Directors’ committees and to provide that the Baafr®irectors or the Compensation Committee mayhéfuture,
change the option grant policy for non-employeedrs (the Directors’ Plan). Under the terms efEhrectors’
Plan, options to purchase 8 million shares of comstock were reserved for issuance, options argegtaat not
less than fair market value, become exercisable fove years, and expire no more than ten years tiee date of
grant. The Directors’ Plan provides for automatiangs of options to each non-employee director djpst
becoming a director and thereafter on an annuad bas well as automatic nondiscretionary grantslfairing
certain Board committees. The Board has the discréd replace any automatic option grant undeiectors’
Plan with awards of restricted stock, restrictextistunits or other stock-based awards. The numbsgnares subject
to any such stock award will be no more than thewedent value of the options, as determined onraagonable
basis by the Board, which would otherwise have lgganted under the applicable automatic optiontgréme
Board will determine the particular terms of anglsgtock awards at the time of grant, but the temitide
consistent with those of options, as describedvibefpanted under the Directors’ Plan with respeatdsting or
forfeiture schedules and treatment on terminatiostatus as a director. At May 31, 2009, optionpucchase
approximately 4 million shares of common stock wautstanding under the 1993 Directors’ Plan, ofaluhi
approximately 2 million were vested. Approximat&lynillion shares are available for future optioraasls under
this plan of which a lesser portion than the tataly be used for grants other than options.
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In connection with certain of our acquisitions,liding BEA, PeopleSoft, Siebel and Hyperion, weuassd all of
the outstanding stock options and other stock asvaf@ach acquiree’s respective stock plans. Téiesk options
and other stock awards generally retain all ofrilets, terms and conditions of the respective plamder which
they were originally granted. As of May 31, 200Btions to purchase 53 million shares of commonkssoa

1 million shares of restricted stock were outstagdinder these plans.

The following table summarizes stock option acyidr our last three fiscal years ended May 31,200

Options Outstanding

Weighted

Shares Unde Average
(in millions, except exercise price) Option Exercise Price
Balance, May 31, 200 47 $ 13.2¢
Granted 61 $ 14.81
Assumec 25 % 11.27
Exercisec (106) $ 8.22
Cancelec 19 s 34.5i
Balance, May 31, 200 434  $ 13.6¢
Granted 61 % 20.4¢
Assumec 36 % 17.2¢
Exercisec (135 $ 9.12
Cancelec (18 $ 20.8¢
Balance, May 31, 200 37¢ % 16.3i
Granted 69 $ 20.5:
Assumec 1 3 6.5¢4
Exercisec (76) $ 9.31
Cancelec 13 s 25.1¢
Balance, May 31, 200 35¢ % 18.32

Options outstanding that have vested and thatqrected to vest as of May 31, 2009 are as follows:

Weighted In-the-Money
Average Options as of Aggregate
Outstanding Weighted Remaining May 31, Intrinsic
Options Average Contract Term 2009 Value @
(in millions) Exercise Price (in years) (in millions) (in millions)
Vested 20 % 18.0¢4 3.97 14¢ % 1,06¢
Expected to ves? 13¢  $ 18.6(C 8.13 43 23€
Total 345 $ 18.2¢ 5.62 192 1,301

(@ The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated basettie gross difference between our closing stoidemn May 31, 2009
$19.59 and the exercise prices for a-the-money options outstanding, excluding tax effe

@) The unrecognized compensation expense calculatiet time fair value method for shares expected $o (umvested shares
net of expected forfeitures) as of May 31, 2009 aroximately $631 million and is expected to éeognized over a
weighted average period of 2.65 years. Approxinyatdimillion shares outstanding as of May 31, 28@9not expected to
vest.
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense and Valuatiowafds Granted

Stockbased compensation is included in the followingrapieg expense line items in our consolidated statés o

operations:
Year Ended May 31,
(in millions) 2009 2008 2007
Sales and marketir $ 67 $ 51 $ 38
Software license updates and product sug 13 10 11
Cost of service 12 13 15
Research and developmt 15t 114 85
General and administrati 93 69 49
Acquisition related and oth 15 112 9
Total stocl-based compensatic 35E 36¢ 207
Estimated income tax benefit included in provisionincome taxe: (122) (12§) (70)
Total stocl-based compensation, net of estimated income taefib: $ 232 $241 $ 130

Quarterly, we assess whether there have been gmificint changes in facts and circumstances tloaldvaffect
our estimated forfeiture rate. The net effect ofditure adjustments based upon actual resultsawdesrease to our
stock-based compensation expense of approximasetyiffion for fiscal 2009, an increase of $6 mitliéor fiscal
2008 and nominal for fiscal 2007.

We estimate the fair value of our share-based patsnesing the Black-Scholes-Merton optipreing model, whic
was developed for use in estimating the fair valigaded options that have no vesting restrictiamd are fully
transferable. Option valuation models, including Biack-Scholes-Merton optigoricing model, require the input
assumptions, including stock price volatility. Chas in the input assumptions can materially atteetfair value
estimates and ultimately how much we recognizaakshased compensation expense. The fair valuearastock
options were estimated at the date of grant or afadequisition for acquired options assumed. Théehted averac
input assumptions used and resulting fair valuegas follows for fiscal 2009, 2008, and 2007:

Year Ended May 31,
2009 2008 2007

Expected life (in years 5.3 5.C 4.9
Risk-free interest rat 3.3% 4% 5.(%
Volatility 3% 2%  26%
Dividend yield — — —
Weightec-average fair value of gran $79: $7.5: $6.17

The expected life input is based on historical eiserpatterns and post-vesting termination behatherrisk-free
interest rate input is based on United States Trgasstruments and the volatility input is caldeld based on the
implied volatility of our longest-term, traded aoptis. Our expected dividend rate was zero priowutdicst dividend
declaration on March 18, 2009 as we did not hissdlf pay cash dividends on our common stock adchdt
anticipate doing so for the foreseeable futuregfants issued prior to March 18, 2009. For grasgged subsequent
to March 18, 2009, we used an annualized divideeld yased on the per share dividend declared byoard of
Directors.
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Tax Benefits from Option Exercises

Total cash received as a result of option exersisesapproximately $696 million, $1.2 billion an878 million for
fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The agapeeintrinsic value of options exercised was $&@lion,

$2.0 billion and $986 million for fiscal 2009, 2088d 2007, respectively. In connection with theserases, the te
benefits realized by us were $252 million, $588ioml and $338 million for fiscal 2009, 2008 and Z00
respectively. Of the total tax benefits received,alassified excess tax benefits from stock-basetpensation of
$97 million, $454 million and $259 million as ca$bws from financing activities rather than casbvmik from
operating activities for fiscal 2009, 2008, and 208spectively. To calculate the excess tax benafifilable for us
in offsetting future tax shortfalls as of our Statnt 123(R) adoption date, which also affects #toees tax benefits
from stock-based compensation that we reclassifiaab flows from financing activities, we adoptkd alternative
transition method as prescribed under FASB Stadftlm FAS 123R-3Transition Election to Accounting for the
Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

We have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Purcheaseahd have amended the Purchase Plan such that
employees can purchase shares of common stogiraesper share that is 95% of the fair value odiély stock as
of the end of the semi-annual option period. AMafy 31, 2009, 78 million shares were reserved titure
issuances under the Purchase Plan. We issuedi@msliares under the Purchase Plan in each of 4668, 2008
and 2007.

Defined Contribution and Other Postretirement Plans

We offer various defined contribution plans for @us. and non-U.S. employees. Total defined coutidin plan
expense was $258 million, $234 million and $198iailfor fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectivalge number
of plan participants in our defined contributiomum has generally increased in recent years phnsia result of
additional eligible employees from our acquisitions

In the United States, regular employees can ppdieiin the Oracle Corporation 401(k) Savings avestment
Plan (Oracle 401(k) Plan). Participants can gefyecahtribute up to 40% of their eligible compensaton a per-
pay-period basis as defined by the plan documehy ¢he section 402(g) limit as defined by the EdiGtates
Internal Revenue Service (IRS). We match a poifoemployee contributions, currently 50% up to 686 o
compensation each pay period, subject to maximugneggte matching amounts. Our contributions tgtha, net
of forfeitures, were $78 million, $80 million ané®million in fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respesdijv

We also offer non-qualified deferred compensatitamto certain key employees whereby they mayrdeportion
of their annual base and/or variable compensatntih netirement or a date specified by the emploiyeaccordance
with the plans. Deferred compensation plan assetdiabilities were approximately $176 million afigd10 million
as of May 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, angsrsented in other assets and other non-currdsilitiiss in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

14. INCOME TAXES
The following is a geographical breakdown of incdpegore the provision for income taxes:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2009 2008 2007

Domestic $3,745  $3,93C $3,30z

Foreign 4,08¢ 3,90¢ 2,68¢
Total income before provision for income ta: $783: $7,83¢ $5,98¢
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The provision for income taxes consisted of thiofeing:

(Dollars in millions)

Year Ended May 31,
2009 2008 2007

Current provision
Federa
State
Foreign
Total current provisiol
Deferred provision (benefit
Federa
State
Foreign
Total deferred benef
Total provision for income taxe

Effective income tax rat

$1,341 $132f $ 864
361 231 147
934 892 757

2,63¢ 2,44¢ 1,76¢

177 (96) 45

(52) (24) 4
(16€) (15) (105)
(395) (135) (56)

$2,247 $231¢ $1,71C
28.6% 29.5% 28.6%

The provision for income taxes differed from thecamt computed by applying the federal statutorg tatour

income before provision for income taxes as follows

(in millions)

Year Ended May 31,
2009 2008 2007

Tax provision at statutory ra

Foreign earnings at other than United States
State tax expense, net of federal ber
Settlement of audits and expiration of statutes
Other

Total provision for income taxe

109

$2,74;  $2,74:  $2,09¢
(677) (569) (580)

201 13€ 08
(28) (20) (29)
1) 25 12¢

$2,247 $231° $1,71
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The components of the deferred tax assets anditiedbiconsist of the following:

May 31,
(in millions) 2009 2008
Deferred tax liabilities
Unrealized gain on stoc $ (130 $ (130
Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiar 117 (110
Acquired intangible asse (1,83)) (2,149
Other (1) (49)
Total deferred tax liabilitie $ (2,079 $ (2,43)
Deferred tax asset
Accruals and allowance $ 49z ¢ 43¢
Employee compensation and bene 401 43¢
Differences in timing of revenue recogniti 141 17¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 21¢ 20¢€
Tax credit and net operating loss carryforwe 1,201 1,31¢
Other 44 —
Total deferred tax asse $ 249 $ 2,56¢
Valuation allowanct $ (137 $ (190
Net deferred tax asset (liabilit $ 282 % (54)
Recorded as
Current deferred tax asst $ 661 % 85%
Non-current deferred tax assets (in other as: 14t 36C
Current deferred tax liabilities (in other currdiabilities) 44 (49
Non-current deferred tax liabilitie (480) (1,219)
Net deferred tax asset (liabilit $ 28 % (54)

We provide for United States income taxes on ttdistnbuted earnings and the other outside basipdeary
differences of foreign subsidiaries unless theycaresidered indefinitely reinvested outside thetebhiStates. At
May 31, 2009, the amount of temporary differenedated to undistributed earnings and other outséais
temporary differences of investments in foreignssdiaries upon which United States income taxe® mt been
provided was approximately $8.9 billion and $4.lidn, respectively. If these undistributed earringere
repatriated to the United States, or if the othéside basis differences were recognized in a texadnsaction, the
would generate foreign tax credits that would redilne federal tax liability associated with theeign dividend or
the otherwise taxable transaction. Assuming auiilization of the foreign tax credits, the potehtieferred tax
liability associated with these temporary differesof undistributed earnings and other outsidestiasiporary
differences would be approximately $2.3 billion &1d5 billion, respectively.

The valuation allowance was $137 million at May 2009 and $190 million at May 31, 2008. The netrease is
primarily attributable to the expiration of attriles of acquired entities, principally state atttédsu Substantially all
of the valuation allowance relates to tax assdtbéshed in purchase accounting. Any subsequelict®on of that
portion of the valuation allowance and the recagnibf the associated tax benefits will be recorttedur provisior
for income taxes upon our adoption of Statemen{R}h fiscal 2010.

At May 31, 2009, we had federal net operating tassyforwards of approximately $1.2 billion. Thdesses expire
in various years between fiscal 2012 and fiscaB2@2d are subject to limitations on their utiliaat We have state

110




Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2009

net operating loss carryforwards of approximatéyldbillion, which expire between fiscal 2010 arst#l 2027,
and are subject to limitations on their utilizatie have tax credit carryforwards of approximatkly 9 million,
which are subject to limitations on their utilizati Approximately $96 million of these tax creditrg/forwards are
not currently subject to expiration dates. The riagher, approximately $83 million, expires in varsoyears betwee
fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2027.

We classify our unrecognized tax benefits as naneot income taxes payable in the accompanyingatotaed
balance sheet. The aggregate changes in the balhooe gross unrecognized tax benefits were devist

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2009 2008
Gross unrecognized tax benefits as of Ju $ 169 $ 1,257
Increases related to tax positions from prior figesars, including acquisitior 434 25€
Decreases related to tax positions from prior figears (86) (5)
Increases related to tax positions taken duringectifiscal yea 37C 18C
Settlements with tax authoriti (47) (20
Lapses of statutes of limitatic (25) (29
Other, ne (83 55
Total gross unrecognized tax benefits as of Ma $ 226 $ 1,69

As of May 31, 2009, $1.4 billion of unrecognizechbéits would affect our effective tax rate if recied. We
recognized interest and penalties related to uaicetdx positions in our provision for income takes of our
consolidated statements of operations of $142aniltluring fiscal 2009. The amount of interest aedaities
accrued as of May 31, 2009 was $430 million.

Domestically, U.S. federal and state taxing autlesriare currently examining income tax return®odcle and
various acquired entities for years through fi’@07. Many issues are at an advanced stage irxémairation
process, the most significant of which include dieeuctibility of certain royalty payments, issuekated to certain
capital gains and losses, Foreign Sales Corporatibraterritorial Income exemptions, stewardshigugions,
stock-based compensation and foreign tax credimntaOther issues are related to years with expstatutes of
limitation. With all of these domestic audit issuwessidered in the aggregate, we believe it wasorebly possible
that, as of May 31, 2009, the gross unrecognizethéaefits related to these audits could decreaketber by
payment, release, or a combination of both) imigse 12 months by as much as $315 million ($28%aninet of
offsetting tax benefits). Our U.S. federal andhwdbme exceptions, our state income tax returns haen examine
for all years prior to fiscal 2000, and we are oder subject to audit for those periods.

Internationally, tax authorities for numerous norsUurisdictions are also examining returns affegour
unrecognized tax benefits. We believe it was realslyrpossible that, as of May 31, 2009, the grossaognized
tax benefits, could decrease (whether by paymelgase, or a combination of both) by as much a8 #iiion

($56 million net of offsetting tax benefits) in thext 12 months, related primarily to transfer imgcand a technical
matter of corporate restructuring, which would Keated by the possible passage of favorable latjisi. With
some exceptions, we are generally no longer sutigeix examinations in non-U.S. jurisdictions years prior to
fiscal 1998.

We believe that we have adequately provided forraagonably foreseeable outcomes related to owrudits and
that any settlement will not have a material adeeféect on our consolidated financial positiomresults of
operations. However, there can be no assurandesfas possible outcomes.

We previously negotiated three unilateral Advandeiy Agreements with the IRS that cover many wf o
intercompany transfer pricing issues and preclbddRS from making a transfer pricing adjustmerthimithe
scope of these agreements. These agreementsegtveffor fiscal years through May 31, 2006. Weéha
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submitted to the IRS a request for renewal of Adgance Pricing Agreement for the years ending 18y2007
through May 31, 2011. However, these agreementstoover all elements of our transfer pricing dochot bind
tax authorities outside the United States. We liameadized one bilateral Advance Pricing Agreemevttjch was
effective for the years ending May 31, 2002 throgy 31, 2006 and we have submitted a renewahi®ytars
ending May 31, 2007 through May 31, 2011. Therelmno guarantee that such negotiations will réswdn
agreement. During the fiscal year ended May 31926@ concluded an additional bilateral agreemebter the
period from June 1, 2001 through January 25, 2008.

15. SEGMENT INFORMATION

FASB Statement No. 13Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise andt&elnformationgstablishes
standards for reporting information about operaiagments. Operating segments are defined as cemisoof an
enterprise about which separate financial inforarais available that is evaluated regularly bydhief operating
decision maker, or decision making group, in dexjdiow to allocate resources and in assessingrpeafae. Our
chief operating decision maker is our Chief Exaaufficer. We are organized geographically andirsy of
business. While our Chief Executive Officer evaisatesults in a number of different ways, the éhbusiness
management structure is the primary basis for witietallocation of resources and financial resalésassessed. \
have two businesses, software and services, whicfugther divided into five operating segmentsr Goftware
business is comprised of two operating segmenisigl software licenses and (2) software licensiatgs and
product support. Our services business is compo$éduree operating segments: (1) consulting, (2)B@mand and
(3) education.

The new software license line of business is endjagéhe licensing of database and middleware sofivas well as
applications software. Database and middlewarevsoft includes database management software, ajpficerve
software, business intelligence software, iderdtfin and access management software, content ez
software, portal and user interaction softwareyiserOriented Architecture and business processagement
software, data integration software and developriamis. Applications software provides enterprisi@imation the
enables companies to manage their business cyuiigsravide intelligence in functional areas sucle@sgomer
relationship management, financials, human ressyroaintenance management, manufacturing, marketidgr
fulfillment, product lifecycle management, entesgrproject portfolio management, enterprise perémee
management, procurement, sales, services, enterpssurce planning and supply chain planning.stifsvare
license updates and product support line of busipesvides customers with rights to unspecifiedvearfe product
upgrades and maintenance releases, internet godeshinical content, as well as internet and tedep access to
technical support personnel during the supporbpetin addition, the software license updates andyxct support
line of business offers customers Oracle Unbrea&khiolux Support, which provides enterprise levedmart for the
Linux operating system, and also offers supportoacle VM server virtualization software.

The consulting line of business provides servioasustomers in business strategy and analysisyéssprocess
simplification, solutions integration and the implentation, enhancement and upgrade of our dataivédeleware
and applications software. On Demand includes @r@cl Demand and Advanced Customer Services. Otatle
Demand provides multi-featured software and hardwaanagement and maintenance services for custdnatrs
deploy our database, middleware and applicatiofiez/are at our data center facilities, select parttata centers or
customer facilities. Advanced Customer Servicesists of solution lifecycle management servicetalukse and
application management services, industry-spesiflation support centers and remote and on-siterésprvices.
The education line of business provides instruttdr-media-based and internet-based training iusleeof our
database, middleware and applications software.

We do not track our assets by operating segmentsségjuently, it is not practical to show assetefsrating
segments results.
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The following table presents a summary of our besées’ and operating segments’ results:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2009 2008 2007
New software license:
Revenue(l) $ 7112 $ 7,501 $ 5,87«
Sales and distribution expen: 4,00¢ 4,04( 3,32¢
Margin @ $ 3,106 $ 3,461 $ 2,64¢
Software license updates and product sup
Revenue(®) $11,997 $10,507 $ 8,541
Cost of service 1,01z 93¢ 78€
Margin @ $10,98: $ 9,57¢ $ 7,75
Total software busines
Revenue(®) $19,10¢ $18,00¢ $14,41F
Expense! 5,01¢ 4,97% 4,114
Margin @ $14,090 $13,03t $10,30:
Consulting:
Revenue(l) $ 3,221 $ 3,45¢ $ 2,85]
Cost of service 2,68¢ 2,91« 2,38¢
Margin @ $ 53 $ 540 $ 467
On Demand
Revenue(®) $ 78 $ 695 $ 55t
Cost of service 56¢€ 56¢ 52¢
Margin @ $ 214 $ 12¢ % 26
Education:
Revenue!®) $ 38 $ 45z $ 387
Cost of service 282 314 272
Margin $ 10 $ 13 $ 11E
Total services busines
Revenue(®) $ 438 $ 4601 $ 3,79:
Cost of service 3,53¢ 3,79 3,18t
Margin @ $ 852 $ 804 $ 60¢
Totals:
Revenue:®) $23,49F $22,60¢ $18,20¢
Expense! 8,552 8,77( 7,29¢
Margin @ $1494: $13,83¢ $10,90¢

(1) Operating segment revenues differ from the exteemdrting classifications due to certain softwlavense products that are
classified as service revenues for managementtieggurposes. Additionally, software license updadnd product support
revenues for management reporting included $248omjl$179 million and $212 million of revenues thee did not
recognize in the accompanying consolidated statenwdroperations for fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2003peetively. See Note 9
for an explanation of these adjustments and tHevfioig table for a reconciliation of operating segrhrevenues to total
revenues

@ The margins reported reflect only the direct cdtihde costs of each line of business and do mdude allocations of
product development, information technology, marigeaind partner programs, and corporate and geardaadministrative
expenses incurred in support of the lines of bissinAdditionally, the margins do not reflect theoatization of intangible
assets, restructuring costs, acquisition relateldodimer expenses or st-based compensatic
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The following table reconciles operating segmeneneies to total revenues as well as operating sggmeargin to
income before provision for income taxes:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2009 2008 2007
Total revenues for reportable segme $23,49¢ $22,60¢ $18,20¢
Software license updates and product support res(l) (243) (179 (212)
Total revenue $23,25. $22,43( $17,99%
Total margin for reportable segme $14,94: $13,83¢ $10,90¢
Software license updates and product support res@® (243) (9] (212
Product development and information technology espe (2,989 (3,019 (2,460
Marketing and partner program expen (439) (460) (429
Corporate and general and administrative expe (639) (677) (57%)
Amortization of intangible asse (4,719 (1,217) (87¢)
Acquisition related and oth (117) (129 (140
Restructuring 117 (42) (19
Stocl-based compensatic (340 (257) (19¢)
Interest expens (630) (399 (349
Non-operating income, ne 10¢ 351 32€
Income before provision for income ta» $ 7832 $ 783« $ 5,98¢

(@) Software license updates and product support rexgefur management reporting include $243 millidky $million and
$212 million of revenues that we did not recognizéhe accompanying consolidated statements ofatipess for fiscal 200¢
2008 and 2007, respectively. See Note 9 for ana@gpion of these adjustments and this table fecanciliation of operatin
segment revenues to total revent

Geographic Information

Disclosed in the table below is geographic infoiorafor each country that comprised greater thagetipercent of
our total revenues for fiscal 2009, fiscal 2008iscal 2007.

As of and for the Year Ended May 31

2009 2008 2007

Long Lived Long Lived Long Lived

(in millions) Revenues Assets®) Revenues Assets®) Revenues Assets®)
United State: $10,19C $ 1466 $ 965( $ 1,468 $ 7,82¢ $ 1,404
United Kingdom 1,58i 89 1,65t 11C 1,29: 111
Japar 1,18¢ 48E 1,06¢ 207 90¢ 164
Germany 95¢€ 5 982 9 72C 11
France 85¢€ 8 85¢€ 21 63% 16
Canade 737 13 737 15 54¢ 10
Other countrie! 7,731 462 7,47¢ 532 6,06t 41F
Total $2325: $ 2,528 $2243( $ 2,35¢ $17,99¢ $ 2,13

(@) Long-lived assets exclude goodwill, intangible éssequity investments and deferred taxes, whiemat allocated to
specific geographic locations as it is impractieatol do so
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16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividirtgnuome for the period by the weighted average remof
common shares outstanding during the period. Qiletrnings per share is computed by dividing negrime for the
period by the weighted average number of commoreshzutstanding during the period, plus the dikitéfect of
outstanding stock awards and shares issuable timelemployee stock purchase plan using the treasock
method. The following table sets forth the compatabf basic and diluted earnings per share:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2009 2008 2007

Net income $559. $5521 $4,27¢
Weighted average common shares outstan 5,07(C 5,13: 5,17(
Dilutive effect of employee stock pla 60 96 99
Dilutive weighted average common shares outstar 5,13( 5,22¢ 5,26¢
Basic earnings per she $ 1.1C $ 108 $ 0.8
Diluted earnings per sha $ 10¢ $ 10€e $ 081
Shares subject to a-dilutive stock options excluded from calculati®) 172 98 76

@) These weighted shares relate to diltitive stock options as calculated using theswen stock method (described above)
could be dilutive in the future. See Note 13 fdoimation regarding the prices of our outstandinmggxercised option:

17. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Securities Class Action

Stockholder class actions were filed in the Uniialtes District Court for the Northern District@&lifornia against
us and our Chief Executive Officer on and after éfa®, 2001. Between March 2002 and March 2003¢ et
dismissed plaintiffs’ consolidated complaint, fishended complaint and a revised second amendealaomThe
last dismissal was with prejudice. On Septemb@004, the United States Court of Appeals for thetiNCircuit
reversed the dismissal order and remanded thefaagather proceedings. The revised second amendetblaint
named our Chief Executive Officer, our then Chiefdncial Officer (who currently is Chairman of dBoard of
Directors) and a former Executive Vice Presiderdefendants. This complaint was brought on belgiuochasers
of our stock during the period from December 14®@through March 1, 2001. Plaintiffs alleged ttne tlefendants
made false and misleading statements about oualaantd expected financial performance and the pedace of
certain of our applications products, while certaidividual defendants were selling Oracle stockigiation of
federal securities laws. Plaintiffs further allegkdt certain individual defendants sold Oraclelstohile in
possession of material non-public information. Riffs also allege that the defendants engageddnunting
violations. On July 26, 2007, defendants filed d@iomofor summary judgment, and plaintiffs filed ation for
partial summary judgment against all defendantsaambtion for summary judgment against our Chieddsive
Officer. On August 7, 2007, plaintiffs filed amemldeersions of these motions. On October 5, 20Gin{iffs filed a
motion seeking a default judgment against defersdanvarious other sanctions because of defendalteged
destruction of evidence. A hearing on all theseiomstwas held on December 20, 2007. On April 7,820 case
was reassigned to a new judge. On June 27, 2088ptirt ordered supplemental briefing on plaintgenctions
motion. On September 2, 2008, the court issued@er alenying plaintiffs’ motion for partial summandgment
against all defendants. The order also deniediingoal granted in part plaintiffs’ motion for saiocis. The court
denied plaintiffs’ request that judgment be enteneplaintiffs’ favor due to the alleged destructiof evidence, and
the court found that no sanctions were appropfatseveral categories of evidence. The court faimad sanctions
in the form of adverse inferences were appropf@tévo categories of evidence: e-mails from oureCExecutive
Officer’s account, and materials that had been
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created in connection with a book regarding oure€Eixecutive Officer. The court then denied deferislamotion
for summary judgment and plaintiffs’ motion for somary judgment against our Chief Executive Officed a
directed the parties to revise andite-these motions to clearly specify the precisatours of the adverse inferen
that should be drawn, and to take these infereintesiccount with regard to the propriety of sumyrjadgment.
The court also directed the parties to addressioddgal issues in the briefing.

On October 13, 2008, the parties participateddowat-ordered mediation, which did not result isestlement. On
October 20, 2008, defendants filed a motion for mamy judgment, and plaintiffs filed a motion fomsoary
judgment against our Chief Executive Officer. Thaeties also filed several motions challenging theigsibility of
the testimony of various expert witnesses. Oppmsitiriefs were filed on November 17, 2008, andyrépiefs were
filed on December 12, 2008. A hearing on all thes¢ions was held on February 13, 2009.

On June 16, 2009, the court issued an order gadefendants’ motion for summary judgment and degyi
plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment against diief Executive Officer, and it entered a judgmeismissing
the entire case with prejudice. We expect plaistiffll appeal. Plaintiffs seek unspecified damages interest,
attorneys’ fees and costs, and equitable and itigencelief.

EpicRealm/Parallel Networks Intellectual Property Litigation

On June 30, 2006, we filed a declaratory judgmetiba against EpicRealm Licensing, LP (“EpicRealrnmi’the
United States District Court, District of Delawasegking a judicial declaration of noninfringemant invalidity of
U.S. Patent Nos. 5,894,554 (the ‘554 Patent) a#ti6335B1 (the ‘335 Patent). We filed the lawsaildwing the
resolution of an indemnification claim by one of @ustomers related to EpicRealm’s assertion of36é Patent
and ‘335 Patent against the customer in a patéimdgement case in the United States District Cémrthe Eastern
District of Texas.

On April 13, 2007, EpicRealm filed an Answer andu@trclaim in which it: (1) denies our noninfringent and
invalidity allegations; (2) alleges that we havdfwily infringed, and are willfully infringing, te ‘554 Patent and
‘335 Patent; and (3) requests a permanent injumctin award of unspecified money damages, inteagetneys’
fees, and costs. On May 7, 2007, we filed an Angwé&picRealm’s infringement counterclaim, denying
EpicRealm’s infringement allegations and asserffigmative defenses. In August 2007, the patemistiit were
sold to Parallel Networks, LLC, which thereaftebsitituted in as the defendant in place of EpicRealm

The parties have completed discovery and filedfilogeon claim construction and summary judgmentiong. A
Markman hearing and oral argument on summary jusgmetions were held October 3, 2008. A court-ceder
mediation was held on October 8, 2008, which didrasult in a settlement. On December 4, 2008¢thet issued
an order granting summary judgment that our Weth€alnternet Application Server, and RAC Databaseat
infringe the patents. The court also denied ouriandbr summary judgment that the patents are idvahd denied
in part and granted in part Parallel Networks’siorofor summary judgment that certain prior arerehces do not
invalidate the patents through anticipation. Twalk scheduled to begin on January 12, 2009, orsssiinvalidity
and inequitable conduct. On December 23, 2008paintes reached an agreement allowing Parallel bidétswto
immediately appeal the court's summary judgmenéeoethd preserving Oracle’s invalidity and inequigatonduct
claims in the event that the matter is remandedri@rat a later time. On January 23, 2009, Pakalktworks filed :
notice of appeal, and filed its opening brief orriRp0, 2009. Under the current schedule, briefamgthis appeal is
scheduled to be completed by October 9, 2009. Atadered mediation was held on June 1, 2009, lwdid not
result in a settlement. Further mediation is schetifor August 2009. We will continue to pursuesthction
vigorously.

SAP Intellectual Property Litigation

On March 22, 2007, Oracle Corporation, Oracle UB&, and Oracle International Corporation (colleely,
Oracle) filed a complaint in the United States BistCourt for the Northern District of Californegainst SAP AG,
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its wholly owned subsidiary, SAP America, Inc., arsdwholly owned subsidiary, TomorrowNow, Inc.,
(collectively, the SAP Defendants) alleging viodeus of the Federal Computer Fraud and Abuse Actland
California Computer Data Access and Fraud Act| cionspiracy, trespass, conversion, violation ef @alifornia
Unfair Business Practices Act, and intentional aegdligent interference with prospective economicaatihge.
Oracle alleged that SAP unlawfully accessed Oradlristomer Connection support website and imprppeok
and used Oracle’s intellectual property, includsodtware code and knowledge management solutidres. T
complaint seeks unspecified damages and prelimiaagdypermanent injunctive relief. On June 1, 2@acle filed
its First Amended Complaint, adding claims for inffement of the federal Copyright Act and breachanftract,
and dropping the conversion and separately pledpiacy claims. On July 2, 2007 the SAP Defenddité&sd their
Answer and Affirmative Defenses, acknowledging fhatnorrowNow had made some “inappropriate downlbads
and otherwise denying the claims alleged in thetimended Complaint. The parties are engagedsitodery and
continue to negotiate a Preservation Order. At ogageagement conferences held on February 12, 2008 a
April 24, 2008, Oracle advised the Court that Qgantended to file a Second Amended Complaint, dhasenew
facts learned during the course of discovery.

On July 28, 2008, Oracle filed a Second Amended @aimt, which added additional allegations basedaots
learned during discovery. Among the new allegatiom#tained in the Second Amended Complaint, Oraltdéges
that TomorrowNow’s business model relied on illegapies of Oracle’s underlying software applicasi@md that
TomorrowNow used these copies as generic softwaneanments that TomorrowNow then used to createsfianc
updates, to service customers and to train empdoyidee Second Amended Complaint also allegesltleatt
practices may have extended to other Oracle predindiuding Siebel products.

On October 8, 2008, Oracle filed a Third Amendedn@laint pursuant to stipulation. The Third Amended
Complaint made some changes relating to the Oaietiff entities (removing Oracle Corporation aadding
Oracle Systems Corporation, Oracle EMEA Ltd., amd Edwards Europe Ltd.) but did not change thestautiive
allegations. On October 15, 2008, the SAP Defersdilietl a motion to dismiss portions of the Thirchénded
Complaint, and after full briefing, the court heamdl argument on November 26, 2008. On Decembg20®8, the
court issued an order granting in part and denyirgart the motion. The court dismissed with prégedhe claims
asserted by plaintiffs JD Edwards Europe Ltd. angc® Systems Corporation, and denied the motiail iother
respects. The parties are engaged in discovery.

On May 28, 2009, the court held a case managenoefé@nce. On June 11, 2009, the court entereghal&ed
Revised Case Management and Pretrial Order. Pursutire terms of that order, Oracle may move temants
complaint to add claims for infringement of Oras|&iebel software programs and any other clainalegations
agreed to by the parties prior to July 15, 2009 dtder allows SAP to file an early motion for suamnjudgment
directed to Oracle’s damages theory. The coura s&w trial date of November 2010 and made ceothier
changes to the pretrial schedule.

Other Litigation

We are party to various legal proceedings and daéither asserted or unasserted, which arisesiordinary cours
of business, including proceedings and claimsrtlate to acquisitions we have completed or to cmigs we have
acquired or are attempting to acquire. While thie@me of these matters cannot be predicted wittaicgy, we do
not believe that the outcome of any of these claimeny of the above mentioned legal matters valldha
materially adverse effect on our consolidated faiarposition, results of operations or cash flows.

117




Table of Contents

SCHEDULE I
ORACLE CORPORATION
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Additions
Charged
Beginning  to Operations or Translation Ending
(in millions) Balance Other Accounts ~ Write -offs ~ Adjustments  Balance
Trade Receivable Allowanci
Year Ended
May 31, 2007 $ 32 244 (26€) 5 $ 30¢
May 31, 200¢ $ 30¢€ 164 (182) 15 $ 30
May 31, 200¢ $ 30¢ 11€ (12¢) (23) $ 27¢
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regigthas duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf byutidersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on J@n@09.

ORACLE CORPORATION

By: /s/ LAWRENCEJ. ELLISON

Lawrence J. Ellison, Chief Executive Officer
and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed éydhowing
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in theatipaand on the date indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/ LAWRENCEJ. ELLISON Chief Executive Officer and Director (Princig June 29, 20C
Lawrence J. Elliso Executive Officer)
Is/ JEFFEPSTEIN Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi June 29, 200
Jeff Epsteir (Principal Financial Officer)
/s WILLIAM COREY WEST Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller ance€  June 29, 200
William Corey Wes Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ EFFREYO. HENLEY Chairman of the Board of Directors June 29, 20C
Jeffrey O. Henle
/s/ EFFREYS. BERG Director June 29, 20C
Jeffrey S. Ber
/s/ H. RAYMOND BINGHAM Director June 29, 20C
H. Raymond Binghar
/s/  MICHAEL J. BOSKIN Director June 29, 200
Michael J. Boskir
/sl SFRA A. CATZ President and Director June 29, 20C
Safra A. Cat:
/s/ BRUCER. CHIZEN Director June 29, 20C
Bruce R. Chizel
/s/ GEORGEH. CONRADES Director June 29, 20C
George H. Conrade
/s/ HECTORGARCIA-MOLINA Director June 29, 200
Hector Garci-Molina
/s/ DONALD L. LUCAS Director June 29, 20C
Donald L. Lucas
/s/ CHARLESE. PHILLIPS, R. President and Director June 29, 200
Charles E. Phillips, J
/s/ NaomI O. FELIGMAN Director June 29, 20C

Naomi O. Seligmai
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Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Filing
No. Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Filed By
2.01 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated 8-K 000-22369 2.1 1/17/0¢ BEA Systems,
January 16, 2008, among Oracle Inc.
Corporation, BEA Systems, Inc. and
Bronco Acquisition Corporatio
2.02 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated 8-K 000-15086 2.1 4/20/0¢€ Sun
April 19, 2009, among Oracle Microsystems,
Corporation, Sun Microsystems, Inc. and Inc.
Soda Acquisition Corporatic
3.01 Amended and Restated Certificate of 8-K 000-51788 3.1 2/6/06 Oracle
Incorporation of Oracle Corporation and 2G3 Corporation
Certificate of Amendment of Amended
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
of Oracle Corporatio
3.02 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Orac&K 000-51788 3.02 7/14/0¢€ Oracle
Corporatior Corporatior
4.01 Specimen Certificate of Registrant's 10K 000-51788 4.01 7/21/0€ Oracle
Common Stocl Corporatior
4.02 Indenture dated January 13, 2006, am 8-K 000-14376  10.34 1/20/0€ Oracle Systems
Ozark Holding Inc., Oracle Corporation Corporation
and Citibank, N.A
4.03  Forms of Old 2011 Note and Old 2016 8-K 000-14376  10.3t 1/20/0€ Oracle Systems
Note, together with the Office’ Corporation
Certificate issued January 13, 2006
pursuant to the Indenture dated
January 13, 2006, among Oracle
Corporation (formerly known as Ozark
Holding Inc.) and Citibank, N.A
4.04  Forms of New 5.00% Note due 2011 ag#4/A 333-13225( 4.4 4/14/0€ Oracle
New 5.25% Note due 20! Corporatior
4.05  First Supplemental Indenture dated S-3 333-14279¢ 4.3 5/10/07 Oracle
May 9, 2007 among Oracle CorporatioMASR Corporation
Citibank, N.A. and The Bank of New
York Trust Company, N.A
4.06 Forms of New Floating Rate Note due 8-K 000-51788 4.01 5/15/07 Oracle
2009 and New Floating Rate Note due Corporation
2010, together with Officers’ Certificate
issued May 15, 2007 setting forth the
terms of the Note
4.07  Forms of 4.95% Note due 2013, 8-K 000-51788 4.0¢ 4/8/08 Oracle
5.75% Note due 2018 and 6.50% Note Corporation
due 2038, together with Officers’
Certificate issued April 9, 2008 setting
forth the terms of the Not¢
10.01* Oracle Corporation 1993 Deferred 10-Q 000-51788 10.01 3/23/0¢€ Oracle
Compensation Plan, as amended and Corporation
restated as of January 1, 2(
10.02* Oracle Corporation Employee Stock 10-Q 000-14376  10.01 9/28/0%t Oracle Systems

Purchase Plan (1992), as amended and
restated as of February 8, 2(
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Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Filing

No. Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Filed By

1C.03* Oracle Corporation Amended and 10-Q 000-51788 10.03 9/22/0€ Oracle
Restated 1993 Directors’ Stock Plan, as Corporation
amended and restated on July 14, 2

1C.04* The 1991 Long-Term Equity Incentive 10-Q 000-14376 10.11 1/14/0C Oracle Systems
Plan, as amended through October 18, Corporation
1999

10.05* Amendment to the 1991 Long-Term 10K 000-14376 10.0S 8/28/0C Oracle Systems
Equity Incentive Plan, dated January 7, Corporation
2000

1C.06* Amendment to the 1991 Long-Term 10K 000-14376 10.1C 8/28/0C Oracle Systems
Equity Incentive Plan, dated June 2, 2 Corporatior

1C.07* Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Ter®-K 000-14376 10.07 11/4/04 Oracle Systems
Equity Incentive Plan, as approved on Corporation
October 29, 200

1C.08* Form of Stock Option Agreements for 10-Q 000-51788 10.0€ 9/26/07 Oracle
Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term Corporation
Equity Incentive Pla

1C.09* Form of Stock Option Agreement for 10-Q 000-14376 10.0S 9/17/04 Oracle Systems
Oracle Corporation Amended and Corporation
Restated 1993 Direct¢ Stock Plar

10.10* Form of Indemnification Agreement for 10-Q 000-14376 10.1C 9/17/04 Oracle Systems
Directors and Executive Office Corporatior

1C.11* Letter dated September 15, 2004 10-Q 000-14376 10.11 9/17/04 Oracle Systems
confirming severance arrangement Corporation
contained in Offer Letter dated May 14,
2003 to Charles E. Phillips, Jr. and
Employment Agreement dated May 15,
2003

1C.12* Amendment dated August 26, 2005, to 8-K 000-14376 10.2t 8/30/0t Oracle Systems
the Offer Letter dated May 14, 2003, to Corporation
Charles E. Phillips, Jr

1C0.13* Offer letter dated September 7, 2004 t010-Q 000-14376 10.13 9/17/04 Oracle Systems
Juergen Rottler and Employment Corporation
Agreement dated September 3, 2!

1C.14* Form of Executive Bonus Plan 10-Q 000-14376 10.2¢€ 1/5/06 Oracle Systems
Agreements for the Oracle Executive Corporation
Bonus Plan, Nc-Sales

1C.15* Form of Executive Bonus Plan 10-Q 000-14376 10.3C 1/5/06 Oracle Systems
Agreements for the Oracle Executive Corporation
Bonus Plan, Sales and Consult

10.16  Form of Commercial Paper Dealer 8-K 000-51788 10.2 2/9/06 Oracle
Agreement relating to the $5,000,000, Corporation
Commercial Paper Progra

1C.17  Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement 8-K 000-51788 10.3 2/9/06 Oracle
between Oracle Corporation and JP Corporation

Morgan Chase Bank, National
Association dated as of February 3, 2!
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Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Filing
No. Exhibit Description Form File No Exhibit Date Filed By
10.18  $3,000,000,000 5-Year Revolving Credi8-K 00051788 10.4 3/21/06 Oracle
Agreement dated as of March 15, 2006, Corporation
among Oracle Corporation and the
lenders and agents named the
10.19* Description of the Fiscal Year 2008  10-Q 00051788 10.28 12/21/0" Oracle
Executive Bonus Pla Corporation
10.20  $2,000,000,000 364-Day Revolving  8-K 00051788 10.2¢ 3/21/08 Oracle
Credit Agreement dated as of March 18, Corporation
2008, among Oracle Corporation and the
lenders and agents named the
10.21* Offer letter dated August 19, 2008to 8-K 00051788 10.23 8/27/08 Oracle
Jeffrey E. Epstein and employment Corporation
agreement dated August 19, 2(
10.22* Description of the Fiscal Year 2009 8-K 00051788 10.24 10/16/0¢ Oracle
Executive Bonus Pla Corporation
10.23* Employment Agreement of Loic Le 10-Q 00051788 10.2t 3/23/09 Oracle
Guisquet dated November 18, 1¢ Corporation
10.24  $2,000,000,000 364-Day Revolving  10-Q 00051788 10.2€ 3/23/09 Oracle
Credit Agreement dated as of March 17, Corporation
2009, among Oracle Corporation and the
lenders and agents named the
12.01 Consolidated Ratio of Earnings to Fixed
Charges
21.01  Subsidiaries of the Registre
23.01  Consent of Ernst & Young LLP,
Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm
31.01 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act—Lawrence J.
Ellison
31.02  Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarban«Oxley Act—Jeff Epsteir
32.01 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of

the Sarban«Oxley Act

* Indicates management contract or compensatorygslarrangemen
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Exhibit 12.01

ORACLE CORPORATION
Consolidated Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Year Ended May 31,

(Unaudited)
(Dollars in millions) 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Earnings @
Income before provision for income tay $ 7,83¢ $ 7,83¢ $ 5,98¢ $ 4,81( $ 4,051
Add: Minority interests 84 60 71 41 42
Add: Fixed charge 68t 454 38C 20E 17z
Less: Equity in earning — — — (14) —
Total earning: $ 8,60: $ 8,34¢ $ 6,43 $ 5,042 $ 4,26¢
Fixed Charges(®
Interest expens $ 63C $ 394 $ 342 $ 16¢ $ 13¢
Estimate of interest in rent exper 55 60 37 36 34
Total fixed charge $ 68t $ 454 $ 38C $ 20E $ 178
Ratio of earnings to fixed charg 13x 18x 17x 25X 25X

@) The term “earnings” means the amounts resultiog fthe following: (a) our income before provisiimn income taxes, plus (b) the
minority interests in the net income of our majpotvned subsidiaries, plus (c) our fixed chargess (d) our share of our equity
investe’s income before provision for income tax

@  The term “fixed chargesheans the amounts resulting from the following:o@) interest expensed, plus (b) our interest akipéitd, plus
(c) our estimate of the interest component of expense

We do not report any shares of preferred stocktanidiéng in our consolidated financial statementsabbse our outstanding preferred stock is
owned by one or more of our wholly-owned subsidigriOur ratio of earnings to combined fixed chaayesb preferred dividends for any
given period is equivalent to our ratio of earnitg$ixed charges.
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Exhibit 21.01

Logical Applications, Inc
Logical Apps, Inc

Oracle Credit Corporatic
Oracle Education Foundatic
Oracle International Corporatic

Oracle International Technology Corporat

Oracle Siebel Scholars Foundat
Upshot Corporatiol

Oracle USA, Inc

MOHR Development, Inc

AdminServer International Company L1

Agile Software Corporatio
Appeal Virtual Machines, Inc
BEA Crossgain, Inc

BEA Systems Holding B, Inc
BEA Systems, Inc

Business Online, In

Castek, Inc

Castek RBG, Inc

Castek Software Factory, Lt
ECTone, Inc

EntitleNet, Inc.

Ether Acquisition Corporatio
Flashline, Inc

Fuego, Inc

Hyperion Solutions Corporatic
Hyperion Solutions Holdings LL¢
i-flex Processing Services, Ir
InterActive WorkPlace, Inc
Istante Software, Inc

Jade Acquisition Corporatic
Janna Systems (US) Ir

M7 Corporatior

Mantas, Inc

MetaSolv, Inc

California
California
California
California
California
California
California
California
Colorado
Connecticu
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware




Domestic Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

Moonshot Acquisition Corporatic
Octet String, Inc

OIC Acquisition | Corporatiol

OIC Acquisition Il Corporatior

OIC Acquisition VI Corporatior

OIC Acquisition VIII Corporatior
OnTarget Acquisition Sub LLt
OnTarget Acquisition Sub Il LL(
OnTarget Acquisition Sub 111 LL(
Oracle Acquisition | Corporatio
Oracle Acquisition Il Corporatio
Oracle Americas Investment 2 LL
Oracle Americas Investment 3 LL
Oracle Americas Investment LL
Oracle BEA Spain Holding LL(
Oracle Financial Services Software America,
Oracle Financial Services Software, |
Oracle Global Holdings, Int

Oracle GKS Hungary LL(

Oracle Holdings, Inc

Oracle Japan Holding, In

Oracle Mauritius Holding Compar
Oracle OTC Holdings General Partners
Oracle OTC Holdings LL(

Oracle Systems Corporatis

Oracle Taiwan, Inc

Orchestream, Inc

Plumtree Software, In

RSIB, Inc.

Siebel Helpline.com, Inc

Siebel Systems Holdings, LL
Siebel Systems International LL
Siebel Systems International |
Siebel Systems, In

Siebel Systems Ireland Holdings Ll
Silicongo, Inc.

Soda Acquisition Corporatic

Sotas, Inc

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware




Domestic Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

SPL WorldGroup Holdings, LL(
SPL WorldGroup, Inc

Stratford Acquisition Corporatio
The Theory Center, In

Violin Acquisition Corporatior
Westside.com, Inc

XQRL, Inc.

Strategic Processing Corporati
Monaco Acquisition Corporatio
Lodestar Corporatio
RogersGrant LLF

nquire Software, Inc

Stellent, Inc.

Delphi Asset Management Corporati
Reliaty, Inc.

Nomadic Systems, In

Phaos Technology Cor
Softport Systems, In

The 2(-20 Group, Ltd
AdminServer Founding Shareholders Limited Partripr
Primavera Software, In
Primavera Systems, In
Prodika, Inc

Xeno Development, Inc

Trillium Research, Inc

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Illinois
Maryland
Massachuseti
Massachuseti
Minnesota
Minnesota
Nevadas

New Hampshire
New Jerse)
New York
New York
Ohio
Pennsylvani:
Pennsylvani:
Pennsylvani:
Texas

Texas
Wisconsin




International Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

Oracle Argentina, S.A

A.C.N.# 07:-333596 (fka Brio Software Pty. Ltd. and Hyperiodubions Australia Pty Ltd

BEA Systems Pty Ltc

edocs Asi-Pacific Pty Limitec

Eontec Australia Pty Limite

G-Log Pty Ltd.

Haley (Australia) Pty. Limite:

Haley Holdings Pty. Limite:

IQMS Pty Ltd.

J.D. Edwards Australia Pty. L

J.D. Edwards World Solutions Company Pty L
LODESTAR Solutions Australia Pty. Lt
MetaSolv Australia Pty Limite

Oracle Australia Holdings Pty. Lt
Oracle Consolidation Australia Pty. Li
Oracle Corporation Australia Pty. Limite
Oracle Superannuation Pty Limit
PeopleSoft Australia Pty. Li

Portal Software International Pty L1
Retek Information Systems Pty Li
RuleBurst Holdings Pty. Ltc
Sidewinder Asia Pacific Pty Lt

Siebel Systems Australia Pty. Limit
SPL (Australia) Pty Ltd

SPL WorldGroup (Australia) Pty Lt
SPL WorldGroup Holdings (Australia) Pty Lt
Statute Technologies Pty. Limit
Stellent Asia Pty Ltd

Vantive Australia Pty. Ltd

Oracle Austria Gmbt

BEA Systems (FSC) In

Hyperion Foreign Sales Corporati

J.D. Edwards & Company Foreign Sales,
Crest Group N.V

Oracle Belgium B.V.B.A/SPRL
Hyperion Solutions Technologies, |
Oracle BH d.o.0. Saraje\

Argentina
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Austria
Barbados
Barbados
Barbados
Belgium
Belgium
Bermuda
Bosnia & Herzegovin




International Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

Oracle do Brasil Sistemas Limita

PSFT (BVI) Holding Corporatio

PeopleSoft China Holding Corporati

BEA Systems, Ltd

i-flex Solutions Inc. (Canad;

Oracle Canada Holdings In

Oracle Corporation Canada It

Oracle Numetrix Compan

Star Acquisition ULC

Steltor Corporatiol

Steltor General Partnerst

Steltor Inc.

WebGain (Nova Scotia) Compa

WebGain Canada In

BEA CrossGain Internation

BEA International (fka BEA Cayman Holding Il
Oracle International Holding Compa

SPL WorldGroup International Lt

Sistemas Oracle de Chile, S.

Agile Software (Suzhou) Co., Lt

BEA Systems (China) Co., Lt

BEA Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltc

Oracle (China) Software Systems Company Lim
Hyperion Solutions (China) Lt

J.D. Edwards Software (Beijing) Co. Li

Oracle Research & Development Center, Beijing,
Oracle Research & Development Center, Shenzhen
PeopleSoft (Beijing) Software Co. Lt

Oracle Colombia Limitad

Oracle CR SSC, S./

Oracle de Centroamérica, S.

Oracle Croatia d.o.(

Oracle Systems Limite

Oracle Czech s.r.(

Oracle Danmark Ap:

Oracle Egypt Ltd

Innobase O\

Oracle Finland OY

Brazil

British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
Canads
Canade
Canade
Canade
Canade
Canade
Canade
Canads
Canade
Canade
Canade
Cayman Island
Cayman Island
Cayman Island
Cayman Island
Chile

China

China

China

China

China

China

China

China

China
Colombia
Costa Rice
Costa Rice
Croatia
Cyprus

Czech Republi
Denmark
Egypt

Finland
Finland




International Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

BEA Systems Customer Support (France) S..
LOGIN S.A.

Oracle France, S.A.

Retek Information Systems S.

BEA Systems Gmbt

Brio Software Gmbt

G-Log GmbH

Global Knowledge Germany Gmt

Global Knowledge Germany GmbH & Co. k
Global Knowledge Verwaltungs Gmk
Oracle Deutschland Gmb

Oracle Financial Services Software S
Oracle Hellas, S.A

BEA Systems Hong Kong Lt

Hyperion Solutions (Hong Kong) Lti
MetaSolv Hong Kong Ltc

Oracle Hong Kong Holdings Limite

Oracle Systems Hong Kong Limit
PeopleSoft Hong Kong Lt

Portal Software (Asia Pacific) Limite
RuleBurst (Asia) Limitec

Siebel Systems Asia Limite

Siebel Systems Hong Kong Limit

SPL WorldGroup Hong Kong Limite

Oracle Hungary Kft

Qualification Development Szamitastechnikai Koillafe@le 6sséi Tarsasay
Siebel Systems Hungary Computer Technol
Agile Software Enterprise Private Limiti
BEA Systems India Private Lt

BEA Systems India Technology Center Private |
ECTone (India) Private Limite

Equinox Global Services Limite

Flexcel International Private Limite

Hyperion Solutions India Private Limite

i-flex Processing Services Limit:

J.D. Edwards India Software Pvt. L

France
France
France
France
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Greece
Greece
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hungary
Hungary
Hungary
India

India

India

India

India

India

India

India

India




International Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

Mantas India Private Limite

Oracle Financial Services Software Limit
Oracle India Private Limite

Oracle Solution Services (India) Private L
PeopleSoft India Private Lt

Portal Information Technology India Private Limit
ProfitLogic Software Private Limite
Siebel Systems Software (India) Private Limi
Sunday Bazaar Internet Sa

PT Oracle Indonesi

BEA Systems Ireland Holding Limite
BEA Systems Ireland Sales Support & Services
Eontec Limitec

J.D. Edwards Europe Limite

Netsure Telecom Limite

OCAPAC Distributor Partne

OCAPAC Holding Compan

OCAPAC Korea Holding Compar
OCAPAC NIH1 Compan

OCAPAC NIH3 Compan

OCAPAC Research Compal

OCAPAC Research Partn

OCAPAC Vietnam Holding Compar
Oracle CAPAC Services Limite

Oracle East Central Europe Limit

Oracle EMEA Holdings

Oracle EMEA Limitec

Oracle Technology Compat

PSFT International Limite

Siebel Systems EMEA Limite

Siebel Systems Ireland Holdings Limit
SPL WorldGroup (Ireland) Limite

BEA Systems Middle East Lt

Oracle Demantra R&D Center Israel L
Oracle Software Systems Israel Limit
Primavera ProSight Limite

SPL WorldGroup 2000 Ltc

India
India
India
India
India
India
India
India
India
Indonesie
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Israel
Israel
Israel
Israel
Israel




International Subsidiaries Place of Incorporation

Oracle Italia S.R.L Italy

Miracle Linux Corporatior Japar
Oracle Corporation Jap: Japar
Oracle Information Systems (Japan) K Japar
Primavera Systems Japan G Japar
Oracle Consulting Kazakhstan LI Kazazkhstat
BEA Systems Korea, In Korea
Oracle Korea, Ltd Korea
Oracle CAPAC Finance S.a.t Luxembourg
Oracle Finance S.a.r Luxembourg
PeopleSoft Luxembourg S.a.l Luxembourg
SPL Acquisition S.a.r.| Luxembourg
G-Log Sdn Bhd Malaysia
Oracle Corporation Malaysia Holdings Sdn. B Malaysia
Oracle Corporation Malaysia Sdn. Bl Malaysia
Oracle MSC Sdn. Bhc Malaysia
PeopleSoft Worldwide (M ) Sdn. Bh Malaysia
Siebel Systems Malaysia Sdn. Bl Malaysia
ISP Internet Mauritius Compar Mauritius
OCAPAC Mauritius Holding Compar Mauritius
Oracle Global (Mauritius) Ltc Mauritius
Oracle de Mexico, S.A. de C. Mexico
BEA Systems Distribution B.\ Netherland
edocs Europe Netherlands E Netherland
G-Log BV Netherland:
Oracle Corporation UK Finance B. Netherland
Oracle Distribution B.V Netherland
Oracle East Central Europe Services E Netherland
Oracle Financial Services Software B Netherland:
Oracle Licensing B.V Netherland:
Oracle Nederland B.\ Netherland:
Oracle Scheduler B.\ Netherland:
PeopleSoft International B.\ Netherland

SPL WorldGroup B.V Netherland:




International Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

Stellent Holding B.V

Tinoway Nederland B.V

Oracle Holding Antilles N.V

Oracle New Zealand Holdings, Lt

Oracle New Zealand, Lt

SPL WorldGroup (NZ) Ltd

Oracle Software (Nigeria) Limite

Oracle Norge A

Siebel Systems Norge A.

Oracle Systems Pakistan (Private) Limi
Sistemas Oracle del Peru, S

Oracle Philippines Corporatic

SPL WorldGroup (Philippines), In

BEA Systems Poland SP z.o

Oracle Polska, Sp.z.o.

Oracle Portuge— Sistemas de Informacao Lc¢
Siebel Systems Portugal Solu¢cées de Informacaa,
Oracle Caribbean, In

Oracle EMEA Support Renewals S.a.
Oracle Romania SR

Oracle Systems Lt

Saudi Oracle Limited (under liquidatio
Oracle SRBIJA CRNA GORA d.o.

BEA Systems Singapore Pte L

Eontec Singapore Pte. Li

G-Log Pte Ltd.

Haley (Singapore) Pte. Lt

Hyperion Software Pte. Lt

Hyperion Solutions Asia Pty. Lt

J.D. Edwards (Asia Pacific) Pte. LI

Mantas Singapore Pte. Li

Oracle Corporation (Singapore) Holdings Pte. |
Oracle Corporation Singapore Pte. L
Oracle Financial Services Consulting Pte. |
Oracle Financial Services Software Pte. |
Oracle Singapore Holdings Pte. L
PeopleSoft Asia Pte. Lt

Netherland:
Netherland:

Netherlands Antille:

New Zealanc
New Zealanc
New Zealanc
Nigeria
Norway
Norway
Pakistar
Peru
Philippines
Philippines
Poland
Poland
Portugal
Portugal
Puerto Ricc
Romania
Romania
Saudi Arabie
Saudi Arabie
Serbia
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore




International Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

Plumtree Software Singapore Pte. L

SPL Pte. Ltd

Oracle Slovensko spol. s.r.

Oracle Software d.o.o. Ljubljar

Oracle Corporation (South Africa)(Pty) Limits
Oracle Empowerment (Pty) Lt

PeopleSoft Africa (Pty.) Limite

PeopleSoft South Africa (Pty.) Limite

Siebel Systems South Africa (Proprietary) Limi
Oracle Iberica, S.R.1

Oracle Svenska Al

Portal Software Sweden A

Oracle Software (Schweiz) Gmt

Plumtree Software Gmb

Oracle GmbF

Agile Software Limited (Taiwan

J.D. Edwards (Taiwan) Pte. Lt

PeopleSoft Taiwan Ltd. Ci

BEA Systems (Thailand) Limite

Oracle Corporation (Thailand) Company Limil
Oracle Bilgisayar Sistemleri Limited Sirke
PeopleSoft Middle East I-LLC

Siebel Systems Middle East-LLC

Acsera Limitec

Advanced Visual Technologies Limit
Advanced Visual Technologies America Limit
Arbor Software Limitec

BEA Systems Customer Support (United Kingdom) Lad

BEA Systems Europe, Lt

BEA Systems Ltd

GEOTRAIN (EUROPE) Limitec

Global Knowledge Network (UK) Limite
Haley (Europe) Limite(

Hyperion Solutions (UK) Limitet
Mantas Limitec

Oracle APSS Trustee Limite

Oracle Corporation Nominees Limit:

Singapore
Singapore
Slovakia
Slovenia
South Africa
South Africa
South Africa
South Africa
South Africa
Spain
Sweder
Sweder
Switzerland
Switzerland
Switzerland
Taiwan
Taiwan
Taiwan
Thailand
Thailand
Turkey

United Arab Emirate
United Arab Emirate

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom




International Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

Oracle Corporation UK Holdings Limite
Oracle Corporation UK Limite:

Oracle Corporation UK Trustee Company Limi

Oracle EMEA Managemel
Pertmaster Limite:

Plumtree Portal Software Limite
Portal Software (Europe) Limite
Primavera UK Acquisition Limite:
Retek Information Systems Limite
Siebel Systems UK Limite
Skywire Software Limitec
WebTrak Limited

Whitehill Technologies, Limite:
Oracle de Venezuela, C..

Oracle Vietnam Pte. Lt

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Venezuele
Vietnam



Exhibit 23.01

CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP,
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

Form &-8 333157758 Primavera Software, Inc. Amended and Restated 3@k Option Plal
Form &-8 333-153660 AdminServer, Inc. 2003 Stock Option PI
Form S-8 333-151045 BEA Systems, Inc. 1995 Flexible Stock IncentivenPBEA Systems, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan,

BEA Systems, Inc. 2000 NoQualified Stock Incentive Plan, BEA Systems, In@0@ Stock Incentiv
Plan, The Theory Center Amended and Restated 182%& Sption/Stock Issuance Plan, Plumtree
Software, Inc. 1997 Equity Incentive Plan, PlumtBadtware, Inc. 2002 Stock Pl

Form &-8 333-147400 Bridgestream 1999 Stock Plan and the Logical Apps,2003 Equity Incentive Ple

Form S-8 333-145162 Agile Software Corporation 1995 Stock Option Plagile Software Corporation 2000 Nonstatutory
Stock Option Plan, The Digital Market, Inc. 1999 Plan

Form S-8 333-142776 Hyperion Solutions Corporation 2004 Equity Inceat®Rian, Hyperion Solutions Corporation 1999
Stock Option Plan, Hyperion Solutions Corporati®®3 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, Hyperion
Solutions Corporation 1992 Stock Option Plan, HigreGSoftware Corporation 1991 Stock Plan,
Hyperion Software Corporation 1991 Stock Plan, Biecieering, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan,
SQRIBE 1995 Stock Option Plan, SQRIBE 1995 Stockdp@Plan, Brio Software, Inc. 2000 Non-
Executive Director Stock Option Plan, Brio Softwdre. 1998 Stock Option Plan, Brio Software, |
1998 Directors’ Stock Option Plan, Brio Softwaneg.l1998 Non-Executive Stock Option Plan, Arbor
Software Corporation 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issedplar

Form S-8 333-142225 Hyperion Solutions Corporation 2004 Equity Inceat®Rian, Hyperion Solutions Corporation 1995
Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan and the Arbonv&ott Corporation 1995 Stock Option/Stock
Issuance Pla

Form S-8 333-139901 Stellent, Inc. 1994-1997 Stock Option and Compémsalan, InfoAccess, Inc. 1990 Stock Option

Plan as amended September 29, 1999, InfoAccessl986 Stock Option Plan as amended
September 29, 1999, Stellent, Inc. 1999 Employeek3Dption and Compensation Plan, Stellent, Inc.
2000 Stock Incentive Plan, Stellent, Inc. Amended Restated 2000 Employee Stock Incentive Plan,
Stellent, Inc. Amended and Restated 1997 Dire@twsk Option Plan, Optika Imaging Systems, Inc.
1994 Stock Option /Stock Issuance Plan, Amendnme@tika Imaging Systems, Inc. 1994 Stock
Option/Stock Issuance Plan, Optika Inc. 2000 Nofie®f Stock Incentive Plan, Optika Inc. 2003
Equity Incentive Plan, Amendment to Optika Inc. 2@xuity Incentive Plan, Stellent, Inc. 2005
Equity Incentive Plan, French Annex to the Stellémt. 2000 Stock Incentive Pl

Form &-8 333-139875 MetaSolv, Inc. 1992 Stock Option Plan, MetaSol, loon¢-Term Incentive Pla

Form S-8 333-138694 SPL WorldGroup Holdings, LLC 2005 Option Plan, SRorldGroup Holdings, LLC 2004 Equity
Incentive Plar

Form S-8 333-136275 Portal Software, Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Planmt&&Goftware, Inc. 2000 Supplemental Stock Og
Plan, Portal Software, Inc. 1995 Stock Option/Stizskiance Plan (as amended and succeeded by the
1999 Stock Incentive Plal

Form S-8 333-131988 Siebel Systems, Inc. 1996 Equity Incentive Plaab&li Systems, Inc. 1996 Supplemental Stock
Option, Siebel Systems, Inc. 1998 Equity IncenBNan, InterActive WorkPlace, Inc. 1996 Stock
Option Plan, Janna Systems Inc. Amended and Rdssfigre Compensation Plan, nQuire Software,
Inc. 1997 Employee Stock Option and Compensatian,RDnLink Technologies, Inc. 1998 Stock
Plan, OnTarget, Inc. 1999 Stock Award Plan, OpenBéchnologies, Inc. 1998 Stock Option Plan,
Sales.Com, Inc. 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, OptiGnanted Outside of Sales.com, Inc. 1999 Equity
Incentive Plan, SalesRepsOnline.com, Inc. 2000kSByation/Stock Issuance Plan, Scopus
Technology, Inc. 1991 Stock Option Plan, Scopushmetogy, Inc. 1995 Director Option Pl

Form S-8 333-131427 Oracle Corporation AmendedRestated 2000 Long-Term Equity Incentive Planc@ra
Corporation Amended and Restated 1993 DirectorikSPlan, Oracle Corporation 1991 Long-Term
Incentive Plan, as amended, Oracle Corporation Byegl Stock Purchase Plan (1992), as amended
and restated, ProfitLogic, Inc. Second AmendedRestated 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended,
Peoplesoft, Inc. Amended and Restated 1989 Staok Peoplesoft, Inc. 2001 Stock Plan, People



Inc. 2000 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan, Peoplesot. 1992 Directors’ Stock Option Plan,
Peoplesoft, Inc. 2003 Directors Stock Plan, Inttepystems, Inc. 1992 Stock Option Plan, J.D.
Edwards & Company 1992 Incentive Stock Option PlaD, Edwards & Company 1992 Nonqualif
Stock Option Plan, J.D. Edwards & Company 1997 fyguicentive Plan, J.D. Edwards & Company
2003 Equity Incentive Plan, Red Pepper Software om 1993 Stock Option Plan, Skillsvillage
1999 Stock Plan, Teamscape Corporation 1998 Stiack Primark Technologies, Inc. 1993 Stock
Option Plan, The Vantive Corporation Amended andt&ed 1991 Stock Option Plan, The Vantive
Corporation 1997 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plaradlr Corporation 1993 Deferred Compensation
Plan, Oracle Corporation 401(k) Savings and Investr®lar

Form &-3 335-142796

of our reports dated June 29, 2009, with respetttd@onsolidated financial statements and schaxfu@zacle Corporation, and the
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting of Oracle Corporation, included in this ArahReport (Form 10-K) of Oracle
Corporation for the year ended May 31, 2009.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLF

San Francisco, California
June 29, 2009



Exhibit 31.01

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT
I, Lawrence J. Ellison, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Oracle Corporatior

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitsde a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, nieadisg with respect to the periods
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ adimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledetablishing and maintaining disclosure contasld procedures (as defin
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))imtednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15«~15(f)) for the registrant and we hay

a) designed such disclosure controls and proesdr caused such disclosure controls and proegd be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over finahaporting, or caused such internal control owearicial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgzgdang the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regissalisclosure controls and procedures and predéntthis report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) disclosed in this report any change in #gagtrant’s internal control over financial repogithat occurred during the registrantost
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth dilsguarter in the case of the annual report) thatrhaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registré's internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theaRoe and Audit Committee of the registrant’s bazrdirectors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions;

a) all significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internairobaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, thabiwes management or other employees who have Hisén role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: June 29, 200 By: /s/LAWRENCE J. ELLISON
Lawrence J. Ellisor
Chief Executive Officer and Directc




Exhibit 31.02

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT
I, Jeff Epstein, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Oracle Corporatior

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitsde a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, nieadisg with respect to the periods
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ adimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledetablishing and maintaining disclosure contasld procedures (as defin
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))imtednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15«~15(f)) for the registrant and we hay

a) designed such disclosure controls and proesdr caused such disclosure controls and proegd be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over finahaporting, or caused such internal control owearicial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgzgdang the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regissalisclosure controls and procedures and predéntthis report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) disclosed in this report any change in #gagtrant’s internal control over financial repogithat occurred during the registrantost
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth dilsguarter in the case of the annual report) thatrhaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registré's internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theaRoe and Audit Committee of the registrant’s bazrdirectors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions;

a) all significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internairobaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, thabiwes management or other employees who have Hisén role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: June 29, 200 By: /s/JEFFEPSTEIN
Jeff Epstein
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offit




Exhibit 32.01

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT

The certification set forth below is being submitte connection with the report on Form 10-K of @eaCorporation for the purpose of

complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b}lné Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Sectio®d % hapter 63 of Title 18 of the
United States Code.

Lawrence J. Ellison, the Chief Executive Officer@racle Corporation, and Jeff Epstein, the ChiagRtial Officer of Oracle Corporation,
each certifies that, to the best of his knowledge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2. the information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of Oracle
Corporation.

Date: June 29, 200 By: /s/LAWRENCE J. ELLISON
Lawrence J. Ellisor
Chief Executive Officer and Directc

By: /s/ EFFEPSTEIN
Jeff Epstein
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offis




